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GENERAL INFORMATION
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

MR

For the year ended 31 December

BEt-A=T-HLHEE

2024 2023
—EMEFE —E=F
HK$'000 HK$'000 Change
Tt FiB %
Revenue WS 17,840,169 15,588,143 14.4%
Gross profit ES 1,386,233 1,322,293 4.8%
Profit for the year attributable to KX A A A FE(RANEZ 5 F
owners of the Company 302,085 262,799 14.9%
EBITDA WEITE RE AR 1,976,817 2,057,669 3.9%
EPS (HK cents) BRREF ()
— Basic — HEK 9.56 8.31 15.0%
DPS (HK cents) RSB (B
— Interim — FhHEA 5 5 -%
— Final — R 5 5 -%
— Full Year — BF 10 10 -%
The final dividend of 5 HK cents per share (2023: 5 HK cents) has EE=p @ KRR EE/Rs BII(ZE-=4F:5

been proposed by the directors and is subject to approval by the
shareholders in the forthcoming annual general meeting.
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

MR

Basic earnings per share, dividends per share and dividend payout ratio

BREFBRF - SRBRERIKSELR

HK cents
Bl
50

120%

120
110
100
90
80
70
60
50
40
10.0 956100 30
20
10

40

29.08

0.0 977100

8.31

0
0% 0% 0

0%

2015 2016 2017 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024

[ EPSEREZERF  — Dividend payout ratio J& &t &
B DPS ERE A

Analysis of EBITDA, gross, operating and net profit margins (%)
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

MR

Turnover by geographical segments

wiES BB D 2 LR

11% OTHERS
Hit

10% OTHERS
R
2% JAPAN
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Turnover by operating segments
REDFB D 2 EHER
30% Electronic consumer products (Note 2) 14% Electronic consumer products (Note 2)
BFHBERME2) BFHBEERHE2)
70% 86%
LCD products (Note 1) LCD products (Note 1)
R EBRRSER(HEE 1) R R R E M (I EE 1)
Note 1: LCD products — manufacture and distribution of LCD products and touch panel products

M ReRBBREER — HEROHERRRBTRHERMEZEFRER

Note 2: Electronic consumer products — manufacture and distribution of electronic consumer products such as compact camera module
("CCM"), fingerprint identification modules, personal health care products and electrical devices

M2 EFHBEEM — BUERDHEFHEEM(PIAMEAREA ([HEUaERA]D) - BEGERIEAE - EARRERR
BFRMH)
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

MEBRHEER

RESULTS iR

Year ended 31 December

BE+t-A=t—-HLEE

2020 2021 2022 2023 2024
—E-FE —E-—# —T-= =E== “ECMmE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$' 000 HK$'000
FTHEL FHEL FET FET THT
Revenue Uz 22,171,710 22,543,455 19,287,434 15,588,143 17,840,169
Gross profit ES 2,048,801 2,612,976 1,484,972 1,322,293 1,386,233
Finance costs B EH (380,025) (341,225) (354,558) (389,443) (380,016)
Profit before tax R F 738,692 1,595,850 376,565 249,385 300,379
Income tax expense FriSBiM% (139,919) (165,196) (57,364) (88,949) (53,814)
Profit for the year AEEGEF 598,773 1,430,654 319,201 160,436 246,565
Attributable to: AT AL
Owners of the Company ERAEBA 502,287 1,377,998 318,233 262,799 302,085
Non-controlling interests FEERR RS 96,486 52,656 968 (102,363) (55,520)
598,773 1,430,654 319,201 160,436 246,565
Earnings per share BREF
Basic X
(HK cents per share) (G 16.27 41.89 9.77 8.31 9.56
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EERERE
At 31 December
R+=B=+—-H
2020 2021 2023 2024
2% —T-—-F T —E-= —ECME
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$' 000 HK$'000
FAL FAEL FAET FAET FET
Non-current assets ERBEE 15,390,078 18,653,459 17,226,793 15,708,771 15,604,178
Current assets TEEE 11,147,378 11,079,885 9,264,330 8,796,863 9,145,033
Total assets BE®E 26,537,456 29,733,344 26,491,123 24,505,634 24,749,211
Bank and other borrowings #8717 RE M5k 5,512,049 6,116,506 7,265,527 6,675,436 6,656,053
Bonds payable ERHES 400,596 371,996 - - =
Other liabilities Hih & (& 10,149,425 11,585,333 8,888,693 8,009,435 8,740,602
Total liabilities BERHE 16,062,070 18,073,835 16,154,220 14,684,871 15,396,655
Net assets BESME 10,475,386 11,659,509 10,336,903 9,820,763 9,352,556
Equity attributable to owners A2 FHEA A JEIG1ERS
of the Company 9,371,885 11,282,383 9,985,685 9,598,086 9,222,312
Non-controlling interests FEERR R RS 1,103,501 377,126 351,218 222,677 130,244
Total equity L Yk 10,475,386 11,659,509 10,336,903 9,820,763 9,352,556
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THE CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

ERREE

Truly International Holdings Limited (“the Company”, together with
its subsidiaries, the “"Group”) recorded revenue of approximately
HK$17.84 billion in 2024, representing an increase of approximately
14.4% compared to 2023, primarily due to the growth in revenue
from the smartphone business. Profit attributable to owners of
the Company for the year increased by approximately 14.9% to
HK$302 million in 2024 when compared to 2023.

Truly (Renshou) High-end Display Technology Limited* ({Z%(1=
2SR ERARAT) (“Truly RS”), an associate of the Group
located in Sichuan in which it holds 17.14% equity interest, is a fifth
generation TFT-LCD production plant, which has entered into mass
production in 2021. In 2024, Truly RS achieved smooth operations
and further increased its capacity utilization rate to over 90%. The
a-Si TFT-LCD production line of Truly RS has significantly enhanced
our production capacity and market share in the smartphone
display sector, effectively meeting the precise demands of global
smartphone manufacturers. Additionally, Truly RS’s LTPS TFT-
LCD production line, specializing in automotive displays, offers key
advantages such as high brightness and narrow bezels, which are
critical for modern automotive interfaces. Given its established
production base and ongoing improvements in operational efficiency,
Truly RS continues to strengthen the Group’s competitive position
in the TFT-LCD display panel market. The Group remains optimistic
about its future prospects. As a result, in 2024, the Group increased
its equity interest in Truly RS from 17.14% to 29.69%. This will grant
the Group greater influence over Truly RS and ensure a stable supply
of TFT-LCD products from Truly RS to the Group.

Looking ahead to 2025, the global economic environment remains
uncertain, and the competitive environment is full of challenges. We
remain steadfast in our focus on display module products, including
the display businesses such as smartphones, smart wearable,
automotive and professional displays (industrial, medical, smart
home, and Internet of Things), and the non-display businesses such
as printed circuit boards and consumer electronics products. We
are committed to investing in human resources and technological
research and development across all business segments,
enhancing product design and manufacturing capabilities to meet
customer demands. The management will continue to uphold a flat
organizational structure, controlling costs and expense to improve
the competitiveness of the Group’s products. Having collaborated
with globally leading industry brands for many years, the Company
maintains deep and interactive communication with its clients and
partner brands. This enables us to stay attuned to technological
trends and requirements within the display industry. Our cost and
technological standards consistently align with customer and market
expectations. As our customer base expands globally, the Company
continues to benefit from this growth. The management is confident
in achieving steady and robust growth in 2025.
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THE CHAIRMAN'S STATEMENT

ERHREE

The management would like to express its appreciation to
the Group’s bankers and staff for their continuing support and
outstanding contribution. Additionally, the management wishes to
extend its gratitude for customers, suppliers and other business
partners.

Lam Wai Wah
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2025
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

FERHR

i B 573 th

The Group is one of the largest manufacturers of smartphone
component parts in the People Republic of China (“PRC") and
worldwide top-level automotive display suppliers. The Group is
principally engaged in the manufacture and sale of liquid crystal
display products including touch panel products and electronic
consumer products including compact camera module, fingerprint
identification modules, personal health care products and electrical
devices.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Revenue of 2024 recorded an increase of 14.4% amounting to
approximately HK$17.84 billion (2023: HK$15.59 billion), which was
mainly attributable to the increase in smartphone related sales in
the PRC for the year ended 31 December 2024 (the “Year”) when
compared to 2023.

Profit for the Year attributable to the owners of the Company
increased to approximately HK$302 million (2023: approximately
HK$263 million) by approximately 14.9%. Basic earnings per share
for the Year increased to 9.56 HK cents from 8.31 HK cents in
2023. It was mainly due to the increase of revenue for the Year by
approximately HK$2,252 million and the increase of other income
for the Year by approximately HK$114 million.

The gross profit margin for the Year decreased to approximately
7.8% (2023: 8.5%) and net profit margin for the Year attributable to
owners of the Company remained constant at 1.7% (2023: 1.7%).
Decrease in gross profit margin was mainly due to the increase of
revenue from smartphone related products, which have a lower
gross profit margin.

The Group’s LCD business including touch products accounted for
70% of the Group revenue in 2024 (2023: 86%). Other businesses
of the Group including the sales of compact camera modules,
fingerprint identification products and printed circuit board
accounted for 30% of the Group’s revenue in 2024 (2023: 14%).

The Group continued to put resources in the Group's research and

development by spending around HK$680 million in 2024 (2023:
HK$658 million).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THEFRE S

Recognitions

During the Year, the Group received numerous recognitions
from customers and industrial associates, major recognitions
were shown as follows: Truly Opto-Electronics Limited* ({5
FHERMDBEMRAT), a PRC subsidiary, was named to the
list of “Top Guangdong 500 Manufacturing Companies” by
Guangdong Manufacturers Association, ranking 65th in 2024. Truly
Semiconductors Limited* (57 &8 HR 2 7]), a PRC subsidiary,
was named to the list of “Top Guangdong 500 Manufacturing
Companies” by Guangdong Manufacturers Association, ranking
118th in 2024. Truly (Huizhou) Smart Display Limited* ({Z7%(E
M) GEBE R BBR A F]) was named to the list of “Top Guangdong
500 Manufacturing Companies” by Guangdong Manufacturers
Association, ranking 304th in 2024.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the Company's executive directors, being
the chief operating decision maker, for the purposes of resource
allocation and assessment of performance focuses on the sales
of different types of products. Inter-segment sales are charged
at prevailing market rates. Thus the Group is currently organised
into two operating segments which are sales of LCD products and
electronic consumer products. The information for each operating
segment is as follows:

LCD — manufacture and distribution of LCD products
products and touch panel products

Electronic — manufacture and distribution of electronic
consumer consumer products such as compact camera
products module, fingerprint identification modules,

personal health care products and electrical
devices

g
RERN AEEESTRARFPRITERENS
TR o TEEEGGMT R EH B R REF
REBRMBRARLEERETEERSI A=
TOFEREFIESFEDZES0054 | 65647 o F
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THEFWE S

Segment revenues and results TRERERESE
The following is an analysis of the Group’s revenue and results by ~ ANEEIRZ L RIRESBEI DU R EE DT
operating and reportable segments: N
For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE_F_M&+_A=+—HLEE
Electronic
consumer Segment
LCD products products total Eliminations ~ Consolidated
RRE EY
BREER HEER PEHEE HK Re
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TERT TERT TET TER
REVENUE 6
External sales S 12,539,569 5,300,600 17,840,169 - 17,840,169
Inter-segment sales NEREE - 674,234 674,234 (674,234) -
12,539,569 5,974,834 18,514,403 (674,234) 17,840,169
RESULT E4
Segment result NERE 1,016,396 (220,252) 796,144 (16,031) 780,113
Finance costs HMBER (380,016)
Impairment loss on goodwill HEREEE (35,010)
Share of results of an associate HME—EBEATEE (36,906)
Unallocated expenses FOERY (27,802)
Profit before tax AR 300,379
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE - Z-_=F+-A=+—HBIt&E
Electronic
consumer Segment
LCD products products total Eliminations Consolidated
R g1
BTEEm HEEM NEEE 8 e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TAEL TET FAT TAT TET
REVENUE 6
External sales N 13,382,037 2,206,106 15,588,143 - 15,588,143
Inter-segment sales NEREE - 597,570 597,570 (597 570) -
13,382,037 2,803,676 16,185,713 (597,570) 15,588,143
RESULT ES
Segment result NEEE 742,205 (53,980) 688,225 (17,578) 670,647
Finance costs M%ER (389,443)
Impairment loss on goodwill HEREERE (53,424)
Share of results of an associate HME—fRlEDREE 46,802
Unallocated expenses ROEER (24,975)
Unallocated other gains and losses R ATHE MR RERE (222)
Profit before tax AR 249,385

Segment profit represents the profit earned by each segment DG FIEER DR RITHEIRRAN - BIFE
without allocation of central administration costs including directors’ E# 4 - M EBER - S5 —HEH L D B 28 & FT
salaries, finance costs, share of result of an associate and gain (loss) 4@ T A A FEEZE K (BB AT SH1E
on fair value changes of derivative financial instruments. This is  BEZ%F o b AR T ELERFEREIADE
the measure reported to the chief operating decision maker for the &R R HERIBATE 7% o

purposes of resource allocation and performance assessment.

12 Truly International Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2024



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THEFRE S

B

TRUF () KEBRESFELES B0 BE
3 T ) 2 55 L 6 P T A 0 5 R0 3E )
AEGER -

Geographical information

The following table sets out information about (i) the Group’s
revenue from external customers by location of customers and (ii)
the Group's non-current assets by location of assets.

Revenue from

external customers Non-current assets

SRR F i FRBEE
2024 2023 2024 2023
—EoNFE  ZTZ=F ZEDNFE 2 =F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FHET FaxT FET
The People’s Republic of China 13 A R FNE
("PRC") ([EE]) 11,632,739 10,040,205 15,497,702 15,627,827
Hong Kong (place of domicile) & (A £&H) 2,398,795 1,387,901 17,136 28,604
Europe BM 1,025,303 948,475 10 5
South Korea [ 939,279 1,240,963 - -
Japan =N 266,188 318,483 - -
North America b =M 253,129 177,047 450 666
South America EE 132,454 245,475 - -
Taiwan =¥ 106,834 75,015 - -
Vietnam i 25,857 98,564 - -
Others Hith 1,059,591 1,056,015 - -
17,840,169 15,588,143 15,515,298 15,657,102
Notes: 5T -

(i) Regarding revenue arising from sales to external customers in Europe and (i) MAREBUN R i RINBEFHHER TS
others, no individual countries are material and hence separate disclosure BEEANBRREEERDE WU EZINBIEEE
is not required. Ko

FRDEETREEREUARTEEINRZEME
EREBRREEARBEREMMES -

(ii) Non-current assets exclude financial assets at fair value through profit or (ii)
loss, deferred tax assets and rental and other deposits.

Information about major customers FTEEFEH
Revenue from customers of the corresponding years contributing RIEEFEHRNEEAHEREEBRBRI10% 2F
over 10% of the total sales of the Group are as follows: Pliz=mT
2024 2023
—E-OF —E=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET FAT
Customer A BERT 2,847,019 N/A-TE A 2

KERBEBETSELRLEFEBER RS

! Revenue from LCD products and electronic consumer products !

HEREEAEEERETERB10% °

2 The corresponding revenue did not contribute over 10% of the total 2
revenue of the Group.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

THEFWE S

Outlook

Looking ahead to 2025, the global economic environment remains
uncertain, and the competitive environment is full of challenges.
The management maintains a cautiously optimistic outlook,
anticipating that the overall market performance in 2025 will
experience moderate growth compared to 2024. We will continue
to monitor the technological demands and supply chain change in
both display and non-display business markets. Having collaborated
with globally leading industry brands for many years, the Company
has possessed a deep understanding of industry trends and
technological requirements. Through close communication with
clients, we jointly develop new products and continuously invest
in the technological upgrading and modernization of production
equipment. This enhances the automation level of manufacturing
processes, ensuring that product quality, pricing, and delivery
timelines consistently meet customer expectations. The Group
will maintain its focus on technological research and development
in existing non-smartphone businesses, including automotive,
industrial, medical, and Internet of Things sectors, while leveraging
its strong foundation in smartphone operations to maintain the
Group's technological leadership in the market. With the rapid
advancement of artificial intelligence technologies, various
inference models are being swiftly and effectively applied across
downstream industries. This trend is expected to accelerate the
upgrading of smart terminal devices such as smartphones and
wearables, as well as terminal devices in automotive, industrial,
medical, and Internet of Things fields. The Company is well-
positioned to benefit from this growth, driving steady expansion
and business growth.

Proposed Spin-off Update

Having adjusted the business development strategies of the
Group, the management has decided that the Proposed Spin-off
will not proceed at this stage. For details of it, please refer to the
announcement of the Company dated 3 January 2025.

14 Truly International Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2024
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FINANCIAL REVIEW
Revenue

The Group's revenue for the Year was approximately HK$17,840
million, representing an increase of approximately 14.4% or
approximately HK$2,252 million year-on-year. The revenue growth
in the Year was mainly attributable to the recovery of smartphone
related products’ revenues from our major PRC smartphone
customers.

Other Income

The Group's other income for the Year was approximately HK$223
million, representing an increase of approximately 103.8% or
approximately HK$114 million when compared with 2023. The
increase in other income was mainly because the government
subsidies of approximately HK$152 million received in the Year
compared with HK$52 million in 2023.

Other Gains and Losses

The Group's other gains and losses for the Year were
approximately HK$87 million net other losses (2023: approximately
HK$18 million). The increase in net other losses in the Year was
mainly due to the increase of net loss on disposal of obsolete
machineries to approximately HK$102 million during the Year
from approximately HK$75 million in 2023 and the decrease of net
foreign exchange gain to approximately HK$2 million during the
Year from approximately HK$56 million in 2023.

Reversal of Expected Credit Loss Model, Net

The Group's reversal of impairment losses under expected
credit loss model, net was approximately HK$11 million (2023:
approximately HK$2 million). The decrease in impairment losses
was mainly due to the recovery of certain credit-impaired financial
assets.

Distribution and Selling Expenses

The Group's distribution and selling expenses for the Year has
been decreased by approximately 0.3% or approximately HK$1
million to approximately HK$320 million when compared to 2023.
The slight decrease in distribution and selling expenses in the Year
was mainly due to the tight control over costs and expenses during
the Year.
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Administrative Expenses

The Group’s administrative expenses for the Year increased
by approximately 2.7% or approximately HK$12 million to
approximately HK$461 million when compared to 2023. The
increase in administrative expenses was mainly due to the increase
of salaries & allowances.

Finance costs

The Group's finance costs for the Year decreased by approximately
2.4% or approximately HK$9 million to approximately HK$380
million when compared to 2023. The decrease in finance costs was
mainly attributable to the decrease in interest expenses for lease
liabilities in 2024.

Share of result of an associate

Share of result of an associate by the Group decreased by
approximately HK$84 million when compared to 2023. The
decrease in share of result of an associate was mainly because
the financial results for the Year of the associate, Truly (Renshou)
High-end Display Technology Limited* (EFI((Z5) & in@ RS
fR 2 7)), declined due to significant reduction of government grant
received during the Year when compared to 2023.

Income Tax Expenses

Pursuant to the relevant law and regulations in the PRC, three
of the Company’'s PRC subsidiaries were approved as Hi-Tech
Enterprise and entitled to 15% PRC enterprise income tax for three
years starting from 2023 or 2024. One of the Company's PRC
subsidiaries was eligible to enjoy the Western Region Preferential
Income Tax Policies and entitled to 15% PRC enterprise income
tax till 31 December 2030. Accordingly, PRC Enterprise Income Tax
is provided at 15% for the year ended 31 December 2024 for these
four major PRC subsidiaries.

Profit for the Year Attributable to Owners of the
Company

Profit for the Year attributable to owners of the Company increased
to approximately HK$302 million by approximately 14.9% or
approximately HK$39 million when compared to 2023. It was
mainly due to the increase of revenue for the Year by approximately
HK$2,252 million and the increase of other income for the Year by
approximately HK$114 million.
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Significant Investments, Acquisitions and Disposals,
Assets and Liabilities

Investment and acquisition of further equity interest in an associate, Truly
(Renshou) High-end Display Technology Limited* ({5 ({— &) S iz @~
B EPFR 2 F) (“Truly Renshou”)

Truly Renshou has completed the building construction of the
fifth generation of TFTLCD factory in Renshou in 2018. The full
installation of the machineries was completed in 2020 and full-
scale trial operation commenced in late 2020 and entered mass
production in 2021.

Truly Renshou is accounted for as an associate of the Group during
the Year because the Group has significant influence over Truly
Renshou by virtue of the substantial voting right of 67.1% granted
to the Group in the first ten years since the incorporation of Truly
Renshou in 2017. Thus, the results, assets and liabilities of Truly
Renshou is incorporated in the Group’s consolidated financial
statements using equity method of accounting.

In May 2024, the Group acquired additional 12.55% equity interest
from another shareholder in Truly Renshou at a cash consideration
of RMB1,097,460,000, which were fully settled during the Year.
The effective interest of the Group in Truly Renshou increased from
17.14% to 29.69%. There is no change of the terms of the Articles
of Association of Truly Renshou including the voting rights of the
shareholders and Truly Renshou remains as an associate of the Group.

Update on Major Transaction Formation of the AMOLED JV Company

On 14 July 2017, Truly Electronics Manufacturing Limited ({3
HET BB AT, a company incorporated in the PRC and an
indirectly wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company, entered into
the AMOLED JV agreement in relation to the formation of the
AMOLED JV Company in Renshou County, Meishan City, Sichuan
Province, the PRC as the project company for the AMOLED
Project. The total investment of the AMOLED JV Company will be
RMB27,900 million and production facilities for the sixth generation
of AMOLED will be established. The Group will contribute
RMB2,000 million for 13.3% equity interest. For detail of it, please
refer to the announcement of the Company, Major Transaction
Formation of the AMOLED JV Company, dated 14 July 2017.

On 13 September 2024, the Company and other parties entered
into a termination agreement to terminate the AMOLED JV
Agreement. The Company and other parties were released from all
their rights and obligations and commitments in the AMOLED JV
Agreement. No termination fee or other compensation was paid or
payable by any party in respect of the termination of the AMOLED
JV Agreement. For details, please refer to the Company’s related
announcement dated 25 September 2024.
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Subsequent Events After the Reporting Period

On 25 March 2025, the Group has entered a refinancing agreement
of syndicated term loan facilities in Hong Kong amounting to
HK$1,035,000,000 and the final maturity date is in March 2028. For
details, please refer to the Company’s related announcement dated
26 March 2025.

Save as disclosed above, the Board is not aware of any significant
events affecting the Group, which have occurred subsequent to 31
December 2024 and up to the date of this annual report.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The Group's assets increased by approximately HK$244 million
and liabilities increased by approximately HK$712 million during the
Year.

As at 31 December 2024, the outstanding lease liabilities, bank
and other borrowings, net of restricted bank deposits, cash and
bank balances, were approximately HK$5,164 million (2023:
approximately HK$5,296 million). It decreased by approximately
2.49% or HK$132 million when compared to these net borrowings
as at 31 December 2023. These borrowings bear interest at
prevailing market rate and their maturity profiles are shown in the
financial statements. For non-current portion of these borrowings
were matured within 5 years.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had net current liabilities
of approximately HK$5,667 million (as at 31 December 2023,
net current liabilities of approximately HK$4,133 million) and its
current ratio decreased to 0.62 times as at 31 December 2024
from 0.68 times as at 31 December 2023. The major reason for the
increase in net current liabilities position as at 31 December 2024
was because the Group has increased the current portion of bank
borrowings during the Year. The management would continue to
improve the Group's net current liabilities position.

As at 31 December 2024, the Group had restricted bank deposits,
cash and cash equivalents approximately HK$1,537 million together
with adequate unutilized banking facilities. The Group’s working
capital is mainly financed by internal cash flow generated from its
operation and banking facilities granted by financial institutions. The
gearing ratio based on total interest bearing debts, net of restricted
bank deposits, cash and bank balances was approximately 56%,
which has increased from 55% at 31 December 2023.
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Pledge of Assets
As at 31 December 2024, the Group had no assets pledged.

Employee and Remuneration

Around 14,800 workers and staff are currently employed in
factories of the Company in the PRC and around 40 personnel
in the Group’s Hong Kong office. Total staff costs for 2024 were
approximately HK$1,741 million. The employees are remunerated
with basic salary, bonus and other benefits in kind with reference
to industry practice and their individual performance.

Capital Commitments

Capital expenditure commitment of around HK$293 million in
respect of acquisition of property, plant and equipment was
contracted for but not provided as at 31 December 2024.

Contingent Liabilities

We had no material contingent liabilities as at 31 December 2024.

Exposure to fluctuations in exchange rates will be considered to
hedge, if any.

OTHER INFORMATION
Dividends

The directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of 5
HK cents (2023: 5 HK cents) per share for the year ended 31
December 2024, to shareholders whose names appear on the
Register of Members on 20 May 2025, Tuesday. It is expected that
the final dividend payments will be made to shareholders on 30
May 2025, Friday, subject to the Company’s shareholders’ approval
at the Annual General Meeting of the Company on 12 May 2025.

The interim dividends in aggregate of 5 HK cents per share (2023:
5 HK cents) were paid in 2024 to shareholders on the register of
member of the Company at the close of business on 4 November
2024 based on 3,161,105,398 ordinary shares in issue.

The total dividend payout ratio for the year was about 105%.
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Closure of Register of Members

For determining the entitlement to attend and vote at the 2025
Annual General Meeting (“AGM"), the Register of Members
will be closed from 7 May 2025, Wednesday to 12 May 2025,
Monday, during the period no transfer of shares can be registered.
In order to be eligible to attend and vote at the AGM, all transfers
accompanied by relevant share certificates must be lodged with
the Company’s Branch Share Registrar, Tricor Investor Services
Limited, at 17/F., Far East Finance Centre, 16 Harcourt Road,
Hong Kong for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on 6 May 2025,
Tuesday.

For determining the entitlement to the proposed final dividend,
the register of members of the Company will be closed on 20
May 2025, Tuesday during which day no transfer of shares will be
registered. In order to qualify for the proposed final dividend, all
transfers of shares, accompanied by the relevant share certificates,
must be lodged with the Company’s Branch Share Registrar in
Hong Kong, Tricor Investor Services Limited at the above address
for registration not later than 4:30 p.m. on Monday, 19 May 2025.

Customers and suppliers

In the year under review, sales to the five largest customers
accounted for approximately 34% of the total sales of the Group
and purchases from the five largest suppliers accounted for
approximately 20% of the total purchases of the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, our largest customer
accounted for approximately 16% of the total sales of the Group.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, our largest supplier
accounted for approximately 9% of the total purchases of the
Group.

As at 31 December 2024, none of the directors, their close
associates, or any shareholders which to the knowledge of the
directors owned more than 5% of the Company's issued share
capital had any beneficial interests in the Group’s five largest
customers and/or five largest suppliers mentioned in the preceding
paragraph.
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DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Biographical details of the directors of the Company and senior
management of the Group are set out as follows:

Mr. Lam Wai Wah, aged 72, is the Chairman and Managing
Director of the Company. He is the founder of the Group and
has over 40 years of experience in the electronics industry. He
is primarily responsible for the formulation of the Group's overall
strategic planning and business development.

Mr. Wong Pong Chun, James, aged 66, is an Executive Director
of the Company and the Chief Operating Officer of the Group.
He is responsible for the Group's operations in respect of
internal controls and risk management, investors’ relationship
and external affairs. He joined the Group in 1987. Mr. Wong has
been an Independent Non-executive Director of Vital Innovations
Holdings Limited (Stock code: 06133) listed in Hong Kong since 30
December 2020.

Mr. Cheung Wing Cheung, aged 54, is an Executive Director of the
Company. He holds a Master of Philosophy Degree and a Bachelor
of Engineering Degree from The University of Hong Kong, and a
Bachelor of Laws Degree from the University of London. He is
responsible for overseas sales and marketing affairs (excluding
handheld phone products) of the Group. Mr. Cheung Wing Cheung
has been serving the Group since year 2000 and in the senior
management position for more than 10 years. Before joining the
Group, he worked for the technical position from a multi-national
technology company.

Mr. Song Bei Bei, aged 48, is a non-executive director of the
Company, a senior vice president. He is responsible for government
relations and investment project. Mr. Song is also a director of an
associate of the Company. Mr. Song joined the Group in 2001 as a
design engineer in research and development department and was
promoted to project manager and senior project manager during
2005 to 2013. During the period from 2014 to 2018, Mr. Song was
further promoted to a senior management position of the Group.
He graduated from the North China Institute of Technology with a
Bachelor’s Degree in Mechatronic Engineering.
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Mr. Dai Cheng Yun, aged 51, is a non-executive Director of the
Company, a vice president of the Group. Mr. Dai has been re-
designated from an executive director to a non-executive director
from 28 August 2023. Mr. Dai is a supervisor of a subsidiary and a
vice chairman of an associate of the Company. He graduated from
the Hunan University of Technology (formerly known as Hunan
University of Commerce) with a Bachelor of Marketing Degree. Mr.
Dai joined the Group in 2000 as a team head of technicians and
was promoted to a senior management position during the period
from 2006 to 2018.

Ms. Lam Po Chun, Jane, aged 60, was a non-executive Director
of the Company on 15 November 2024. She has over 30 years
of experience in the field of supply chain management, human
resource and administration management. Ms. Lam joined the
Group in 1992 as the shipping manager. She is currently the general
manager of shipping and human resource and administration for
Truly Semiconductors Limited and Truly Opto-Electronics Limited,
both of which are subsidiaries of the Company in Hong Kong.

Mr. Chung Kam Kwong, aged 67, is an independent non-executive
Director of the Company and the Chairman of the Group’s Audit,
Remuneration and Nomination Committees. He is a practising
Certified Public Accountant in Hong Kong, fellow member of
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, fellow
member of Australian Society of Certified Practising Accountants
and a member of the Macau Society of Certified Practising
Accountants. Mr. Chung has extensive experience in accounting
and financial management and has been the independent non-
executive director, management consultant and company secretary
of a number of listed companies in Hong Kong.

Mr. Heung Kai Sing, aged 76, is an independent non-executive

Director and members of the Group’s Audit, Remuneration and
Nomination Committees. He has experience in textile industry.
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Mr. Cheung Wai Yin Wilson, aged 54, is an independent
non-executive Director and members of the Group’s Audit,
Remuneration and Nomination Committees. He has over 28 years
of experience in the field of audit, business development, corporate
finance and financial management. Mr. Cheung is a member of
The Institute of Chartered Accountants in England and Wales,
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accounts and Hong Kong
Securities and Investment Institute. He holds a Master of Science
degree in Financial Engineering from City University of Hong Kong
and Bachelor degrees in Arts and Administrative Studies from York
University, Canada. Mr. Cheung has been an Independent non-
executive director of Hong Wei (Asia) Holdings Co Ltd (Stock code:
8191) listed in Hong Kong since 6 October 2023.

Mr. Lau Fan Yu, aged 57, is the Chief Financial Officer and
Company Secretary of the company, Mr. Lau is a fellow member of
the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants and a member
of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. Mr. Lau
received his bachelor’s degree of commerce (major in finance) from
Concordia University, Canada in May 1991. He further completed
the master of business administration from City University of Hong
Kong in November 2001. Mr. Lau has over 28 years of experience
in the field of accounting and corporate financial management,
including experience as the Chief Financial Officer and Company
Secretary in Hong Kong listed companies.

By order of the Board
Lam Wai Wah
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26 March 2025

REBLL  BER TR RELIFRTES
THRASEEZZES FHEESRIRERZER
GKE - BRRER  EBER  CERERYE
EETEEER - T N\FER - REE/EBHE
LEBBARTENAg  BESHMAGRE
BEZIREBREER - WHABBUMAREZ
CRIBEESBEIBURMERNRAREZX
BRITBREELEM - REEA T _=F1H
NERETEELTATSE(GEMERERA
A (B HOSR : 8191) Z WU IFHITES -

RE@ELAE  RER LR AARSEENBLE
ERANRWE  AEEARTARSHAAT Y
BRSEREESHMRAEZEE - FA4ER
— N —% A A#INE K Concordia University B
SEHELTEA e/ BEER-_ZT—F
T AREEETAZS IEEESE T2
BIEARGH ROEMBER T MAELBB28F
KE o BERESLTARNTEENBRER
NAIWEZ K8 -

EREZEm
FE
iR

FE —T-RF=A_1H

“ECFFR o EAERERAR 23



DIRECTORS’ REPORT

EFEREE

The directors present their annual report and the audited financial
statements for the year ended 31 December 2024.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company acts as an investment holding company. Its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in the manufacture and sale of
liquid crystal display products including touch panel products and
electronic consumer products including compact camera module,
fingerprint identification modules, personal health care products
and electrical devices.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2024
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on page 93.

Interim dividend in aggregate of HK5 cents per share, amounting
to approximately HK$158,055,000, was paid to the shareholders
during the year ended 31 December 2024.

The directors recommend a payment of a final dividend of HK5
cents per share based on the number of ordinary shares in issue
to the shareholders of the Company whose names appear on the
Register of Members on 20 May 2025 (Tuesday), amounting to
approximately HK$158,055,000.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

During the year, the Group acquired plant and machinery amounting
to HK$316,581,000 and furniture, fixtures and equipment
amounting to HK$94,246,000 for the purpose of expanding its
manufacturing capacity in Shan Wei City, Guangdong Province and
Meishan City, Sichuan Province in the People’s Republic of China.

Details of these and other movements in the property, plant and
equipment of the Group during the year are set out in note 16 to
the consolidated financial statements.

SHARE CAPITAL

Details of movements during the year in the issued share capital
of the Company are set out in note 32 to the consolidated financial
statements.
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EFEREE

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

The Company's reserves available for distribution to shareholders
as at 31 December 2024 were as follows:

F AT Z Sk GE R

RZEBE-_WMFE+_A=+—H ARRADKTF
PR R 2 FEEIT

2024 2023

—EME —E-=F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FER FAT

Share premium f& % E 1,210,563 1,210,563
Special reserve BRI A 17,410 17,410
Retained profits REB =T 740,167 90,929
1,968,140 1,318,902

Under the applicable laws of the Cayman Islands, the share
premium of the Company is available for distributions or
paying dividends to shareholders subject to the provisions of
its Memorandum or Articles of Association and provided that
immediate following the distribution or paying dividend the
Company is able to pay its debts as they fall due in the ordinary
course of business.

The special reserve of the Company represents the difference
between the net book values of the underlying assets of the
Company’s subsidiaries acquired at the date on which the shares of
these companies were acquired by the Company, and the nominal
amount of the Company's shares issued for the acquisitions.
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EFEREE

DIRECTORS

The directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this report were:

Executive directors:

Lam Wai Wah
Wong Pong Chun, James
Cheung Wing Cheung

Non-executive directors:

Song Bei Bei
Dai Cheng Yun
Lam Po Chun, Jane (appointed on 15 November 2024)

Independent non-executive directors:

Chung Kam Kwong
Heung Kai Sing
Cheung Wai Yin, Wilson

In accordance with Article 120 of the Company’s Articles of
Association, Lam Wai Wah, Dai Cheng Yun, Lam Po Chun, Jane
and Cheung Wai Yin, Wilson retire and, being eligible, offer
themselves for re-election.

The directors are subject to retirement by rotation in accordance
with the above articles.

No director proposed for re-election at the forthcoming Annual
General Meeting has a service contract with the Company or its
subsidiaries which is not determinable by the Group within one
year without payment of compensation (other than statutory
compensation).

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF
SIGNIFICANCE

Save as disclosed in this annual report, no contracts of significance
to which the Company or any of its subsidiaries was a party and in
which a director of the Company had a material interest, whether
directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of the year or at any time
during the year.
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DIRECTORS’ REPORT

EFEREE

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SHARES AND
UNDERLYING SHARES

At 31 December 2024, the interests of the directors and their
associates in the shares and underlying shares of the Company and
its associated corporations, as recorded in the register maintained
by the Company pursuant to Section 352 of the Securities and
Futures Ordinance, or as otherwise notified to the Company and
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies,
were as follows:

Long positions

Ordinary shares of HK$0.02 each of the Company

ERCZKRMRERKHER

RZZE-WNF+—A=+—H  RELAQFER
FHH M HAERGIE 362 AR T 2 B s AT &% -
SIRBE LT AR ESETESFR IMIRETRIA
MERRFIREBRERIIABRABIZER
EEREBBAES 2 ARNT REBEER 2K

0 RABRARR (ST

HRE
AAEEREENEBTZEER

Percentage of

Number of issued the issued share
ordinary shares capital of
Name of director Capacity held the Company
FrisE 817 (ER NEI A=Y £y
EEpE 14 ZRERHAE BAEBFDL
%
Lam Wai Wah Beneficial owner 1,608,274,000 50.88
MEZE E=#AA
Held by spouse (note 1) 74,844,000 2.37
B EFEE (FiaE1)
1,683,118,000 53.24
Song Bei Bei Beneficial owner 2,600,000 0.08
KER EnBEAA
Dai Cheng Yun Beneficial owner 244,000 0.01
HRE BEmlEEA
Lam Po Chun, Jane Beneficial owner 2,453,000 0.08
WEE ERnBEAA
Notes: BieE

1. Lam Wai Wah is deemed to be interested in 74,844,000 ordinary shares
of the Company, being the interests held beneficially by his spouse,
Chung King Yee, Cecilia.

Other than as disclosed above, none of the directors nor their
associates had any interests or short positions in any shares
and underlying shares of the Company or any of its associated
corporations as at 31 December 2024.
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SHARE SCHEME

During the year, the Company has not adopted any share option
scheme or other share scheme under Chapter 17 of the Listing
Rules.

ARRANGEMENT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Other than as disclosed above under the heading “Directors’
Interests in Shares and Underlying Shares”, at no time during the
year was the Company or any of its subsidiaries a party to any
arrangements to enable the directors of the Company to acquire
benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or debentures of,
the Company or any other body corporate.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Articles of Association of the Company, every
Director or other officer and the auditor or auditors of the Company
shall be indemnified out of the assets of the Company against
all costs, charges, expenses, losses and liabilities which he may
sustain or incur in or about the execution of his office or otherwise
in relation thereto. A permitted indemnity provision for the benefit
of the Directors is currently in force and was in force throughout
the financial year. The Company has taken out and maintained
appropriate insurance coverage in respect of potential legal actions
against its Directors.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 31 December 2024, the register of substantial shareholders
maintained by the Company pursuant to Section 336 of the
Securities and Futures Ordinance shows that other than the
interests disclosed above in respect of Lam Wai Wah, the
Company has not been notified of any other relevant interests or
short positions in the issued share capital of the Company.

Other than as disclosed above, the Company has not been notified
of any other relevant interests or short positions in the issued share
capital of the Company as at 31 December 2024.

DISCLOSEABLE AND CONNECTED
TRANSACTIONS

In May 2024, the Group acquired additional 12.55% equity interest
from another shareholder in Truly Renshou at a cash consideration
of RMB1,097,460,000, which were fully settled during the Year.
The effective interest of the Group in Truly Renshou increased from
17.14% t0 29.69%.
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On 15 November 2024, Truly Electronics Manufacturing Limited (“Truly
Electronics HK", a direct wholly owned subsidiary of the Company)
(as purchaser) entered into an equity transfer agreement with Mr.
Wong Pong Chun, James, an executive Director of the Company (as
vendor), pursuant to which Mr. Wong Pong Chun, James has agreed
to transfer 2,590,120 Truly Opto-Electronics Limited* ({2 FlJ 3¢ &% 5
BBRAR]) (“Truly Opto”) Shares (representing approximately 0.7024%
of the total shareholding interests of Truly Opto) to Truly Electronics
HK at the consideration of RMB10,000.

The Directors confirm that the Company has complied with the
disclosure requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A and
Chapter 14 of the Listing Rules.

EMOLUMENT POLICY

The emolument policy of the employees of the Group is set up
by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of their merit,
qualifications and competence.

The emoluments of the directors of the Company are decided by the
Remuneration Committee, having regard to the Company’s operating
results, individual performance and comparable market statistics.

The Company has not yet adopted any share option scheme or
other share scheme under Chapter 17 of the Listing Rules during
the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company's
Articles of Association, or the laws of Cayman Islands, which
would oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro-rata basis
to existing shareholders.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF SECURITY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries has purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company'’s listed securities during the
year ended 31 December 2024.

MODEL CODE

None of the Directors of the Company is aware of information that
would reasonably indicate that the Company was not in the year
under review in compliance with the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers as set out in Appendix
C3 to the Listing Rules on the Stock Exchange.
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AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has an Audit Committee which was established in
accordance with the code provisions of the Corporate Governance
Code for the purposes of reviewing and providing supervision
over the Group's financial reporting matters and internal controls.
The Audit Committee comprises all the three independent non-
executive directors namely Mr. Chung Kam Kwong, being the
Chairman, Mr. Heung Kai Sing and Cheung Wai Yin Wilson as
members. They meet at least four times a year.

INDEPENDENCE CONFIRMATION

The Group has received, from each of the independent non-
executive directors, a confirmation that he met the independence
criteria set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules. The Company
considers all of the independent non-executive directors are
independent.

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE AND NOMINATION
COMMITTEE

The Company has a Remuneration Committee and a Nomination
Committee respectively which were established in accordance
with the relevant requirements of the Corporate Governance Code.
The two Committees are chaired by Mr. Chung Kam Kwong, an
independent non-executive director and comprise three other
members, namely Mr. Heung Kai Sing and Mr. Cheung Wai Yin
Wilson, being independent non-executive directors and Mr. \Wong
Pong Chun, James, an executive director of the Company.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board considers that good corporate governance of the
Company is essential to safeguarding the interests of the
shareholders and enhancing the performance of the Group. The
Board is committed to maintain and ensure high standards of
corporate governance. We have complied with all the applicable
code provisions set out in the “Corporate Governance Code”
contained in Appendix C1 of the Listing Rules throughout the year
ended 31 December 2024, except for a major deviation as below:

° Code Provision C.2.1 The roles of the chairman and the
chief executive are not separated and are performed by the
same individual, Mr. Lam Wai Wah. The Board believes that
this structure will enable the Company to achieve higher
efficiency and effectiveness when formulating business
strategies and executing business plans. The Board will meet
regularly to consider major matters affecting the operations
of the Company. The Board considers that this structure will
not impair the balance of power and authority between the
Board and the Company’s management.
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. Code Provision F.2.2 The Chairman did not attend the annual
general meeting of the Company held on 13 May 2024 in
Hong Kong because he has been stationed at the Shanwei
factory of the Group.

The Board will continuously review and improve the corporate
governance practices and standards of the Company to ensure that
business activities and decision-making processes are regulated
in a proper and prudent manner. More details are contained in the
separate Corporate Governance Report on pages 32 to 42.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on publicly available information and within the Directors’
knowledge as at the date of this report, the Company has
maintained a sufficient public float throughout the year ended 31
December 2024 and up to the date of this report.

DONATIONS

During the year, the Group made charitable and other donations
amounting to HK$1,149,000.

AUDITORS

A resolution will be submitted to the Annual General Meeting of
the Company to re-appoint Messrs. Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu as
auditors of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

Lam Wai Wah
CHAIRMAN

Hong Kong, 26 March 2025
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CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD OF DIRECTORS AND BOARD COMMITTEES
The Board

The Board was responsible for the Company’'s corporate
governance, and was ultimately accountable for the Company’s
activities, strategies and financial performance.

The Board was mainly responsible for formulating and approving
the business strategies, objectives, policies and plans of the
Company, and monitoring the execution of the Company's
strategies. It was also responsible for overseeing the operating and
financial performance of the Company and establishing appropriate
risk control policies and procedures in order to ensure that the
strategic objectives of the Company are materialized. In addition,
the Board was also responsible for improving the corporate
governance structure and enhancing communications with
shareholders.

The Board has delegated the responsibilities for the execution
of strategies and decision-making for day-to-day operation of the
Company to the management team headed by the Managing
Director, Mr. Lam Wai Wah.

The management reported regularly to the Board on the operating
and financial performance of the Company. Development,
expansion and other major capital expenditure and commitment, as
well as major financing decisions were all reviewed and approved
by the Board.

Connections between members of the Board

Ms. Lam Po Chun, Jane, the non-executive director of the
Company, is the sister of Mr. Lam Wai Wah, the chairman and
executive director of the Company.

Save as disclosed above, none of the members of the Board have
any connections (including financial, business, family relationship
and other material/related relationships) with each other during the
period under review.
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ERELHRSE

Director’s dealing in securities

The Company has adopted a code of conduct regarding directors’
securities transactions on terms no less exacting than the required
standard set out in Model Code.

Having made specific enquiry of all the Directors, the Company
confirmed that all Directors had complied with their obligations
regarding dealings in securities under the Model Code set out in
Appendix C3 of the Listing Rules during the period under review.

Non-executive directors

The non-executive Directors were not appointed for a specific term
but were subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with the
Company'’s Articles of Association.

Independent non-executive Directors

The Company has received confirmation from each of the
independent non-executive Directors as regards his independence
to the Company and considered that each of the independent non-
executive Directors was independent to the Company during the
period under review.

Directors’ Training

Directors should participate in appropriate continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to
ensure that their contribution to the Board remains informed and
relevant. All directors are encouraged to attend relevant training
courses at the Company’s expenses. The Company has been
encouraging the directors to participate continuous professional
development courses and seminars organized by professional
institutions or professional firms and reading materials on relevant
topics so that they can continuously update and further improve
their relevant knowledge and skills.

In addition, the Company Secretary reports from time to time the
latest changes and development of the Listing Rules, corporate
governance practices and other regulatory regime to the Directors
with written materials.
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Board committees

The Board was supported by three Board Committees. Each Board
Committee has its own responsibilities, power and functions. The
chairman of the respective Board Committees reported to the
Board from time to time and made recommendations on matters
discussed when appropriate.

Remuneration Committee

The Company has established the remuneration committee (the
“Remuneration Committee”) in compliance with the Listing
Rules. The Remuneration Committee is governed by its terms of
reference, which have been revised by the Board on 26 March
2012 pursuant to the CG Code, setting out the Remuneration
Committee’s authority, duties and responsibilities are available on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Remuneration Committee is chaired by Mr. Chung Kam
Kwong, an independent non-executive director and comprise three
other members, namely Mr. Heung Kai Sing and Mr. Cheung Wai
Yin, Wilson, being independent non-executive directors and Mr.
Wong Pong Chun, James, an executive director of the Company.

The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to
make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy
and structure of the remuneration of the directors and senior
management and the specific remuneration packages of all
executive directors and senior management. Details of the
remuneration of each of the directors for the year are set out in
Note 12 to the consolidated financial statements.

Four meetings were held during the year by the Remuneration
Committee to review the remuneration packages and assess the
performance of executive directors and non-executive director and
the director’'s fees of the independent non-executive directors.
All members of the Remuneration Committee attended the said
meetings.
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Nomination Committee

The Company has established the nomination committee (the
Nomination Committee”) in compliance with the Listing Rules.
The Nomination Committee is governed by its terms of reference,
which have been revised by the Board on 26 March 2012 and 20
August 2014 pursuant to the CG Code, setting out the Nomination
Committee's authority, duties and responsibilities are available on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The Nomination Committee is chaired by Mr. Chung Kam Kwong,
an independent non-executive director and comprise three other
members, namely Mr. Heung Kai Sing and Mr. Cheung Wai Yin,
Wilson, being independent non-executive directors and Mr. Wong
Pong Chun, James, an executive director of the Company.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the
structure, size and composition of the Board on a regular basis and
to make recommendations to the Board on matters relating to any
proposed changes.

The Company has adopted a board diversity policy which sets out
its approach to achieve and maintain diversity on the Board in order
to enhance the effectiveness of the Board.

Four meetings were held during the year by the Nomination
Committee to review the nomination procedures and the current
composition of the Board. All members of the Nomination
Committee attended the said meetings.

Audit Committee

The Company has established the audit committee (the “Audit
Committee”) in compliance with the Listing Rules. The Audit
Committee is governed by its terms of reference, which have
been revised by the Board on 26 March 2012 and 18 November
2015 pursuant to the CG Code, setting out the Audit Committee’s
authority, duties and responsibilities are available on the websites
of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and
provide supervision over the Group’s financial reporting matters,
internal controls and the system of risk management.

The Audit Committee comprises Mr. Chung Kam Kwong, Mr.
Heung Kai Sing and Mr. Cheung Wai Yin, Wilson, with Mr. Chung
Kam Kwong as chairman of the Audit Committee.

The Audit Committee held four meetings during the year. All
members of the Audit Committee attended the said meetings.
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The Board Meetings, Board Committees Meetings and ETgel EESZES2gBNRBREKRE
General Meetings

The Directors’ attendances at the Board Meetings, the Board REZ-ZE-_WME+_-_A=+—HILEE &=
Committees Meetings and General Meetings for the yearended 31 REZg@% ZEeZ8eomkREA®Y
December 2024 were as follows: HEERNT

Number of meetings attended

HESFXRE
General
Board Board Committees Meetings
EEg ExgZEg BRERE
Director Audit Remuneration Nomination
5= B Eq0) RrE
Executive directors:
HITES:
Lam Wai Wah 4/4 n/a n/a n/a 01
B NEA NiE A iE A
Wong Pong Chun, James 4/4 n/a 4/4 4/4 11
=& i A
Cheung Wing Cheung 4/4 n/a n/a n/a 11
IR SR T EA TEA T EA
Non-executive directors:
FHITES :
Song Bei Bei 4/4 n/a n/a n/a 0/1
REE NEA NiE A A
Dai Cheng Yun 4/4 n/a n/a n/a 0/1
BKE T EA TEA T EA
Lam Po Chun, Jane 0/0 n/a n/a n/a 0/0
(appointed on 15 November 2024) A3 A TEA T EA
WEZ
(RZZT_WF+—HA+HBEEE)
Independent non-executive directors:
BYFHITES :
Chung Kam Kwong 4/4 4/4 4/4 4/4 1/
FEXib)v
Heung Kai Sing 4/4 4/4 4/4 4/4 11
Cheung Wai Yin, Wilson 4/4 4/4 4/4 4/4 1/1
REE
Total number of meeting(s) held 4 4 4 4 1
BITERAH
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AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the fees for audit and non-
audit services paid to the Company’s external auditors amounted
to HK$4,732,000 and HK$208,000 respectively.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board is responsible for the risk management and internal
control systems of the Company and reviewing their effectiveness.
The Board oversees the overall risk management of the Group and
endeavours to identify, control impact of the identified risks and
facilitate implementation of coordinated mitigating measures. The
risk management and internal control systems of the Company
are designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failures
to achieve business objectives, and can only provide reasonable
and not absolute assurance against material misstatement or
loss. Throughout the year from 1 January 2024 to 31 December
2024, the Board conducted reviews of the effectiveness of the
internal control system in all material respects including but not
limited to operational, financial, risk management and compliance
controls. The Group's system of internal control comprised a well-
defined organizational and management structure with levels and
limits of authority which was established to help achieve business
objectives, safeguard assets against unauthorized access or
disposal, ensure the maintenance of proper accounting records to
produce reliable management and financial information for internal
use and for publication purpose, help management mitigate
potential risk factors and ensure compliance with relevant rules
and regulations. The system was designed to provide reasonable,
but not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss
and to manage rather than eliminate risks of failure in operational
systems so as to achieve the Group’s objectives and long-term
goals.
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The process used to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks

The processes used to identify, evaluate and manage significant
risks by the Group are summarised as follows:

Risk Identification
. Identifies risks that may potentially affect the Group's
business and operations.

Risk Assessment
o Assesses the risks identified by using the assessment criteria
developed by the management; and

o Considers the impact and consequence on the business and
the likelihood of their occurrence.

Risk Response
o Prioritises the risks by comparing the results of the risk
assessment; and

° Determines the risk management strategies and internal
control processes to prevent, avoid or mitigate the risks.

Risk Monitoring and Reporting

° Performs ongoing and periodic monitoring of the risk and
ensures that appropriate internal control processes are in
place;

° Revises the risk management strategies and internal control
processes in case of any significant change of situation; and

o Reports the results of risk monitoring to the management
and the Board regularly.

The main features of the risk management and internal
control systems

Control procedures have been designed to safeguard assets
against misappropriation and disposition; ensure compliance with
relevant laws, rules and regulations; ensure proper maintenance
of accounting records for provision of reliable financial information
used within the business or for publication; and to provide
reasonable assurance against material misstatement, loss or fraud.
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The process used to review the effectiveness of the
risk management and internal control systems and to
resolve material internal control defects

The Board would be directly responsible for internal control of the
Group and for reviewing its effectiveness.

The Board has engaged an external compliance consultancy and
Internal control services limited as its risk management and internal
control review adviser (“the Adviser”) to conduct the annual review
of the risk management and internal control systems for the year
ended 31 December 2024. Such review is conducted annually and
cycles reviewed are under rotation basis. The scope of review was
previously determined and approved by the Board. The Adviser
has reported findings and areas for improvement to the Audit
Committee and management. The Board and Audit Committee
are of the view that there are no material internal control defeats
noted. All recommendations from the Adviser are properly followed
up by the Group to ensure that they are implemented within a
reasonable period of time. The Board therefore considered that the
risk management and internal control systems are effective and
adequate.

The procedures and internal controls for the handling
and dissemination of inside information

The Board assesses the likely impact of any unexpected and
significant event that may impact the price of the Shares or their
trading volume and decides whether the relevant information is
considered inside information and needs to be disclosed as soon
as reasonably practicable pursuant to Rules 13.09 and 13.10 of the
Listing Rules and the Inside Information Provisions under Part XIVA
of the SFO. Executive Directors and the legal advisor also may
have responsibility for approving certain announcements and/or
circulars to be issued by the Company under powers delegated by
the Board from time to time.

FINANCIAL REPORTING

The directors, having made appropriate enquiries, consider that
the Group has adequate resources to continue in operational
existence for the foreseeable future and that, for this reason, it
is appropriate to adopt the going concern basis in preparing the
financial statements for the year 2024. The Management also
provides all directors with monthly updates giving them a balanced
and understandable assessment of the Company’s performance,
position and prospects in sufficient detail to enable the Board as a
whole and each director to discharge their duties under Rule 3.08
and Chapter 13 of the Listing Rules.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The position of Company Secretary is held by Mr. Lau Fan Yu,
the CFO of the Group. The Company Secretary reported to the
Board chairman from time to time. All directors have access to
the advice and services of the company secretary to ensure that
board procedures, and all applicable laws, rules and regulations are
followed.

Since Mr. Lau was appointed in 2020, he has to take no less than
15 hours of relevant professional training for the financing year
commencing on or after 1 January 2021 and he has fulfilled the
requirement during the year under review.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

To safeguard shareholder interests and rights, a separate resolution
is proposed for each substantially separate issue at shareholder
meetings, including the election of individual directors. All
resolutions put forward at shareholder meetings will be voted on
by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and poll results will be posted
on the websites of the Company and of the Stock Exchange after
each shareholder meeting.

INVESTOR RELATIONS

(1) Communication with Shareholders and Procedures
for putting forward proposals at general meetings

All published information, including financial statements,
results announcements, circulars and notices of general
meetings and associated explanatory documents are promptly
posted on the Group’s website at www.truly.com.hk. Viewers
can also send enquiries and proposals putting forward for
shareholders’ consideration at shareholder meetings to the
Board or senior management by email at enquiry@truly.com.hk
or directly by raising questions at the general meeting of the
Company.
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(2) Procedures for Shareholders to convene an
extraordinary general meeting

Shareholders shall have the right to request the Board to
convene an extraordinary general meeting ("EGM"”) of the
Company. Shareholders holding in aggregate of not less
than one-tenth (10%) of the paid up capital of the Company
which carries the right of voting at the general meeting of
the Company may send a written request to the Board of
the Company to request for a EGM. The written requisition,
duly signed by the shareholders concerned, must state
the purposes of the meeting and must be deposited at the
Company’s principle place of business in Hong Kong.

Shareholders who wish to move a resolution at general
meetings may follow the procedures set out in the preceding
paragraph.

(3) Constitutional Documents

There was no change to the Company’'s Memorandum and
Articles of Association during the financial year 2024. A copy
of the Memorandum and Articles of Association is posted on
the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

DIVIDEND POLICY

Under the dividend policy adopted by the Company with effect
from 28 March 2019, the Board may consider declaring and paying
dividends to the Shareholders out of the Company’s distributable
reserves. Such declaration and payment of dividends shall remain
to be determined at the sole discretion of the Board, subject to
the requirements of all applicable laws and the memorandum and
articles of association of the Company.

Under the dividend policy, in deciding whether to propose or
declare a dividend and in determining the dividend amount and
means of payment, the Board shall take into account, among
others:

(i) the actual and expected financial performance of the Group;
(i) the Group's liquidity position;

(iiiy  the capital and debt level of the Group;

(iv)  retained profits and distributable reserves of the Company
and major subsidiaries of the Group; and

(v)  the working capital requirements, capital expenditure
requirements and future development plans of the Group.

2) BRREBMBRRFEIIARENERF

BREEEEREES ARAARANRRE

ARG (ERFIARE]) - ARBEARF
Wm$ ARRARGRER ZHRBRARND
RtRZ—(10%) ZBRRAIAARFESE
ZHEmMEFR - BRARBRRERIAE - &
BRARREARE 2 EMBRMBBERMZA
g2BH > ANARERXERNRRNURNEEN
FRERMH -

MR R A S 8 —
TERTER P& 2 2P ©

THRFHR R

(3) |EXH

R-Z_MBMRFE - AAREMEERZRH
K ARRI B - ARSI A AR B
RE BB R B K Bk 32 A8 -

Bz B3R

REARFDRANBERE BT —NF=H
—tN\BE  EEEREEEARAMNAHSIK

FERRREIRLRMBE - ZEREHDIKK
MNEREEE2EBIERE  ELAETME

ERERMARBNABERAALERZAR -

REZBRERR  MRAEREEZZ AT IREE KX
BERESBEDIRD AR EEEREE(HP
BEE)

() ARENEELBARFHRR

(i)  AERERBDHESAMN ;

(i) ARENERRBEKRE

(iv) ANRBRAEETEZNMERBNREEN R
A IR &

v AEENZEESFR  BARAXHTREKR

REREATE -

T ONEFR o FEREBRERAE 41



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

ERELHRSE

The Board shall endeavor to strike a balance between providing
immediate return to the shareholders through the payment of
dividends whilst retaining adequate reserves as the Group's
working capital and for the Group’s future growth. There can be no
assurance that dividends will be proposed, declared or paid by the
Company in any particular amount at any time or from time to time.

The Board will from time to time review the dividend policy and
may exercise at its absolute and sole discretion to update, amend
and/or modify the Dividend Policy at any time as the Board deems
fit and necessary. Details of the Company’s dividend policy are set
out in the announcement of the Company dated 28 March 2019.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company recognises the importance of diversity to corporate
governance and the board effectiveness.

The purpose of this policy is to set out the basic principles to
be followed to ensure that the board of directors (the “Board”)
has the appropriate balance of skills, experience and diversity of
perspectives necessary to enhance the effectiveness of the Board
and to maintain high standards of corporate governance.

Board nomination and appointments will continue to be made on
merit basis based on its business needs from time to time while
taking into account diversity.

Selection of board candidates shall be based on a range of diversity
perspectives with reference to the Company’s business model and
specific needs, including but not limited to gender, race, language,
cultural background, educational background, industry experience
and professional experience.

As at 31 December 2024, 56% and 44% (2023: 57% and 43%)
of the Group's employees were male and female respectively.
The Group recognises the value of gender diversity to promote
a diverse and inclusive working environment and welcomes
increased female representation at all levels. However, the Group
currently does not consider it appropriate to set any specific gender
target for its workforce. As at the date of this annual report, the
Board has one female Director, the gender diversity has been
achieved in respect of the Board.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

 itEREARE

R

ABOUT THIS REPORT

Truly International Holdings Limited (the “Company”), together
with its subsidiaries (the “Group”), is pleased to present this
Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the “Report”) to
provide an overview of the Group's management of significant
issues affecting the operation, including environmental, social and
governance issues. This Report is prepared by the Group with the
professional assistance of APAC Compliance Consultancy and
Internal Control Services Limited.

PREPARATION BASIS AND SCOPE

This Report is prepared in accordance with Appendix C2 to the
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange
of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”)
— “Environmental, Social and Governance Reporting Guide” and
has complied with the “comply or explain” provision in the Listing
Rules.

This Report summarises the performance of the Group with
respect of corporate environmental and social responsibility,
covering its operations which are considered as material by the
Group — the business of manufacture and sales of liquid crystal
display (“LCD") products and electronic consumer products in the
People’s Republic of China (the “PRC") and Hong Kong (“HK").
With the aim to optimise and improve the disclosure requirements
in the Report, the Group has taken the initiative to formulate
policies, record relevant data as well as implement and monitor
measures. This Report shall be published both in Chinese and
English on the websites of the HKEx-news at www.hkexnews.hk
and the Company at www.truly.com.hk. Should there be any
discrepancy between the Chinese and the English versions, the
English version shall prevail.

REPORTING PERIOD

This Report demonstrates our sustainability initiatives during the
reporting period from 1 January 2024 to 31 December 2024.
CONTACT INFORMATION

The Group welcomes your feedback on this Report for
our sustainability initiatives. Please contact us by email to
enquiry@truly.com.hk.
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INTRODUCTION

The Group is principally engaged in the business of manufacture
and sales of LCD products including touch panel products, and
electronic consumer products including compact camera modules,
fingerprint identification modules, personal health care products
and electrical devices in the PRC and Hong Kong.

Sustainable development is an integral part of the Group's
business strategy in order to achieve business excellence and
enhance capabilities for long-term competitiveness. The Group is
committed to operating in a manner that is economically, socially
and environmentally sustainable while balancing the interests of
our various stakeholders and fostering a positive impact on society.
To demonstrate its commitment, the Group has established and
implemented various policies and measures to manage and monitor
the risks related to the environment, employment, operating
practices and community. Details of the management approach to
the sustainable development of different areas are illustrated in this
Report.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT AND MATERIALITY
ASSESSMENT

The Group understands the success of the Group's business
depends on the support from its key stakeholders, who (a) have
invested or will invest in the Group; (b) have the ability to influence
the outcomes within the Group; and (c) are interested in or affected
by or have the potential to be affected by the impact of the Group's
activities, products, services and relationships. It allows the Group
to understand risks and opportunities. The Group will continue to
ensure effective communication and maintain good relationships
with each of its key stakeholders.

Stakeholders are prioritised from time to time in view of the
Group’s roles and duties, strategic plan and business initiatives.
The Group engages with its stakeholders to develop mutually
beneficial relationships and to seek their views on its business
proposals and initiatives as well as to promote sustainability in the
marketplace, workplace, community and environment.

The Group acknowledges the importance of intelligence gained
from the stakeholders’ insights, inquiries and continuous interest
in the Group's business activities. The Group has identified key
stakeholders that are important to our business and established
various channels for communication. The following table provides
an overview of the Group’s key stakeholders, and various platforms
and methods of communication are used to reach, listen and
respond.
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Stakeholders

Expectations

Engagement channels

B E B SHRE
Government o Compliance with the laws and o Annual reports, interim reports and
BT regulations announcements
BRERRERER Fi - PHmERQE
o Proper tax payment o Company website
EEHM NCIE SR
Shareholders and investors e Low risk ° Annual general meetings and other
BRRERESE KRB shareholder meetings
e Return on the investment RRBFRE REMRRE R
& B3R e Annual reports, interim reports,
o Information disclosure and quarterly reports and announcements
transparency FI - PHRE FERESRDE
B RS e Company website

Employees

’E

Customers

®F

Protection of interests and fair
treatment of shareholders

RIS I N F B ACR

Safeguard the rights and interests of
employees

RERE B R Rz

Working environment

THERIR

Career development opportunities
BEERES

Health and Safety

BEREZE

Safe and high-quality products
ZEREBEER

Stable relationship

RERR

Information transparency
BiEA

Integrity

S

Business ethics

ERER

T ONEFR o FEREBRERAE

NGIE R
Meeting with investors and analysts

B EERDNMRTEH

Training, seminars, briefing sessions
=3 AN e RENE

Newsletters

A

Intranet and emails

B N B E

Annual reports, interim reports,
quarterly reports and announcements
Fi - PHRE  FEBRERAS
Company website

YNGIEER

Email and customer service hotline
BERE PR

Regular meetings

EHEHE
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Stakeholders Expectations Engagement channels
B E B SHERE
Suppliers and partners o Long-term partnership ° Business meetings, phone calls
MERR BN REARH g - BEm
o Honest cooperation ° Regular meetings
WIEEIE EHEH
° Fairness and openness ° Reviews and assessments
NFFR Bz MATE
o Information resources sharing
HEEAER
° Risk reduction
AR
Financial institution o Compliance with the laws and ° Consulting
SEEE regulations B
BRERREREHR e Information disclosure
e Disclosure of information BEAA
WEEE o Annual reports, interim reports,

quarterly reports and announcements

Fif - PHIRE FERERQSE

Media ° Information transparency ° Company website
iR EFEHRA NSRS
° Interviews
Hilis!
Public and communities o Community involvement ° Annual reports, interim reports,
ABRRHE @ quarterly reports and announcements
e Social responsibilities F5R - PHIFERE EERERRAE
HEaME

Through general communication with stakeholders, the Group FEBEFMHEET—RER  KNEETHIZHND
understands the expectations and concerns of stakeholders. E/EIERET - RESH R EEANEELHE
The feedbacks obtained allow the Group to make more informed HE ARERAE - BEFWTELREBHLE
decisions, and to better assess and manage the resulting impact. ERRE -

The Group has adopted the principle of materiality in ESG AEBE®BBTHREAEEEEMsBEEMNEHRE
reporting by understanding the key ESG issues that are important IR - @ NEREE  NIRE 42 LERR
to the business of the Group. All the key ESG issues and key & AEZEEWHRA - BIERE - H2REAR
performance indicators (KPIs) are reported in the Report according  &3835| (BRI 8:C2) R 2 & 1Sm A TE
to recommendations of the ESG Reporting Guide (Appendix C2 of S|ME= - NSRS BERREESE T2 kEH8
the Listing Rules) and the GRI Guidelines. EENERETUEZERETR -
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The Group has evaluated the materiality and importance of ESG
aspects through the following steps:

Step 1: Identification — Industry Benchmarking

o Relevant ESG areas were identified through the review of
relevant ESG reports of the local and international industry
peers.

° The materiality of each ESG area was determined
based on the importance of each ESG area to the Group
through internal discussion of the management and the
recommendation of the ESG Reporting Guide (Appendix C2
of the Listing Rules).

Step 2: Prioritisation — Stakeholder Engagement
o The Group discussed with key stakeholders on key ESG areas
identified above to ensure all the key aspects were covered.

Step 3: Validation — Determining Material Issues

o Based on the discussion with key stakeholders and
internal discussion among the management, the Group's
management ensured that all the key and material ESG areas,
which were important to the business development, were
reported and in compliance with the ESG Reporting Guide.

As a result of this process carried out in 2024, those important ESG
areas to the Group were discussed in this Report.
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ESG GOVERNANCE
Board’s oversight of ESG issues

Board's overall vision and strategy in managing ESG issues

The board of directors (“Board”) has a primary role in overseeing
the management of the Group’s sustainability issues. During the
reporting period, the Board spent significant time in evaluating
the impact of ESG-related risks on our operation and formulating
relevant policy in dealing with the risks. The oversight of the Board
is to ensure the management has all the right tools and resources
to oversee the ESG issues in the context of strategy and long-term
value creation.

ESG working group

The Group attaches great importance to ESG work. Under the
leadership of the Board of the Company, each subsidiary has set up
a dedicated safety and environmental protection department (“ESG
Working Group”) to implement specific safety and environmental
protection work, so as to comply with government requirements,
implement the concept of “safety and environmental protection” in
its operation and fulfil its social responsibilities.

The ESG Working Group is primarily responsible for reviewing and
supervising the ESG process, and risk management of the Group.
Different ESG issues were reviewed by the Working Group at the
meeting, which is held once per year. During the reporting period,
the ESG Working Group and the management reviewed the ESG
governance and different ESG issues.

Board’s ESG management approach and strategy for material ESG-related
issues

In order to better understand the opinions and expectations of
different stakeholders on our ESG issues, a materiality assessment
is conducted each year. We ensure various platforms and channels
of communication are used to reach, listen and respond to our key
stakeholders. Through general communication with stakeholders,
the Group understands the expectations and concerns of
stakeholders. The feedbacks obtained allow the Group to make
more informed decisions, and to better assess and manage the
resulting impact.

The Group has evaluated the materiality and importance of ESG
aspects through the steps: (1) material ESG area identification
by industry benchmarking; (2) key ESG area prioritization with
stakeholder engagement; and (3) validation and determining
material ESG issues based on results of communication among
stakeholders and the management. Hence, this can enhance
understanding of their degree and change of attention to each
significant ESG issue and can enable us to more comprehensively
plan our sustainable development work in the future. Those
important and material ESG areas identified during our material
assessment were discussed in this Report.
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ENVIRONMENTAL ASPECTS

The Group believes that the enterprise has a responsibility in
promoting and implementing the sustainable development
of the environment. Accordingly, the Group established
environmental principles to ensure the effective execution
of various measures. In production and operation activities,
the Group has been enhancing the management of pollution
resources, taking effective precaution measures to reduce
or avoid the impact of wasted water, exhaust gas, noise and
solid waste on the environment; continuously improving
the production process, monitoring the process, improved
product qualification rate and saved resources and energy as
much as possible; strove to seek substitutes for hazardous
and noxious substances to produce our products meeting
the requirement of customers and the laws and regulations
of importing countries; encouraged the staff and workers to
strengthen environmental protection awareness and to obtain
knowledge and skills related to environmental protection.

The Group has obtained the ISO 14001:2015 GB/T24001-
2016 International Environment Management System
Authentication and the IECQ QC080000:2017 Hazardous
Substances Process Management Authentication.
Furthermore, the relevant functional departments of
the Group have already taken control of emissions as
an important job duty and continuously improved these
procedures.

During the reporting period, the Group fully complied with all
of the relevant national laws, regulations and policies, such as
the Environmental Protection Law of the PRC, the Law of the
PRC on the Prevention and Control of Atmospheric Pollution
and the Air Pollution Control Ordinance (Cap.311) in Hong
Kong. Besides, the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance (2023: nil) with the relevant laws and regulations
that had a significant impact on the Group related to air and
greenhouse gas emissions, discharges into water and land,
and generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste.
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EMISSIONS A1, BERW
The Group acknowledges its responsibility to the environment REBEMBEAHRBHETLE AT HER
and has implemented various policies and measures to KRIEHE - UHRERROREEBRERRA
regulate and mitigate the emissions generated during EEEREANTESRY -
manufacturing process and office operations.
Air Pollutant Emissions SR
The air pollutants emitted by the Group mainly come from AEEERNERSEMEZRGREBE
the fuel consumed during the manufacturing process and by FROBRER AR R BT o B HE UL SIS i LA
vehicles. It is crucial to implement emission control measures BAORBEENREETIRFEEPEE -
to reduce the environmental impacts and protect the health
of employees.
Hence, the Group has established a policy of “Sewage and Hit - AEEDHIE V5K R EREREFZE
Exhaust Gas Treatment Facilities and Discharge Regulations” FBEBUEMR | ISR - WHTTRE R IR AR 6
and implemented exhaust gas treatment facilities to reduce PR A 22 05 2 HEROK T - BERVERET S
the air pollutants emission level and ensure the emission HEBRIZE -
meets the relevant national standards.
Relevant departments are assigned to regularly monitor the BN HAE ERRIERIENETIE NS
operations of exhaust gas treatment facilities and conduct ITEDR - WEHIEITHE  MREENRET
regular maintenance of them to ensure they are in good REE o — - FTERISEMBERERETR
condition. The air pollutant emissions in 2024 decreased EEERBMAT N o poh - PEBERZ
due to the decrease in business travel due to the business TOMFEWEEEREREBHR - RED
operations. Also, there is no policy of Staggering electricity NI ARHIRENRGIER A EESHE
usage implemented by the PRC Government in 2024, EHT - mEHARNSOREFEE A FRERIE -
resulting in no power restrictions during the reporting o REBBBEREARZE-_hFRIKE
period. Therefore, there is a lower diesel consumption under REEM R ER D 5% °
normal power supply conditions during the reporting period.
Furthermore, the Group targets to reduce the emission of air
pollutants by 5% by 2025.
During the reporting period, the air pollutant emissions were RAREEA - ERSEERIAT ¢
as follows:
2024 2023
ZEoNmE —E-=F
Type of air pollutants Unit HK PRC Total Total
ERSRNEE B BB FEl st st
Nitrogen oxides (NO ) kg 1.5 9,422.2 9,423.7 10,263.0
RED T
Sulphur oxides (SO ) kg 0.0 154.3 154.3 168.0
= T
Particulate matter (PM) kg 0.1 547.3 547.4 595.4
BRI T

Truly International Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2024
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Greenhouse Gas (“GHG") Emissions

Greenhouse gas is considered as one of the major
contributors to the climate change and global warming.
Fuel and electricity consumption account for a major part
of the Group’'s GHG emissions. The Group attaches great
importance to improving energy efficiency and reducing
energy consumption to minimise its GHG emissions. The
Group has adopted various energy-saving initiatives that will
be further elaborated in the section “Use of Resources” of
this Report.

The decrease in GHG emissions Scope 1'was mainly due
to the absence of the Staggering electricity usage policy
implemented by the PRC Government in 2024, resulting in
no power restrictions during the reporting period. Therefore,
there is a lower diesel consumption under normal power
supply conditions during the reporting period. Also, there is
an decrease in refrigerant purchased in 2024 was due to the
maintenance of air conditioning equipment was outsourced
to external suppliers during the reporting period. The increase
in GHG emissions Scope 2? in 2024 was mainly due to the
increase in production volume?® during the reporting period.
Furthermore, the Group will strive to reduce the GHG
emission intensity by 4% and 5% by 2025 and 2026 as
compared with 2024 and 2025, respectively.

Scope 1: Direct emissions from sources that are owned or controlled by
the Group.

Scope 2: Indirect emissions from the generation of purchased electricity
consumed by the Group.

The production volume during the reporting period and FY2023 was
728,860,000 units and 641,080,000 units, respectively.
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During the reporting period, the GHG emissions were as
follows:

RARERA  BERBHERDAOT

2024 2023
Type of GHG emissions Unit HK PRC Total Total
—FomE  ZT-=F
BEREHHYES By 58 e wat et
Scope 1 tonnes of CO,e 4.9 982.7 987.6 1,127.8
#E— PAREE = %kﬁ:i
Scope 2 tonnes of CO,e 115.4 763,998.3 764,113.7 711,654 .54
#HE= PAMERT = %Tt e
Total GHG emission tonnes of CO,e 764,981.0 765,101.3 712,682.3°
REREEHN PABRET = %Mﬁéi
GHG emission intensity tonnes of CO2¢e/ 0.043 0.0467
HK$'000 revenue®
RERBHREE PAMEEt — S (L IRE &
FFBTsGE
Hazardous and Non-hazardous Wastes EEHEEYNREEREEY

The Group generates hazardous waste including organic
solvent waste, waste paints, photosensitive material waste,
waste acid, waste alkali and inorganic fluoride waste during
the production process.

The Group has established internal procedures to handle
the hazardous waste with due care. The hazardous waste
is classified into different categories for separate collection
and storage. The Group has engaged licensed waste disposal
service providers to process accumulated hazardous waste.
The increase in the amount of hazardous waste generated
in 2024 was mainly due to the capacity enhancement of the
thinning and display panel products, resulting in a higher
generation of chemical waste during the reporting period.
The Group has set a comprehensive reduction target by 5%
reduction in hazardous waste generation by 2025.

52

The year 2023 GHG emissions Scope 2 data has been restated due to the
updated of emission factor for calculating the purchased electricity in both
HK and the PRC. The emission factor data updated from 2019 to 2023
for both HK and the PRC. The source of emission factor data referred
to 2023 Sustainability Report and Baseline emissions factors of regional
power grids for 2023 carbon offset project development issued by the
CLP Group and the National Center for Climate Change Strategy and
International Cooperation (NCSC), respectively.

The year 2023 total GHG emission data has been restated due to the
restatement of the year 2023 GHG emissions Scope 2 data. The detail of
restatement referred to footnote 4.

The annual revenue of the Group in the reporting period and Financial
Year 2023 (“FY2023") were approximately HK$17,840,169,000 and
HK$15,588,143,000, respectively.

The year 2023 GHG emission intensity has been restated due to the
restatement of the year 2023 GHG emissions Scope 2 data. The detail of
restatement referred to footnote 4.
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The non-hazardous waste is generated during the production
process and office operations. The non-hazardous waste
includes paper, plastics, wood, glass and metal. The non-
hazardous waste is collected regularly and cleaned up by
the Environmental and Sanitation Department. The Group
strives to reduce the amount of non-hazardous waste by
implementing various waste reduction initiatives based on the
4R principle (i.e., Reduce, Reuse, Replace and Recycle). In
order to reduce paper waste, the Group promotes electronic
communication, such as by email, instead of paper-form
communication.

The Group also encourages its employees to use both
sides of paper and suitable font sizes and shrinkage modes
when printing. Besides, employees are encouraged to use
durable items, such as reusable cups and cutleries instead
of disposable ones. The amount of non-hazardous waste
generated in 2024 remained stable as the Group continued to
implement waste management strategies effectively during
the reporting period. The Group has set a comprehensive
reduction target by 5% reduction in non-hazardous waste
generation by 2025. In addition, the Group places great
emphasis on waste recycling. The Group has established
waste segregation with separately allocated containers to
facilitate recycling of general waste.
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During the reporting period, the hazardous and non-hazardous RARERR  AEBEANEE MNEER
wastes generated by the Group were as follows: EZYR
2024 2023
Type of waste generated Unit HK PRC Total Total
ZBRIME —T-=F
FRE RV E R B ) HE et HEt
Hazardous waste generated tonnes - 17,562 17,562 13,773
FREXBEREED g
Hazardous waste generated tonnes/HK$'000 - 0.001 0.001
intensity revenue®
FEXBERENTE W, T BT
Non-hazardous waste generated  tonnes - 846 846 822
PREEREREEY s
Non-hazardous waste tonnes/HK$'000 - 0.000047 0.000053
generated intensity revenue®
FREABERENTE W, GF BT

During the reporting period, the various types of waste
recycled by the Group were as follows:

RAREA - REBERREEEZDIOT

2024 2023

Type of waste recycled Unit HK PRC Total Total
—EBEDNE —ZT-=

i (21 LT /2% 22 4 4 B BB HEl et st
Foam box piece - - - -
SARAE 12
Steel box piece - - - -
HAE 18
Plastic basket piece - 12,700 12,700 13,970
BB 18
Plastic frame piece - 180 180 191
R 12
Components packaging board piece - 50,900 50,900 127,270
BB ER 18
Plastic packaging box piece - - - -
BREER 18
Plastic plate piece - 51,800 51,800 -
ZBEMR &
Steel bottles and racks piece - 12,816 12,816 -
) % 5 42 1&

54

The annual revenue of the Group in the reporting period and FY2023 were
approximately HK$17,840,169,000 and HK$15,588,143,000, respectively.
The annual revenue of the Group in the reporting period and FY2023 were
approximately HK$17,840,169,000 and HK$15,588,143,000, respectively.
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A2. USE OF RESOURCES

The major resources used by the Group are electricity, petrol,
water and packaging materials. The Group has adopted the
“Paper and Electricity Usage Management Regulations” and
the “Corporate Environmental Policy” to regulate the use of
different resources during the production process and office
operations.

The Group aims to promote resource saving by implementing
energy and water efficiency initiatives and motivating our
employees to participate in resource conservation activities.

Energy Consumption

The use of electricity and fuels accounts for the Group’s
major energy consumption. Given the scarcity of energy,
the Group has advocated various energy conservation
strategies to increase energy efficiency and reduce energy
consumption. The temperature of air-conditioners is
maintained at an energy-efficient level at around 25 degrees
Celsius. A standby mode is set for computers when they are
not in use for a long period. All lighting and power supplies
in the area are switched off while leaving. To increase the
environmental awareness of employees, energy-saving
reminder notices are posted near the switches and sockets
to encourage our employees to reduce electricity usage.

The slight increase in energy consumption in 2024 was due
to the increase in the purchased electricity consumption in
the PRC due to the increase in production volume' during
the reporting period. The Group has set an inclusive total
energy consumption reduction target by 5% by 2025.

10

The production volume during the reporting period and FY2023 was
728,860,000 units and 641,080,000 units, respectively.
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728,860,000 {4 % 641,080,000 4 °
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During the reporting period, the Group’s energy consumption
was as follows:

RARERA - REBEEREFRENT :

2024 2023
Type of energy Unit HK PRC Total Total
—EBDME —T-=fF
BERERE By ) HE et HEt
Purchased electricity MWh 296.0 983,061.9 983,357.9 915,980.2
BEE JKFL B
Diesel MWh - 1,556.7 1,556.7 1,692.7
geoh JKFLEF
Petrol MWh 11.9 151.3 163.2 171.2
FUH JK LB
Natural gas MWh - 5,261.7 5,261.7 5,739.4
RAR I EL B
Total energy consumption MWh 307.9 990,031.6 990,339.5 923,583.5
Bee R BERES JKF B
Energy consumption intensity MWh/HK$' 000 0.056 0.059
revenue'’
BEIRERERE JkELEE,
BFAETEE"
Water Consumption FEKE

Water is another important resource used by the Group
during operations. The Group endeavours to conserve water
effectively in its operations by implementing various water-
saving measures. The water used in the cleaning process is
reused when practicable. Besides, employees are encouraged
to turn off the water taps when they are not in use.

In case of leaking faucets or pipes, the Group will
promptly report to the relevant authority in order to reduce
unnecessary water consumption. Moreover, the amount of
water consumption is recorded regularly for the Group to
monitor the water consumption level and better formulate
water-saving measures. The volume in water consumption
remained stable in 2024 was mainly attributable to the
Group's implemented water-saving policies effectively during
the reporting period. The Group has set a reduction target
of 4% and 5% in water consumption intensity by 2025 and
2026 as compared with 2024 and 2025, respectively.

m

56

The annual revenue of the Group in the reporting period and FY2023 were
approximately HK$17,840,169,000 and HK$ 15,588,143,000, respectively.
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During the reporting period, the water consumption was as ARIREHR - FHKEWOT -
follows:
2024 2023
Water consumption Unit HK PRC Total Total
—EoNFE —ET=F
EKkE B B8 R E st wEt
Total water consumption m? 1,691 14,287,691 14,289,382 14,251,382
riEKE SR
Water consumption intensity m?3/HK$' 000 0.80 0.91
revenue'?
FRERE SRS
FFE T2
Packaging Materials and Other Resources A EREMER
The packaging materials are used to protect our products in BEMEAERERMNE DR EGEE
order to minimise the risk of damage during transportation. MWiEERER  ANEFETEFH E’]’\:]§€$ﬁf3|-7,%
The major packaging materials used by the Group are plastic AR - [TRERNMAE  —SE-UFER
trays, antistatic bags and carton boxes. The increased amount HEDEEERNE FEZHRANBEHRN

of packaging material consumption in 2024 was mainly due
to the increase in production volume'® during the reporting
period. The Group has set a reduction target of 5% in
packaging materials consumption by 2025.

EEIEMN - AERECHER =T -AFAR
LPBREMFEREES% WEIR -

During the reporting period, the consumption of the Group’s NARREEARN - REBTERRMEPEESE
major packaging materials was as follows: mr
2024 2023
Type of packaging materials Unit HK PRC Total Total
—EBomE —T-=
BEMBESR B BE HEl et “st
Plastic tray piece - 65,634,987 65,634,987 65,272,641
BRTAE &
Antistatic bag piece - 10,347,512 10,347,512 6,669,484
DB R &
Carton box piece - 2,336,732 2,336,732 2,005,693
e 18
12 The annual revenue of the Group in the reporting period and FY2023 were 2 REBREHAANLR S _=FF2FEWRSIO RN A
approximately HK$17,840,169,000 and HK$ 15,588,143,000, respectively. 17,840,169,000 % 7T 2 15,588,143,000 /& 7T, ©
. The production volume during the reporting period and FY2023 was 3 BREHAR-_ S _=HE2EEED A

728,860,000 units and 641,080,000 units, respectively. 728,860,000 {4 K 641,080,000 14 °
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R dERERERE

THE ENVIRONMENT AND NATURAL RESOURCES

The Group has established a policy of “Environmental and
Safety Objectives, Indices and Plans Control Procedures”
to identify the Group's environmental targets, implement
environmental plans and validate the results.

In deciding the environmental objectives, indices and plans,
the Group takes into consideration different criteria, including
the significant environmental impacts in operational activities,
environmental concerns of related parties and the Group's
commitment to pollution prevention. Each department is
responsible for conveying to its employees the environmental
targets and plans, as well as encouraging employees to
maintain an environmental-friendly workplace.

CLIMATE CHANGE

Governance

Our Group addresses climate-related risks based on the
nature of the risk to our operations. The physical impacts
of climate change, including extreme weather events, or
damage to facilities have immediate operational impacts
and are treated as operational risks. Long-term challenges,
such as emerging ESG issues and climate-related risks and
opportunities, may be discussed by the Group’s ESG Working
Group.

Supported by our ESG Working Group, our Board oversees
climate-related issues and risks regularly during board
meetings and ensures that they are incorporated into our
strategy.

To ensure our Board keeps up with the latest trend of
climate-related issues, climate competence training will be
provided to ensure it has the necessary expertise and skills
to oversee the management of climate-related issues. Our
Board also seeks professional advice from external experts
when necessary to better support the decision-making
process.
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Strategy

Climate change risk forms part of our overall risk profile
through its role in increasing the frequency and intensity
of certain diseases, and the health and mortality impacts
resulting from natural disasters. We assess the overall level
of risk by taking into consideration a range of diverse risk
factors across the many categories in our services range.
This diversity of risk combined with our business strategy and
broad geographic footprint helps us mitigate risk and provide
protection against the impacts of short-term climate change
effects.

Our products and services continue to provide protection for
people in our communities against weather and heat-related
disease. Besides, we continue to explore opportunities
to engage our business partners and encourage them to
develop climate resilience and reduce their operational carbon
footprint by taking into consideration different climate-related
scenarios, including a “2°C or lower scenario” through the
following steps:

Step 1: Set Future Images Assuming Climate Change Effects

As climate change measures proceed, there is a possibility
that the industry will be exposed to substantial changes, such
as stricter policies including the introduction of and increases
in carbon pricing, as well as advances in technology and
changes in customer awareness.

In light of these climate change effects, based on the
International Energy Agency (“IEA”) scenarios and others,
we developed multiple future images as the external
environment that will surround our Group. With regard to
the IEA scenarios, we put focus on the 2°C scenario (2DS)
and pictured future images in cases where climate change
measures do not progress and where such measures
progress further “Beyond 2°C scenario”.

RS

M L LB R 3R AP 4R B R B AR o — 6
o WIARREEEER SRS ELRR
HY SRR M SR E A K B R EEHR R ML TR
PRERMFZENEMENIER - Rf1EBE
BRFBEANZ BRI TRARRESE - &F
RE B KZE o 1t E B A 2 I SR IR
EBEEANBEZOMARTRES - B
PRI ERR - SR RE - KIKEEH
RIRBCRZE -

BAIWERMREFE/R LB AR
HiRE FEEXRRNEARREBNKRE

VRE o UbSN - BPAREE SR S R IR
EBBHEL  USBRFEEUTIR
BRERTRARKHBBR (BRE[2°CXE
BEBER]D  BRARERN LR H L EHK
R

SH—  BRAER LR ERRRIE
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ik -
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Step 2: Consider the Impacts

We considered the impacts on our Group for each of the
future images developed in Step 1. We believe that in such a
society, it will be possible to expand carbon dioxide reduction
effects.

With regard to effects on raw material procurement and
production, the introduction of and increases in carbon
pricing is anticipated in accordance with the global advance of
climate change measures, leading to the possibility of higher
raw material procurement and production costs.

On the other hand, in the case where climate change
measures are not adequate throughout society, production
interruptions and supply chain disruptions are likely to
increase as a result of higher frequency and intensification of
natural disasters such as flooding.

Step 3: Respond to the Strategies

Our Group will begin promoting the reduction of non-
renewable energy in our daily operation. This strategy will
allow for flexible and strategic responses to each demand
for the regions where the emission factors of purchased
electricity consumptions are high. By promoting real
carbon emissions reductions throughout the world through
comprehensive energy-saving policies and the introduction
of renewable energy, we are working to achieve zero carbon
emission in our business.

We minimize carbon emissions through comprehensive
energy-saving and introduction of renewable energy. With
respect to renewable energy in particular, we have set a new
target, achieving a reduction rate for purchased electricity in
the coming few years.

With regard to the ongoing confirmation of the suitability
and progress of the Group's strategies, we believe that we
will have opportunities for stable funding and sustainable
increases in corporate value through appropriate information
disclosure, and dialogue with institutional investors and other
stakeholders.
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Risk Management

Our Group identifies the climate change related risks or
tests the existing risk management strategies under climate
change with the aid of risk assessment. Hence, the areas
where new strategies are needed could be identified.

The risk assessment takes a standard risk-based approach
using national data, local information and expert knowledge,
which can identify how climate change may compound
existing risks or create new ones. The risk assessment is
conducted through the following steps:

Step 1: Establish the context

° Objective/goal

° Scale

° Time frame

o Climate change scenario for most climate variables and
sea level

Step 2: Identify existing risks (past and current)

° Identify the record of the occurrence of climatic hazards
in the past in the area

o Risk management strategies in place to tackle future
occurrence of the hazard

Step 3: Identify future risks and opportunities
° Explore climate change projections for the selected
time frame(s) and emission scenario(s)

o Identify potential hazards

o Investigate whether any existing risk from Step 2 may
get worse under future projected changes

° Identify new risks that can emerge under future

projected changes

Step 4: Analyse and evaluate risk

o Identify a set of decision areas or systems (i.e.,
geographical areas, business operations, assets,
ecosystems, etc.) that have the potential to be at risk in
future

As outlined within the Governance section above, the
Group has robust risk management and business planning
processes that are overseen by the board of directors in
order to identify, assess and manage climate-related risks.
The Group engages with government and other appropriate
organizations in order to keep abreast of expected and
potential regulatory and/or fiscal changes.
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We continue to raise awareness of climate change in regard
to monitoring of carbon and energy footprint in our daily
operation. However, there remain gaps in understanding
how such climate risks and opportunities may impact
our operations, assets and profits. Our Group assesses
how the business addresses climate change risks and
opportunities and takes the initiative to monitor and reduce
its environmental footprint.

Significant Climate-related Issues

During the reporting period, the significant climate-related
physical risks and transition risks, which have impacted
and/or may impact our Group’s business and strategy in (i)
operations, products and services, (i) supply chain and value
chain, (iii) adaptation and mitigation activities, (iv) investment
in research and development, and (v) financial planning, as
well as the steps taken to manage these risks, are as follows:

Climate-related risks description
RARME R R

Financial Impact

e

BPEERSERIRECWRE - UERIR
PIB ®E S REREY - A - EE
BazSRIREREEBIMEZERFINE
% BEMGNTHIDFEEE - ARE
BEFNAEERIEECRR RS W
BERMRDEIRT R

HRIEERANEXEE
RBESRR - ERFER /LA RTELAEE

Ri)EE  ERERS  ()VREHEKER
P (i) EE R ERREE - (VIR E RV
BB MR ER RN ERNREER
YR RB FRERR AN AEEZERK
MERE 2 T -

Steps taken to manage the risks
REERBRMREZ SR

Physical Risk

VI &b

Acute physical risks

Rim IR B

o Increased severity and frequency
of extreme weather events such
as cyclones and floods. These
have the potential to cause both
idiosyncratic and systemic risks,
resulting in potential damage to
machinery and equipment.
B [, K2 k7K S AR ity R SR S R Y
BREN RBEEARGFE
AN o %55 e AT AE 4 AR IR K2
IR - A S K ak
BENEERSE -

expense increase

B R PR M B IR 0
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Operating costs and repairing

o Planned to establish a natural

disasters emergency plan.
FEIRVEBRAKNEREAE

Planned to devise an action plan to
articulate the goals and targets of
the reductions in GHG emission and
energy consumption. Outlined the
plan to achieving those targets and
defined responsibilities.
FHEIGIEITENRT S - BB AR
EREFHREEREENEER
BE) - il T ERZEAERA
HETEMETE -
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Climate-related risks description Financial Impact

15 40 A L B mEgTE

Steps taken to manage the risks

REBABRMRRNZSR

Chronic physical risks

B YIERR

Changes in precipitation patterns e Revenue reduces
and extreme variability in weather N
patterns. Frequent extreme

weather events andrising in sea  ®
levels are likely to pose disruptions
to communities across the region
over the long term, affecting
economic output and business

Operating cost increases
EERRIE N

Planned improvements, retrofits,
relocations, or other changes to
facilities that may reduce their
vulnerability to climate impacts, and
increase climate resilience in the long
term.

FPEIERMEETTRE - 8% - K
B EANGE - LMEHBEARIER

productivity. FENBR - YReERARERRER
pRAKER 2 #ERRARERZ BN -

iR - REIM S - SAZH

fBRom KR EHAGFEE LA Record the energy consumption

B 45 85 (B0 O AL B AEATR
B WBEEERROEAE
jjo

Governments that have been
pushing for new regulations to
reduce GHG emission will pose a
threat to the financial performance
of a business and increase
regulatory risk.
—EEEBEIEFER AR D
REREHRABUAT - S
ENMBRIVEBEE - W5
MEEE R o

to identify peaks in usage, thus
significant savings could be
determined.
RERRERERRENH#A A ER
B BSRKIBETE BEIR o

Engaged with local or national
governments and local stakeholders
on local resilience.

B3 77 3 B SR BURT I & R0 &
S M EMER -
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Climate-related risks description

FEABRRER

Financial Impact

mEgTE

Steps taken to manage the risks

REBABRMRRNZSR

Transitional Risk
BERR

Policy risk

R R

° As a result of energy efficiency °

requirements, the carbon- BB IE NN

pricing mechanisms by the PRC

Government, increase the price of

fossil fuels.

HREEIRMEZ R - FBBUT

HIERE B S A REHE

BEF o

L]

Legal risk
AR
° Exposure to litigation risk. We ° Operating cost increases o

have to adapt the tightened laws B A A N

and regulations imposed by

the government due to climate

change, as well as bear the risk of

potential litigation once we fail to

obligate the new regulations.

[E SN S A S DAV il .
B A SR B i U R e

KoE# - —BIRMIAREEE PR

VERR - BIR] BETE R A FAR R o

° Enhanced air pollutant emissions-
reporting obligations for local
government, and we may have to
spend more time on fulfilling the
ESG reporting standards to comply
with the Hong Kong Listing Rules.
=i 7 BT R 22 5R)5 Rk
MERIREE - FKIIRTaEZ2ERE
FERERITRE HegkE
SERREAER] - NESFEE LT
Ao
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Operating cost increases °

Planned to conduct a carbon
footprint survey, in order to work
out the company's footprint,

to prioritize energy and waste
reductions.

FTEIETIRE AL - LEER
AWERED - WEER AR
REY) -

Monitor the updates of the
relevant environmental laws
and regulations against existing
products and services, to avoid
the unnecessary increase in cost
and expenditure due to non-
compliance.

IR A Em R EERERE
FERNMOER BE# - LB RER
BERMEBBNA LA HE
N EEE M -

Monitored the updates of
environmental laws and regulations
and implemented GHG emissions
calculations in advance.
EDABRIF AR RIGHIMERIER -
WHEERITREREHNENE

o

Continued monitoring of the ESG
reporting standards of the Hong Kong
Listing Rules.

SEERES EMRAZIRE
e MERMEER -
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Financial Impact

Steps taken to manage the risks

RIZHERR R BREE AEBRRMRMZ SR

Technology risk

i E R

° Low-carbon, energy-saving ° Capital investment increases @ Planned to invest in the innovations

technologies are launched.

Lagging behind in technology
advancement may weaken our °
competitive edges.

HEHEHR © BPRERRAMT o BT
WL T BEHISS R MR ER T
B -

Market risk
miEER

More customers are concerned .
about climate-related risks and
opportunities, which may lead to
changes in customer preferences. ®
EZEPEFERIKARENE

B RHE  AREENEPIRT
&L - .

Inability to attract co-financiers
and/or investors due to uncertain
risks related to the climate.

R BRI B T HEE
Rb - ARSI HEARMEE
R/ EE -

BEAREBEEM

Research and Development
(R&D) expense increases
THEE B AN

Revenue decreases

YA

Operating cost increases
B KA AN

Production cost increases

HEERARIE N

of energy saving products.
FTEIIRE R EIFTETBE A ©

Examined the feasibility and benefits
of applying the latest low-carbon and
energy-saving technologies into our
operation

& RS R IR AR 8P RS BT FE R
EER AT R -

Fulfilled the climate-related
regulations by the government.

A BT RIEAERAR D -

Prioritize climate change as a high
concern in the market decisions to
show to the clients that the company
is concerned about the problem of
climate change.

ETIHREF - BRIEEIESR
SEMINEBEEIE  NEPK
B AR RIEELEE TS
JE e
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Climate-related risks description Financial Impact Steps taken to manage the risks
RIZHERR R BREE AEBRRMRMZ SR
Reputational risk
BEER
° Risk of stigmatization of our ° Revenue decreases o Fulfilled the social responsibility by
business sector, as there will W AR A organizing more public relations
be more stakeholder concern or activities to show how our Group
negative stakeholder feedback on Operating costs increase places importance on climate change.
our Group. B RANEE AN BT eE T AT ZHNE
HRAEEREHESZHNE EE) - RAAREE A ER AR
WO EH R EENE Bk o
EREE - FA B MaZEBEP
AR5 2RE R - . Reviewed the business projects
to ensure the production and the
° Negative press coverage related projects were environmental-friendly.
to support of our Group's R I8 B R AEERIER
business projects or activities with IRIR ©
negative impacts on the climate
(e.g., GHG emissions and energy
conservation), which may affect
our reputation and image.
WX FHFAEBEEKIER REH
HREEKAEETE (NRER
Bk ETRE) AIABHE A
HF B RE A 2RI E
BRER -
During the reporting period, the primary climate-related PARGREEHAN - EHRrBAENTFTE2H-E LA
opportunities and the corresponding financial impacts were FEMBI RS 2T -
as follows:
Detailed description of climate-related
opportunities Financial Impact
AT ER R TR EE B E
Resource efficiency
e
° Use of more efficient modes of transport ° Operating cost reduces through efficiency gains and
FREBBMER X cost reductions

FIBIR SRR N PR AR PR E & R A
o Use of more efficient production and
distribution processes
ERE SO EE R D HRE

o Use of recycling
&= A A

. Reduce water consumption

BAFEKE
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Detailed description of climate-related
opportunities

Financial Impact

o A A B SRR B BA YA BMgEe
Energy source
gEIR
° Use of lower-emission sources of energy Operating cost reduces through use of lowest cost
EBE B IRE S A abatement
IR A SRR AR PP K E & A AR
o Use of supportive policy incentives
3 AR MR 2R Returns on investment in low- emission technology
increases
e Use of new technologies R BE R T & B 3R 35 1
T 0 A
o Shift toward decentralized energy
generation
HADBEEREE

Products and services

/2= o R R 7

o Development of climate adaptation and
insurance risk solutions

1) T S AR S B K R B R\ e R T 2

o Ability to diversify business activities

BEEBRBDZHCREE

o Development of new products or services
through R&D and innovation
BRI K BIRF ETE MRS

Markets
Ti%
° Access to new markets

EAFTS

Revenue increases through new solutions to adaptation
needs, such as insurance risk transfer of products and
services

BT B E T KR 2 (WA i I RS B AR B [ B 5
%) 12 A

Revenue increases through access to new and emerging
markets

BIBE AFTH IS K IS A
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Detailed description of climate-related
opportunities

Financial Impact

A A B SRR B BRI A BMgEe

Resilience

1BIR7

° Participation in renewable energy ° Market valuation increases through resilience planning,
programs and adoption of energy- such as planning of the research in the use of electric
efficiency measures vehicles
S E T AR T &R R ERERGERUE i B IRt & Flanst B A EEH LR - TS

(G

° Resource substitution or diversification

BRERHZH .

Reliability of supply chain and ability to operate under

various conditions increases

REHERN R ST MESBIGE TEETREN

o Revenue increases through new products and services
related to ensuring resiliency

38 3 SR REORTE IR 7 4 B O 3 2 dn M AR 518 U A

Metrics and Targets

Our Group adopts the key metrics to assess and manage
climate-related risks and opportunities. The energy
consumption and greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions indicators
are the key metrics used to assess and manage relevant
climate-related risks where we consider such information
to be material and crucial for evaluating the impact of our
operation on global climate change during the reporting
period. Our Group regularly tracks our energy consumption
and GHG emissions indicators to assess the effectiveness
of emission reduction initiatives, as well as set targets to
contribute to our effort to have minimal impact on global
warming.

The details of time frames over which the target applies
and the base year from which progress is measured are
described in section A1: “Emissions” and section A2: “Use
of Resources” of this Report. Our Group adopts an absolute
target to manage climate-related risks, opportunities and
performance.
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B. SOCIAL ASPECTS
EMPLOYMENT AND LABOUR PRACTICES

B1.

EMPLOYMENT

The Group believes employees are valuable assets and
the foundation for success and development of the
Group. The Group strives to maintain a safe and equal
working environment for its employees and promote
employees’ health and well-being. The employment
contracts and human resources management policies
cover the Group's standards in respect of compensation
and dismissal, recruitment and promotion, working
hours, rest periods and other benefits and welfare.

The Group strives to create a fair and inclusive
workplace where all its employees are treated
with dignity and respect. The Group provides equal
opportunity in all aspects of employment and prohibits
discrimination or harassment against any individual on
their gender, age, nationality, marital status, disability,
race, colour, religion and any other characteristics
protected by the relevant laws.

The Group is in strict compliance with the relevant laws
and regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong, including
the Labour Law of the PRC, the Labour Contract Law
of the PRC, the Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of
the Laws of Hong Kong), the Mandatory Provident Fund
Schemes Ordinance (Chapter 485 of the Laws of Hong
Kong), the Sex Discrimination Ordinance (Chapter 480
of the Laws of Hong Kong) and the Race Discrimination
Ordinance (Chapter 602 of the Laws of Hong Kong).
During the reporting period, the Group was not aware
of any material non-compliance (2023: nil) with those
applicable laws and regulations.
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EREEZEIER

B1.
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The employee composition breakdown by gender, age REREHAR - 104 R - 884858 - gt
group, employment category and geographical region at ¥R RMEE S 2 BB AL
the end of the reporting period is shown as follows: T
Employment 2024 2023
&= —EB-MEF —E_=fF
By gender
R B
° Male 56% 57%
ES
° Female 44% 43%
z
By age group
RERRAR
° 30 years old or below 40% 44%
B0REIAT
° 31-40 years old 45% 43%
31-40 5%
° 41-50 years old 14% 12%
41-50 3%,
° Over 50 years old 1% 1%
50 AR
By employment category
REEER
o Senior management 1% 1%
mREEE
° Middle management 12% 9%
PAREIRE
° General 87% 90%
—MRERAR
By geographical region
T E E
° Hong Kong 1% 1%
D
° The PRC 99% 99%
e
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In addition, below is the detailed breakdown of our BEAN - REREHA - BRAPTIZIER) - FHEAA R
employee turnover rate by gender, age group and MR &S A E SRR RIBEMAINT

geographical region during the reporting period:

Employment turnover rate 2024 2023

EER AL = —EB-MEF —EZ=F

By gender

to gz

° Male 19% 18%
e

° Female 19% 18%
z

By age group

REwRAR

o 30 years old or below 32% 25%
B0AREIAT

° 31-40 years old 12% 13%
31-40 5%

° 41-50 years old 7% 11%
41-50 3%,

° Over 50 years old 8% 11%
50 AR

By geographical region

Rih B

° Hong Kong 16% 38%
N

° The PRC 19% 18%
Y

Overall 19% 18%

2
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B2. HEALTH AND SAFETY

Employee health and safety is the Group's top priority.
The Group strictly abides by the relevant laws and
regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong, including the
Law of the PRC on Work Safety, the Law of the PRC on
the Prevention and Control of Occupational Disease and
the Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance (Chapter
509 of the Laws of Hong Kong).

The Group has established a set of policies related
to health and safety, including the “Occupational
Health and Safety Operation Control Program” and
the "Occupational Health and Safety Monitoring and
Control Procedures”, which illustrates our commitment
to providing a safe working environment for our
employees and strengthening their awareness towards
occupational health and safety.

Safety Education

Safety education is crucial to ensure that employees are
fully understand the safety risks and well-equipped to
handle the job duty safely. The Production Department
is responsible for providing training to employees
working at production sites.

Before working on sites, all employees must receive
a three-tier safety training, comprising plant-entry
training, workshop training and class training. For
employees who are engaged in special operations,
they are required to attain training and assessments in
accordance with national laws and regulations. They are
only allowed to work on sites after they have passed
the assessments and obtained relevant licenses.
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Safe production process

The Group has assigned registered security officers
to be responsible for the Group's safety supervision
and management. Prior to the implementation of new
technologies, the Group conducts full identification and
evaluation of hazards. After installation of the production
equipment, the Group conducts an inspection to
ensure the equipment is safe to operate. During the
production process, all production employees shall
strictly implement the safety operation regulations,
including the use of protective equipment. The Security
and Logistics Department is responsible for inspecting
and monitoring the use of protective equipment in
each department. The Group also conducts safety
inspections, including daily inspections and regular
inspections, to rectify any unsafe situations.

Health of employees

The Group places great emphasis on the health of
employees. The Group provides pre-job, on-the-job,
off-the-post and emergency health check-ups for
employees who are directly exposed to occupational
hazards. Besides, underage and pregnant workers
are avoided from taking up job positions that may
pose higher health risks to them, including working in
the hazardous chemicals storage warehouse and the
hydrogen station.

During the reporting period, the Group was not aware
of any material non-compliance (2023: nil) with the
relevant laws and regulations related to providing a safe
working environment in the PRC and Hong Kong.

During the reporting period, there were 71 work
injury cases (2023: 50, 2022: 32) and 4,424 lost days
due to work injury (2023: 2,134, 2022: 810) in our
business operations. There was no work-related fatality
case (2023 nil, 2022: nil) during the reporting period.
Employees were given paid sick leave for their recovery.
Overall, no employees had serious accident during the
reporting period.
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B3. DEVELOPMENT AND TRAINING

The Group believes the knowledge and skills of its
employees are vital to the sustainable development
of the Group. As stipulated in the Group’s “Human
Resources Management Control Procedures”, the
Group offers various training programs for employees,
including plant-entry training, pre-job training and regular
training, to enhance their requisite knowledge and skills
in discharging their duties.

1. Plant-entry training
The plant-entry training is based on the
departmental and plant training course systems.
The training includes internal management
system, quality, environmental and product
environmental protection system knowledge.

2. Pre-job training
The pre-job training includes theoretical and
practical training. Employees are allowed to work
independently only when they have passed the
training assessment.

3. Regular training
Each department identifies regular training
programs according to the specific needs of
the department and the job nature. The regular
training programs are induced in the annual
training plan.

During the reporting period, the detailed of the
percentage of employees received training in each type
as follows:

Percentage of employee received training in each type

FEZIVEEFIE

B3. /REAEI|

AEBEREHEE INAMB LS AR
SENARBEEREHESZ - RELX
SENANEREEEZRZF IRE
AEBERBTRHEHEZEEIEE &
RN TRIE ) - e A5 I AN E B3
Fl - AR = A PIETT BB P RE BV AN
FIFKEE

1. EANIRE
AT RIE IR E R JRFI A0 TRk
BIRERE - BIABRBEA
MEERRX HE REVEM
RIREE R A

2. @Al
fe B3R O 2 R IR SR A B B o
BT RAEEBIEIIFHGHERS B
B THE -

3. EHEA
BEBPFIAR IR EB IR0 B A2 RS
TRMEE BT EHIEIGE - T
HASE FIFT IR E 1 )IEH 8 5
A e

RBEESHAR EXSERINEER
DHFFRIT -

2024 2023
—E-MEF —F==

By gender

R

° Male
3

° Female
z

By employment category

R EER

° Senior management
=RERE

° Middle management
hRERE

° General
—RREBAR
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During the reporting period, the breakdown of trained
employees by gender and employment category was as
follows:

ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT
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ZolEBRRAT

Breakdown of trained employees by category 2024 2023

RER D5 2ZHES —ECOEF —EZ=F

By gender

to gz

° Male 57% 59%
e

° Female 43% 41%
z

By employment category

R EER

° Senior management 1% 1%
SRERE

o Middle management 13% 10%
hREERRE

o General 86% 89%
—RREAR

During the reporting period, the average training hours
completed per employee by gender and employee
category is as follows:

RB|EA - ZIEHIREEERDF
ZBZEBETKFAZIIRHLT

Average training hours (hours/employee) 2024 2023

FFIGE (IR EE) —E-WEF —E-=F

By gender

to gzl

° Male 24.9 28.1
Es

° Female 25.2 26.1
z

By employment category

REEER

° Senior management 1.7 1.0
SRERE

° Middle management 253 26.6
PREEE

° General 25.2 27.6
— AR BB AR
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B4. LABOUR STANDARDS

Adhering to the Labour Law of the PRC and the
Employment Ordinance (Chapter 57 of the Laws of
Hong Kong), the Group is committed to supporting the
effective abolition of child labour and upholding the
elimination of all forms of forced labour.

As stipulated in the Group's “"Human Resources
Management Control Procedures”, during the
recruitment process, job applicants are required
to present their identity documents to the Human
Resources Department for age verification as
preventing from engaging child labour. In case of
engaging any child labour, the Group will stop the child
labour from working and offer medical checks for him/
her. The Group will also contact his/her guardians and
return the child labour to his/her guardians.

The Group respects the freedom of employees. All
works should be voluntarily performed and must not
involve forced labour. The Group forbids abusing,
corporal punishment, violence, spirit oppression, sexual
harassment (including improper language, posture and
body contact) as forms of penalty.

During the reporting period, the Group was not aware
of any material non-compliance (2023: nil) with the
relevant laws and regulations related to recruitment of
child labour or forced labour practices.
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The Group strives to maintain long-term and stable
relationships with suppliers and maintain competitive
advantages in the value chain. In order to manage and
mitigate the environmental and social risks in the supply
chain, the Group has adopted a policy of “Suppliers
Control Procedures” and a stringent supplier selection
procedure. During the reporting period, the Group had
1,448 suppliers (2023: 1,601) located in the PRC and
236 suppliers (2023: 235) located in Hong Kong.

When selecting new suppliers, the Group assesses the
environmental compliance of the potential supplier's
products by conducting environmental assessments,
including the hazardous substance-free (the “HSF")
surveys and the HSF on-site audits.
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B6.

The Group incorporates its standards of environmental
management, product quality, product delivery and
confidentiality in supplier agreements, and requires
suppliers to abide by the Group's standards.

The Group has established a Suppliers Management
Team to evaluate the performance of suppliers regularly
based on the Group's internal guidelines. The Group
gives priority to cooperate with suppliers who have a
higher ranking in the environmental evaluation.

PRODUCT RESPONSIBILITY

The Group regards product quality as a key competitive
advantage of its business and makes every effort
to improve the product quality while strengthening
communications with customers. The Group has
obtained certifications of Quality Management
System, including 1ISO9001:2015, GB/T19001-2016,
IATF16949:2016.

The Group complies with the applicable laws and
regulations in the PRC and Hong Kong, including
the Product Quality Law of the PRC, the Consumer
Protection Law of the PRC and the Trade Descriptions
Ordinance (Chapter 362 of the Laws of Hong Kong) and
the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance (Chapter 486 of
the Laws of Hong Kong).

Quality Control

The Group has implemented “Production Operation
Procedures” to identify the responsibilities of different
departments and ensure that our products meet the
national standards. The Group’s Quality Planning Team
and Quality Department are responsible for formulating
related inspection standards and operating instructions
and examining the characteristics of the products.

The Group has also adopted “Monitoring and Measuring
Equipment Control Procedures” to ensure that the
monitoring and measuring equipment used to examine
the product characteristics and product compliance
are able to meet its intended use. The Group conducts
measurement verification and regular assessments of
its monitoring and measuring equipment to ensure the
inspection results are accurate.

B6.
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Data Protection and Privacy

The Group regards data privacy and security as a
key operating principle and takes high precautions in
ensuring their confidentiality to avoid misuse of personal
data. The Group has implemented an “Information
Security Management System”, which covers
regulations and measures for securing confidentiality.

The Group's privacy policy is incorporated in the
employment contracts, employees shall fully abide by
the guidance on prohibiting any unauthorised disclosure
of confidential information.

During the reporting period, the Group was not aware of
any material non-compliance (2023: nil) with the relevant
laws and regulations related to product responsibility in
the PRC and Hong Kong.

ANTI-CORRUPTION

The Group is committed to upholding high standards of
business ethics and integrity. The Group strictly abides
by the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC and
Hong Kong, including the Criminal Law of the PRC and
the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance (Chapter 201 of
the Laws of Hong Kong). The Group forbids any form of
corruption, extortion, bribery, fraud, money laundering
and embezzlement.

The Group's “Complaints Reporting and Whistleblower
Protection System” encourages and enables employees
to report on observed and suspected non-compliance
and questionable practices.

The Group has also established a confidentiality
mechanism to protect whistleblowers against
intimidation and reprisals.

During the reporting period, no legal case concerned
with corrupt practices was brought against the Group,
and the Group was not aware of any material non-
compliance (2023: nil) with the relevant laws and
regulations related to anti-corruption in the PRC and
Hong Kong.
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During the reporting period, the number of employees RMER - BEBEE S NES
received anti-corruption training and the training hours RESSEIMNES AZ L EIIESn
by employment category were as follows: T
Anti-corruption training 2024 2023
RES I —EIMEF —Eo=fF

Number of employees received training

BZIEINEEAR

° Senior management 132 138
SRERE
° Middle management 1320 703
hREERRE
° General 1,775 1,129
EiE
Total employees 3,227 1,970
EEAH
Number of training hours
35 2
° Senior management 198 207
BRERE
° Middle management 1,980 1,055
hREERE
° General 2,663 1,694
i
Total training hours 4,841 2,956
#EE S BE
COMMUNITY it=E
B8. COMMUNITY INVESTMENT B8. #HEKRE
As a socially responsible enterprise, the Group is EB—ZREHEBETNNE K&
constantly aware of the needs of the community BT T RSB ESK - W AT
and strives to bring a positive impact on community BERREEREIREE - NEESES
development. The Group encourages its employees TIABBRER  ZESHEE
to dedicate their time and skills to supporting local ARSIzttt & o
communities with the aim to create a harmonious
society.
We believe that this can nurture great corporate culture BB E ErAAEEEDIEERIT
and practices in the Group. In 2024, we made a total MEENERER R _pHF
of HK$1,149,000 (2023: HK$1,699,000) for charity A 48 201,149,000 T ( = =
donations. Z=4 : 1,699,000 ) EEERE °
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
REPORTING INDEX

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key

BN g RELIEERSI

Performance Indicators (KPls) Sections Pages

TEHE EBEEH —REEREARENER =4:0] BR

A. Environmental

A BRIE

A1: Emissions

A1 (e )

General Disclosure “Emissions” 49

— MR [HER ]

KPI'AT.1 The types of emissions and respective “Emissions — Air Pollutant Emissions” 50
emissions data

BRBEZIEIEAT HERE R MR B EE [HER — Z=m)5 38

KPI'A1.2 Greenhouse gas emissions in total and, “Emissions — Greenhouse Gas 52
where appropriate, intensity Emission”

FRERUERA12 AERBRINER (WER)EE [PEm — RZEREEHER

KPI A1.3 Total hazardous waste produced and, "Emissions — Hazardous and b4
where appropriate, intensity Non-hazardous Wastes”

BRGEIIERAI3 MELREEEYEEN (WER)BE [HE — BEREEEEY]

KPI'A1.4 Total non-hazardous waste produced and, “Emissions — Hazardous and 54
where appropriate, intensity Non-hazardous Wastes”

BRBEWIERAL MELABREEZEYESL(WER)BE [HE — BEREEEEY]

KPI'A1.5 Description of measures to mitigate “Emissions — Air Pollutant Emissions”, 50-51
emissions and results achieved “Emissions — Greenhouse Gas

Emission”
BB RIEIR A5 R MUBE HE S BV b S PSR [ e — =SRS58 -
[HER — R EREE B
KPI'A1.6 Description of how hazardous and non- “Emissions — Hazardous and Non- 52-53

hazardous wastes are handled, reduction
initiatives and results achieved

MEREIEAIE WEEEEREZEEMNE
BAKE L ENEB LSRR
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Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key

Performance Indicators (KPls) Sections Pages
TEHE EH —REERBRENER E=3:0] BR
A2: Use of Resources
A2 [BIR{EA
General Disclosure “Use of Resources” 55
— MBI [&REAA ]
KPI' A2.1 Direct and/or indirect energy consumption “Use of Resources — Energy 56
by type in total and intensity Consumption”
RREMIEIZA2.1 REAEISMERE R SHEEER [ERER —selRfEE]
BFEENZE
KPI A2.2 Water consumption in total and intensity “Use of Resources — Water 57
Consumption”
RSB IBIZA22 BRFEKEREE [BIRfERA —FKE]
KPI'A2.3 Description of energy use efficiency “Use of Resources — Energy 55
initiatives and results achieved Consumption”
FREBUEIZA2.3 Huge R ARG & RTEKR [ERER —eelRfEE]
KPI A2.4 Description of whether there is any issue "Use of Resources — Water 56
in sourcing water that is fit for purpose, Consumption”
water efficiency initiatives and results
achieved
BSREBUEIRA2.4 HSKEUERKIR LRI B A REE [ERER — FKE
VAR IR T+ FRK s 5t &8 R FT1S AR
KPI A2.5 Total packaging material used for finished "Use of Resources — Packaging 57
products and, if applicable, with Materials and Other Resources”
reference to per unit produced
ARBEIIEIEA25 EXMABEMENEE R (NER) [BRER — BEMERAEMER]
BAEESEMIEE
A3: The Environment and Natural Resources
A3 : [RERRAER]
General Disclosure “The Environment and 58
Natural Resources”
— MR EE [RIERRARER]
KPI A3.1 Description of the significant impacts of “The Environment and 58
activities on the environment and natural Natural Resources”
resources and the actions taken to manage
them
FRERIERAS WA EREHEHRERAABRNEKR [RIERRARER]
FERDERDMERBEZENTH
A4: Climate Change
A4 TIREIE
General Disclosure “Climate Change” 58
— MR EE =3l
KPI A4.1 Description of the significant climate-related  “Climate Change” 62
issues which have impacted, and those
which may impact, the issuer, and the
actions taken to manage them
BRGEIIERAL FABKERFRTEETANEAREKEE [RIRE(]
BEENARAEREZEHMEMRRNTTE
“TCMFFR o FAEBRERAR 81



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

BIE - HERELARS

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key

Performance Indicators (KPls) Sections Pages
TEHE EH —REERBRENER E=3:0] BR
B. Social

B.#&

Employment and Labour Practices

EEREIER

B1: Employment

B1: Ef®

General Disclosure “"Employment” 69
— MBI R

KPIB1.1 Total workforce by gender, employment “Employment” 70

type, age group and geographical region

BREBUEIRB1. RIER - EEER - FRRARRMEEDHE [EF]
BHEE

KPI B1.2 Employee turnover rate by gender, age “"Employment” 71
group and geographical region

BREBUEIRB1.2 ZIER - FRARIRMESHMESRALE [{EF]

B2: Health and safety

B2 : BERZE

General Disclosure “Health and Safety” 72
—MREE [f2FE R %2 ]

KPI B2.1 Number and rate of work-related fatalities "Health and Safety” N/A
FRERIEIEB2.1 ATLEFBEERMILTH AR E [f2FE R %2 ] NEA
KPI B2.2 Lost days due to work injury “Health and Safety” 73
RASRAENIEIEB22 ATBIBAIEHE [ R % 2]

KPI B2.3 Description of occupational health and “Health and Safety” 72-73

safety measures adopted, how they are
implemented and monitored

FSEBUEIEB2.3 MMM R R 2 E M [ R % 2]
AR ARRARIT R EES 7 0E
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

BIE - MERELHRE

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key

Performance Indicators (KPls) Sections Pages
TEEHE EBEEH —RESREARENER =6 BIX
B3: Development and Training
B3 : [FEHEH]
General Disclosure “Development and Training” 74
—MREE [ 2% = B3I
KPI B3.1 The percentage of employee trained by “Development and Training” 74
gender and employee category
BREBUEIEB3. RHRIREEEAE S HZIEET L [ 2% = B3I
KPI B3.2 The average training hours completed per “Development and Training” 75
employee by gender and employee category
FREBUEIEB3.2 BRI RIEEERE D BHEETK [ 2% = B3I
ZHIH TR
B4: Labour Standards
B4 : [ TIR%E]
General Disclosure “Labour Standards” 76
—MREE [45 T1R% |
KPI B4.1 Description of measures to review “Labour Standards” 76
employment practices to avoid child
and forced labour
FREBUER B4 il BRENEEABEETR [45 T1R% |
SRl T
KPI B4.2 Description of steps taken to eliminate such  “Labour Standards” 76
practices when discovered
FRENIEIEB4.2 MMEERERBAFERE@FR [4 T1R% ]
FRr £ B 9 25 B
Operating Practices
EEEG
B5: Supply Chain Management
B5 : [ftiEsE 1R |
General Disclosure “Supply Chain Management” 76
—MREE [ rEsEE s |
KPI B5.1 Number of suppliers by geographical region  “Supply Chain Management” 76
FSEBUEIEBS. RiEE S HEREE [ rEsEE s |
KPI B5.2 Description of practices relating to engaging  “Supply Chain Management” 76-77
suppliers, number of suppliers where the
practices are being implemented, how they
are implemented and monitored
BB NIEIEBE.2 B BEEENED - mERTT [ rEsEE e |
ERABLNEEREE - UERBEEN®
HMITRERGE
“TUFFR o EFERARAAE 83



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

BIE - HERELARS

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key

Performance Indicators (KPls) Sections Pages
TEHR  EEH-  —REBERERERIER =6 BR
B6: Product Responsibility

B6: [EmET]

General Disclosure "Product Responsibility” 77

— MBI [ERET]

KPI B6.1 Percentage of total products sold or The Group currently does not report on N/A
shipped subject to recalls for safety and this indicator. T EA
health reasons

FRENIEIEBE.] EEXEEXERAHTALTLEERIEAT AKE B AIRREILIER -

AR KB S L

KPI B6.2 Number of products and service related The Group currently does not report on N/A
complaints received and how they are dealt  this indicator. T EA
with

BB NIEIEB6.2 HEANERRREHIRFEE AREE T E ASE B AIRREILIER -

KPI B6.3 Description of practices relating to observing The Group currently does not report on N/A
and protecting intellectual property rights this indicator. A iE A

BB NIEIEB6.3 AT RARIE M ERES BB D REEBRIRHREUIER -

KPI B6.4 Description of quality assurance process and “Product Responsibility — Quality 77
recall procedures Control”

FREBIEIEB6.4 il E ERTEBRERERBWET [EREF— oEEE]

KPI B6.5 Description of consumer data protection and  “Product Responsibility — Data 78
privacy policies, how they are implemented  Protection and Privacy”
and monitored

BB NIEIEB6.5 UMUEBEE ERHRIE RBFLBE - AR [ERET — BRHRERER]

BT REERITA
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BIE - MERELHRE

Subject areas, aspects, general disclosures and Key

Performance Indicators (KPls) Sections Pages

TEEHE EBEEH —RESREARENER =6 BIX

B7: Anti-corruption

B7: R&)S

General Disclosure " Anti-corruption” 78

—MREE [RE]

KPI B7.1 Number of concluded legal cases regarding ~ No concluded legal case regarding N/A
corrupt practices brought against the issuer  corrupt practices was noted. ANiE A

or its employees during the reporting period
and the outcomes of the case

BREBUERB7.1 RBEHAREETASE EERLY BT EBRAE SHEBREEE M-
EBEENESFRRGMEE RFRER
KPI B7.2 Description of preventive measures and " Anti-corruption” 78

whistle-blowing procedures, how they are
implemented and monitored

FARERIEIEBT.2 P E A e RBWIZT - AKIAHA [RE]
MITRERTE

Community

HE

B8: Community Investment

B8 : @i E

General Disclosure “Community Investment” 79
—MRIRE [tRRE ]
KPI B8.1 Focus areas of contribution (e.g. education, ~ “Community Investment” 79

environmental concerns, labour needs,
health, culture, sport)

FREBUEIEBS. HXAREE (B - BREEH - [HERE ]
BITER - f#E - b BBE)

KPI B8.2 Resources contributed (e.g. money or time)  “Community Investment” 79
to the focus area

RASRAENIEIEB82 MEHIHBAEALER (NS ELRE) [HERE ]
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

BIAZBENRES

Deloitte

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF
TRULY INTERNATIONAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Truly
International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as “the Group”) set out on pages 93 to 208,
which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position
as at 31 December 2024, and the consolidated statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income, consolidated statement
of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial
statements, including material accounting policy information and
other explanatory information.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
December 2024, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs")
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants
("HKICPA") and have been properly prepared in compliance with
the disclosure requirements of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs") issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group
in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for Professional
Accountants (the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We believe that the
audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to
provide a basis for our opinion.

KEY AUDIT MATTER

Key audit matter is the matter that, in our professional judgment,
was of most significance in our audit of the consolidated financial
statements of the current period. The matter was addressed in the
context of our audit of the consolidated financial statements as a
whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a
separate opinion on the matter.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

B ZBENRES

KEY AUDIT MATTER (Continued)

Key audit matter

BARESEE

REEEHER(E)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RIT2 BT NARERRETSE

Impairment assessment of goodwill

A& 2R EF G

We identified the impairment assessment of goodwill
arising from acquisition of Truly (Hui Zhou) Smart
Display Limited (“Truly HZ") in 2021 as a key audit
matter due to the significance of the balance to the
consolidated financial statements as a whole, combined
with the significant degree of estimations made by
the management of the Group associated with the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which
goodwill has been allocated.

AT - —FWBENEMN BB RERAR(1E
MM ]) EE 2 B R ERN A RRRETEE - (HHER
HEARHGAVBRACEREHERZ N S£EER
BHES B ReEEEMRESBEEHERRE
flst o

Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment
of goodwill arising from Truly HZ included:

T BENEMNEENEEERENEETZETE
N

o Evaluating the competence, capabilities and
objectivity of the independent valuer;

o  FHEBUMEMZER - gEHREEIL

o Discussing with the management and the
independent valuer to understand the key
estimations made by the management in the
impairment assessment of goodwill including the
estimate of forecast revenue, gross margins, growth
rates and discount rates adopted;

o HERBERBVHEMARAREEEENEERME
AR R E EEG (BB TR - EFE
BRERAFAMEE)

“ECFFR o EAERERAR 87



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

BIAZBENRES

KEY AUDIT MATTER (Continued)

Key audit matter

REEEHER(E)

How our audit addressed the key audit matter

RARETEE

As disclosed in note 4 to the consolidated financial
statements, the management assessed the impairment
of goodwill by estimation of recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been
allocated which is the higher of the value-in-use and fair
value less costs of disposal. The value-in-use calculation
requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows
expected to arise from the cash-generating unit based on
five-year financial budgets approved by the management
of the Group and a suitable discount rate in order to
calculate the present value. Key estimates involved in
the preparation of cash flow projections for the period
covered by the approved financial budgets include the
estimate of forecast revenue, gross margins, growth
rates and discount rates adopted. The management also
engaged an independent valuer to perform the valuation,
including determine the discount rate. As disclosed in the
consolidated financial statements, the carrying amount
of goodwill arising from acquisition of Truly HZ as at 31
December 2024 was HK$498,990,000, representing 2.0%
of total assets of the Group. Based on the impairment
assessment of the goodwill, an impairment loss of
HK$35,010,000 was recognised in the profit or loss
during the year ended 31 December 2024.

WA E SRR MT AP IR E - EEEEBMATEES
eEmEnReEFEMUNAIRESE(REREEREAT
BERHEXANRE)TAEEBRE - CREEHE
Zk ERERE BESEEEREMENTIFUBREER
ARSEABUBHELANARREARERSENRIR
EZFERE - REZAENBEEREPHERRER
BT R EZHEFAREMATERNE - EFE - ER
ERARAMIREK - BB ENER B (L ERAETTE
B BEETMRE FNGEEHMBEREMEE  R-_F
ZHEF AT -HKREGNENELANENREE
7$498,990,000/87C - HHER BEXREEEEN2.0% 1R
BREZRENG  BEZZ-OF+A=+—HILF
B RERAERRREEE % 35,010,000 87T ©
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FIzENARERARESNSE

Assessing the reasonableness of key inputs and
assumptions used by the management in the
estimation of recoverable amount, including revenue
projection and growth rate applied;

L E R G ET AT B & B AT AR A = 28 A BUR
RRFR (BRRETEIEARAERR)EEAE

Evaluating the appropriateness of discount rate
applied in the forecast by comparing them to
economic and industry data and certain company
specific parameters, with the assistance of our
internal valuation specialists, as well as evaluating
the reasonableness of parameters applied by the
independent valuer; and

EABEEZRNHE T - BERKTERER 2 AR E
BB RITHEBBRIETARREL8H L - SHHE
REEE  WHEBB L EMMAZ2ENEEE &

Evaluating the reasonableness of the financial
budgets approved by the management and the cash
flow projections by comparing the actual results
of those cash-generating unit to the previously
forecasted results used.
FEEZEFREL BN BREE R LAITRA
HERIEE  STHEEEMHACHBRERRERETE
AIE) & M o



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

B ZBENRES

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report, but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated. If, based on the work we have performed,
we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other
information, we are required to report that fact. WWe have nothing to
report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF DIRECTORS AND THOSE
CHARGED WITH GOVERNANCE FOR THE
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements that give a true and
fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group's ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the
Group's financial reporting process.

Hth&w#

BERREFAHHEMENAR - HOENBRESF
BAZBER  ETEREAMBERER LATT
ZIZHBEREE
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Amg ©
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

BIAZBENRES

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether
the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue
an auditor’s report that includes our opinion solely to you, as a
body, in accordance with our agreed terms of engagement, and
for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility towards
or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but
is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
HKSAs will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably
be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on
the basis of these consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

o Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to
those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not
detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is
higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve
collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control.

° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the
audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate
in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group's internal
control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used

and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related
disclosures made by the directors.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

B ZBENRES

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt
on the Group's ability to continue as a going concern. If we
conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required
to draw attention in our auditor’'s report to the related
disclosures in the consolidated financial statements or, if
such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to
the date of our auditor’'s report. However, future events or
conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a
going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent
the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

o Plan and perform the group audit to obtain sufficient
appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information
of the entities or business units within the group as a basis
for forming an opinion on the group financial statements. We
are responsible for the direction, supervision and review of
the audit work performed for purposes of the group audit.
We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding,
among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit
and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies
in internal control that we identify during our audit.

BB BFHGEMERRARBZIRE
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT

BIAZBENRES

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF
THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(Continued)

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement
that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, actions taken to eliminate
threats or safeguards applied.

From the matters communicated with those charged with
governance, we determine those matters that were of most
significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements
of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters.
We describe these matters in our auditor’'s report unless law or
regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when,
in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter
should not be communicated in our report because the adverse
consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent
auditor’s report is Yeung Pik Fung.

Deloitte Touche Tohmatsu
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
26 March 2025
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
AR REMEZEERR

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 « BZ_—ZT_NF+_A=+—AILFE

2024 PAOAC]
—E_NF TE=F
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
B =E FET FHTT
Revenue ez 5 17,840,169 15,588,143
Cost of sales SHERA (16,453,936)  (14,265,850)
Gross profit EAR 1,386,233 1,322,293
Other income E A 7 223,234 109,537
Other gains and losses, net H B 8 8 (87,129) (18,240)
Impairment loss on goodwvill HEREEE 19 (35,010) (53,424)
Reversal of impairment losses under  JEHA(Z B LER NRERE
expected credit loss model, net B EFE 11,398 2,170
Distribution and selling expenses SHENIEEER (320,404) (321,291)
Finance costs MEER 9 (380,016) (389,443)
Administrative expenses 1THER (461,021) (449,019)
Share of result of an associate DE— MBS R EEE (36,906) 46,802
Profit before tax AR 300,379 249,385
Income tax expense FriSfif s 10 (53,814) (88,949)
Profit for the year REEmF I 246,565 160,436
Other comprehensive expenses AEEHMEZEEX
for the year
Item that may be reclassified AJRERE 12 BT D R B i)
subsequently to profit or loss: IHH :
Exchange differences arising on HMEGINETSFTE £ 2 HMNEZEE
translation of foreign operations (398,651) (360,444)
Total comprehensive expenses AFEEEER L5
for the year (152,086) (200,008)
Profit (loss) for the year REERR (EE) B :
attributable to:
Owners of the Company ZIN/NSIEZ SN 302,085 262,799
Non-controlling interests FEIERR RERS (55,520) (102,363)
246,565 160,436
Total comprehensive expenses AEELHBABREEN
for the year attributable to:
Owners of the Company ZAN/NETE Y =N (91,850) (89,561)
Non-controlling interests FEPE R == (60,236) (110,447)
(152,086) (200,008)
Earnings per share FRAF
Basic (HK cents per share) AR (FRAE) 15 9.56 8.31
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
ReMBRAER

AT 31 DECEMBER 2024 » R=Z—

mEHoRA=t—A

2024 PAOAC]
—E_mE S =
NOTES HK$'000 HK$'000
=2 FHET T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS FRBEE
Property, plant and equipment WE - WENKRE 16 11,842,258 12,928,174
Right-of-use assets EREEE 17 570,210 599,568
Goodwill [EES 18 499,403 534,413
Interest in an associate R—EBEARNERS 20 2,619,779 1,542,138
Financial assets at fair value through REBHUATFEBEYEZSMEE
profit or loss 21 2,407 4,220
Deferred tax assets RIETRIBE = 31 46,681 47,193
Deposits paid for acquisition of FUEEWE - BEMREL TS
property,plant and equipment 3,899 52,809
Rental and other deposits HENEMIES 23 19,541 256
15,604,178 15,708,771
CURRENT ASSETS REBEE
Inventories FE 22 2,667,757 3,206,930
Trade and other receivables JE Uk BR T8 K E b e U Fh 08 23 3,721,412 3,576,849
Trade and bills receivables at fair value 7 E 2 B 25 AR (B ESBR
through other comprehensive income 7 fEUZ BRIE & JiE I 2= 1% 24 1,185,198 619,109
Financial assets at fair value through RERIEA T EBEYEZEHEE
profit or loss 21 33,068 -
Amount due from an associate g RN E e 25 392 8,828
Restricted bank deposits ZRREIRITIF K 26 502,066 582,856
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBRLZEEY 26 1,035,140 802,291
9,145,033 8,796,863
CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEE
Trade and other payables JE AT BR T8 K2 EL A JE < BUIE 27 7,643,378 7,025,977
Contract liabilities AHEaE 28 235,921 270,584
Tax payable }?EH%R’IE 109,128 106,191
Bank and other borrowings TREMER 29 6,275,862 5,104,469
Amount due to an associate ,%0( ElYNGIE e 25 537,521 418,493
Lease liabilities HEAE 30 9,994 4,200
14,811,804 12,929,914
NET CURRENT LIABILITIES REBEEFE (5,666,771)  (4,133,051)
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT BEELERRBARS
LIABILITIES 9,937,407 11,575,720
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
e MBRAER

AT 31 DECEMBER 2024 » R=—ZE_FE+_-_A=+—H

2024 2023
—E_NE —E=F
NOTES HK$°000 HK$'000
B =E FET F&T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES FRBERE
Bank and other borrowings HRAT R E At A X 29 380,191 1,670,967
Other payables E fth T FRIE 27 13,576 26,697
Lease liabilities HEaE 30 35,240 1,169
Deferred tax liabilities BREFRIEEE 31 155,844 156,124
584,851 1,754,957
NET ASSETS EEFE 9,352,556 9,820,763
CAPITAL AND RESERVES EXR#E
Share capital & A 32 63,222 63,222
Share premium and other reserves B 1 5 (8 & Bt R 9,159,090 9,534,864
Equity attributable to owners RABHEE AELER
of the Company 9,222,312 9,598,086
Non-controlling interests TR 130,244 222,677
TOTAL EQUITY DA 9,352,556 9,820,763

The consolidated financial statements on pages 93 to 208 were AR EIBE208BE VG NBHREEHR —_ST—FH
approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on = A -+ NBEEES I ERIFHETE - W H

26 March 2025 and are signed on its behalf by: ATALTREEE
Lam Wai Wah Wong Pong Chun, James
MIEEE EH%
DIRECTOR DIRECTOR
EFE =
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY
ReEREER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 » HZ_Z_NF+_A=+—ALEFE

Capital
Share Share Special  redemption
capital premium reserve reserve

Bx Bfi&E WhfEE ErRORG
HK§'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT ThR ; AT

Exchange
reserve

HERR
HK$'000
i

Total equity
attributable to Non-
Other Retained ownersof  controlling
reserves profits  the Company interests Total
ARTERA
Hipfs REEH EERRER  FRRER G
HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT TAR ThL AL TER
(note b

At 1 January 2023 RZFZ=F-F-H 63222 1,210,563 990 867 (105,235) 1,705,452 7,109,826 9,985,685 351,218 10,336,903
Profit loss) for the year RERET(BR) - - - - - - 262,799 262,799 (102,363) 160,436
Other comprehensive expenses REREMRERY

for the year

—Exchange differences arisngon ~ — BB EBEEE

translation of foreign operations HEER - - - - (352,360) - - (352,360] (8,084) (360,444)

Total comprehensive (expenses) TEERA (AR hass

income for the year - - - - 352,360) - 262,799 (89,561) (110.447) (200,008)
Acquisition of additional interest in KE-BNEBLNEMES

a subsidiary note 42(a)) (B 420a)) - - - - (1,160) 3,900 15,332 18072 (18,094) (22
Dividend declared (note 14) EIRRE (M 14) - - - - - - [316,110) (316,110) - (316,110)
Transfer E2 - - - - - 14,206 (14,208) - - B
At 31 December 2023 RZEZZE+ZA=1-R 63222 1,210,563 990 867 (458,755) 1,723 558 7,067,641 9,598,086 20611 9,820,763
Profit loss) for the year RERET (BB - - - - - - 302,085 302,085 (55,520) 246,565
Other comprehensive expenses TEEEMZARY

for the year

—Bxchange differences arisingon  —HEENERHEEL

translation of foreign operations NEZE - - - - (393,935) - - (393,935) (4716) (398,651)

Total comprehensive (expenses) RERRE (R hnis

income for the year - - - - (393,935) - 302,085 (91,850) (60,236) (152,086)
Acquisition of additional interest in KE-BHELNEMES

a subsidiary(note 42(a)) (FzE426) - - = - (2,994) 1,751 27423 32,186 (32,197) )
Dividend declared (note 14) BERRE (1) - - - - - - (316,110) (316,110) - (316,110)
Transfer B2 - - - - - 24429 (24,429) - - -
At 31 December 2024 R-B-ME+-A=1-8 63,222 1,210,563 990 867 (855,684) 1,755,744 7,046,610 9,222,312 130,244 9,352,556

Notes: e

(a) The special reserve represents the difference between the nominal value
of the shares of the subsidiaries acquired and the nominal value of the
Company's shares issued for the acquisitions in prior year.

(b) Other reserves comprise:

(i) the statutory surplus reserve and the enterprise expansion reserve
of the subsidiaries established in the People’s Republic of China
(the "PRC") other than Hong Kong. According to the Articles of
Association of the PRC subsidiaries, a percentage of net profit as
reported in the PRC statutory accounts should be transferred to
the statutory surplus reserve and the enterprise expansion reserve
determined at the discretion of the board of directors of these
companies. The statutory surplus reserve can be set off against
accumulated losses whilst the enterprise expansion reserve can
be used for expansion of production facilities or an increase in
registered capital; and

(ii) the amounts arising from the acquisition of additional equity
interests in subsidiaries from non-controlling shareholders of
subsidiaries or deemed disposal of equity interests in subsidiaries
without losing control. It represents the difference between the
consideration paid or received and the adjustment to the non-
controlling interests in subsidiaries.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
RelaRER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 « BZ_—ZT_NF+_A=+—AILFE

2024 2023
—ECME —EC-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T
OPERATING ACTIVITIES KEEE
Profit before tax T AT 300,379 249,385
Adjustments for: A
Interest income FEWA (23,734) (21,556)
Reversal of impairment losses under JEWERIBETE R E AN EA T RE
expected credit loss model on trade [E5E #0558
receivable, net (11,398) (2,170)
Reversal of allowance for inventories, net FEREREFEE (22,426) (33,418)
Depreciation of property, Wz - WELRREITE
plant and equipment 1,276,651 1,357,394
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FHEEETE 19,771 61,447
Loss on disposal/write-off of property, HE MEmE  MENREZEIS
plant and equipment 102,088 74,552
Impairment loss on goodwill AEREEE 35,010 53,424
Gain from changes in fair value of financial ~ RIERURAFEBETIEZ SREE
assets at fair value through profit or loss NEEEEZSH NG (13,168) (631)
Loss on fair value changes of TSR IANFBEZYEEFE
derivative financial instruments, net - 222
Government grants IEgiEpat (151,853) (52,044)
Share of result of an associate DAEHE AR EE 36,906 (46,802)
Finance costs MsER 380,016 389,443
Operating cash flows before movements KT BB B PR LEReRE
in working capital 1,928,242 2,029,346
Decrease (increase) in inventories FERD (Emn) 469,071 (96,219)
Increase in trade and other receivables JE U BR T8 K7 EL 4D e U ZRIE IS AN (42,842) (266,327)
(Increase) decrease in trade and bills REMEEW AR FEEYRZ
receivables at fair value through other FEUG BRTE I R W =R (4 00) B
comprehensive income (536,003) 344,311
Increase in trade and other payables FEA R TE I B A B A FRIE L 0 5,776,321 3,463,145
Decrease in contract liabilities AHAaERD (26,775) (95,574)
Increase (decrease) in amount FETEE A B IEE hn O )
due to an associate 8,436 (110,125)
Decrease in amount due from an associate & WYBt & A a) gRIE R 119,028 6,326
Government grants received for B U BT R B S R ED
operating activities 78,991 48,530
Receipt arising from net settlement of MESRMITASEFHEEENRA
derivative financial instruments - 642
Cash generated from operations RESEHTRE IR S 7,774,469 5,324,055
Hong Kong profits tax (paid) refunded (B BRBEFEMEH (717) 19,953
PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid B EAMEH (46,401) (60,015)
Tax paid for other jurisdictions Hh R AR 2 @A (455) (1,016)
NET CASH FROM OPERATING ACTIVITIES K& X8 5HRLBE 7,726,896 5,282,977
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
HRBKRER

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 » HZ_Z_NF+_A=+—ALEFE

2024 2023
i Sl 11 S
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET T
INVESTING ACTIVITIES BREEE
Purchase of property, plant and equipment B Z¥% « B R L E (570,107) (458,441)
Placement of restricted bank deposits TFHZREHIRITIER (135,667) (92,418)
Deposits paid for acquisition of property, SUNEEYYE  MEREREL IS
plant and equipment (3,899) (52,809)
Acquisition of an additional interest Uk Bt — RSB A% N\ B RO BB A MEE RS
in an associate (1,188,550) (601,621)
Proceeds from disposals of property, HEWE R R R ERNTEEE
plant and equipment 1,881 3,749
Interest received 2 WA B 23,734 21,556
Release of restricted bank deposits RS PR HIER TR 197,328 354,456
Acquisition of financial asset at fair value W MBS IR A B E IR
through profit or loss TeREE (18,391) -
Payments of rental and other deposits AEREMIRES R (19,887) -
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING RETZEMARLS FE
ACTIVITIES (1,713,558) (825,528)
FINANCING ACTIVITIES BEEE
Repayment of bank and other borrowings BBRTREMER (9,436,321) (10,636,130)
Interest paid for bank and other borrowings  t8R7T R E b (&2 9 F) &8 (350,465) (366,110)
Dividend paid 2 A% B (316,110) (316,110)
Repayment of lease liabilities BigrfES (7,654) (56,135)
Interest paid for consideration on acquisition gzt Uk B8 — 5B &% N ) ZESMEZS &)
of an additional interest in an associate RELAFE (15,379) (19,570)
Interest paid for lease liabilities ENHEEEENE (161) (7,007)
Acquisition of additional interest in W B — BB B N B KB ME RS
a subsidiary (11) (22)
New bank and other borrowings raised iR 1T R EAME R 4,379,652 6,896,540
NET CASH USED IN FINANCING RMEEEMARLSSE
ACTIVITIES (5,746,449) (4,504,544)
NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN BHeRESEEEE M
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS GRlA) =4 266,889 (47,095)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FzBREeREEZEER
AT BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 802,291 858,759
EFFECT OF FOREIGN EXCHANGE ERgHs e
RATE CHANGES (34,040) (9,373)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS FRZASRBEEMERA -
AT END OF THE YEAR,
represented by bank balances and cash ER{TZEFERREE 1,035,140 802,291
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e MEHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 « HZ_Z_WF+_A=+—HLFE

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

GENERAL

Truly International Holdings Limited (the “Company”) is
incorporated in the Cayman Islands under the Companies
Law of the Cayman Islands as an exempted company. The
Company is a public limited company with its shares listed
on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”). Its ultimate controlling party is Mr. Lam Wai
Wah, who is also the Chairman and Managing Director of
the Company. The addresses of the registered office and
principal place of business of the Company are disclosed
in the section headed “General Information” to the annual
report.

The functional currency of the Company is United States
dollars (“US$"). The consolidated financial statements are
presented in Hong Kong dollars (“HK$") which is different
from the functional currency of the Company, as the directors
of the Company (the “Directors”) consider that HK$ is the
most appropriate presentation currency in view of its place of
listing.

The Company acts as an investment holding company.
Its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the business
of manufacture and sale of liquid crystal display (“LCD")
products including touch panel products and electronic
consumer products including compact camera module,
fingerprint identification modules, personal health care
products and electrical devices.

—RER

FEHEEARAR (AR RASESIR
BRESHEARZEEMK LA —HZREA
Ale AREA—MEMABRAR  ERHE
BBBER AR AT ([H3 %Dtﬁo
HEBKIERATANEESLLE  TAEXR
FTHERESHLIE - AR 7&%%%@&;
TREEMI MU RFR—RER] —&0
W o

ARRI 2N RBRET(ET]) - ARAF
EF(EFHREEE LM RABT
(BT RZBERZZIEY  SRaM%
BRIARRANEE B AN BET2W

RARIREER AR HMBRARZFE
¥ AREREERABE TS ((RAEHE
TeEM(PEELERER) NETHEEE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MEERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 » HZ_Z_NF+_A=+—ALEFE

100

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs")

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year

In the current year, the Company and its subsidiaries
(collectively referred to as “the Group”) have applied the
following amendments to HKFRSs issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA") for the
first time, which are mandatorily effective for the Group's
annual period beginning on 1 January 2024 for the preparation
of the consolidated financial statements:

Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease Liability in a Sale and
Leaseback

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities
as Current or Non-current
and related amendments
to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020)

Amendments to HKAS 1 Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants
Amendments to HKAS 7 Supplier Finance
and HKFRS 7 Arrangements

Except as described below, the application of the new
and amendments to HKFRSs in the current year has had
no material impact on the Group's financial positions and
performance for the current and prior years and/or on the
disclosures set out in these consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MEHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 « BZ_—ZT_NF+_A=+—AILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year (Continued)

2.1

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKFRS 16 Lease
Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

The Group has applied the amendments for the first
time in the current year.

The amendments add subsequent measurement
requirements for sale and leaseback transactions that
satisfy the requirements of HKFRS 15 Revenue from
Contracts with Customers to be accounted for as a sale.
The amendments require a seller-lessee to determine
“lease payments” or “revised lease payments” such
that the seller-lessee would not recognise a gain or loss
that relates to the right of use retained by the seller-
lessee. The amendments also clarify that applying the
requirements does not prevent the seller-lessee from
recognising in profit or loss any gain or loss relating to
subsequent partial or full termination of a lease.

According to the transitional provisions, the Group
has applied the new accounting policy retrospectively
to the sale and leaseback transactions entered into
by the Group as the seller-lessee after the initial
application of HKFRS 16 “Leases”. The application of
the amendments has no material impact on the Group's
financial position and performance.

2.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MEERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 » HZ_Z_NF+_A=+—ALEFE

102

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year (Continued)

22 Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1
"Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current” and related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020 Amendments”) and
Amendments to HKAS 1 “Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants” (the “2022 Amendments”)

The Group has applied the amendments for the first
time in the current year.

The 2020 Amendments provide clarification and
additional guidance on the assessment of right to defer
settlement for at least twelve months from reporting
date for classification of liabilities as current or non-
current, which:

° specify that the classification of liabilities as
current or non-current should be based on rights
that are in existence at the end of the reporting
period. Specifically, the classification should
not be affected by management intentions or
expectations to settle the liability within 12
months.

° clarify that the settlement of a liability can be a
transfer of cash, goods or services, or the entity’s
own equity instruments to the counterparty. If
a liability has terms that could, at the option of
the counterparty, result in its settlement by the
transfer of the entity's own equity instruments,
these terms do not affect its classification as
current or non-current only if the entity recognises
the option separately as an equity instrument
applying HKAS 32 “Financial Instruments:
Presentation”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MEHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 « BZ_—ZT_NF+_A=+—AILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year (Continued)

22 Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 1

"“Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-
current” and related amendments to Hong Kong
Interpretation 5 (2020) (the “2020 Amendments”) and
Amendments to HKAS 1 “Non-current Liabilities with
Covenants” (the “2022 Amendments”) (Continued)
For rights to defer settlement for at least twelve
months from reporting date which are conditional on
the compliance with covenants, the 2022 Amendments
specifically clarify that only covenants that an entity
is required to comply with on or before the end of
the reporting period affect the entity’s right to defer
settlement of a liability for at least twelve months
after the reporting date, even if compliance with the
covenant is assessed only after the reporting date. The
2022 Amendments also specify that covenants with
which an entity must comply after the reporting date
(i.e. future covenants) do not affect the classification
of a liability as current or non-current at the reporting
date. However, if the entity’s right to defer settlement
of a liability is subject to the entity complying with
covenants within twelve months after the reporting
period, an entity discloses information that enables
users of financial statements to understand the risk
of the liabilities becoming repayable within twelve
months after the reporting period. This would include
information about the covenants, the carrying amount
of related liabilities and facts and circumstances, if
any, that indicate that the entity may have difficulties
complying with the covenants.

In accordance with the transition provision, the
Group has applied the new accounting policy to the
classification of liability as current or non-current
retrospectively. The application of the amendments
in the current year had no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MEERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 » HZ_Z_NF+_A=+—ALEFE

104

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs that are
mandatorily effective for the current year (Continued)

23

Impacts on application of Amendments to HKAS 7 and HKFRS
1"Supplier Finance Arrangements”

The Group has applied the amendments for the first
time in the current year.

The amendments add a disclosure objective to HKAS
7 "Statement of Cash Flows" stating that an entity
is required to disclose information about its supplier
finance arrangements that enables users of financial
statements to assess the effects of those arrangements
on the entity’s liabilities and cash flows.

In addition, HKFRS 7 "Financial Instruments:
Disclosures” was amended to add supplier finance
arrangements as an example within the requirements
to disclose information about an entity’s exposure to
concentration of liquidity risk.

In accordance with the transition provision, the entity is
not required to disclose comparative information for any
reporting periods presented before the beginning of the
annual reporting period in the first year of application
as well as the information required by HKAS 7:44 (b)
(i) and (b)(iii) above as at the beginning of the annual
reporting period in which the entity first applies those
amendments.

The Group has provided additional disclosures related to
the amendments in notes 27, 29 and 34(b).
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective

The Group has not early applied the following amendments to
HKFRSs that have been issued but are not yet effective:
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B R HAEET

AREBEYW BIRFRA TS EME M REK
HETR] BB I IR R R EERT

Amendments to HKFRS ~ Amendments to the Classification ERAUBRELEDNE SRIAESENRE
9 and HKFRS 7 and Measurement of O M BB CCHEVE
Financial Instruments? EAEBIE T (EET)
Amendments to HKFRS  Contracts Referencing Nature — BB HRELENE FRIKEERERSE
9 and HKFRS 7 dependent Electricity? 9 R BB R EENNER?

Amendments to HKFRS  Sale or Contribution of Assets

HERET7HE(ERT)
BRMBREENF

REEEABE AT

10 and HKAS 28 between an Investor and its 10MEREBEEE HEECEZHEN
Associate or Joint Venture' BIJZE 28 5% BEHESTFE'
(&&7)

Amendments to HKFRS
Accounting Standards

Annual Improvements to HKFRS
Accounting Standards —

BEEMBRELERE
SR (1£5T)

BRI R LR
SRR

Volume 112 — %1113
Amendments to Lack of Exchangeability? EB g% BR= Al H iR
HKAS 21 EVARACC D!
HKFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosure in EFBU RS L e e
Financial Statements* F185% 27 k=

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date to be

' RERFEEBRS 2 RAEG FRBREERR -

determined.
2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025. 2 RZTZRAF—A— Bz %RBRZFEHRE
R o
3 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026. 3 R-B-RNFE—A— Bz &HAzFEHM
ER o
4 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027. 4 R-E-+F— A Bz BBz FE M

Except for the amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below,
the directors of the Company anticipate that the application of
all other amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact
on the consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable
future.
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APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs") (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not
yet effective (Continued)

HKFRS 18 “Presentation and Disclosure in Financial Statements”

HKFRS 18 “Presentation and Disclosure in Financial
Statements”, which sets out requirements on presentation
and disclosures in financial statements, will replace HKAS
1 “Presentation of Financial Statements”. This new HKFRS
Accounting Standard, while carrying forward many of the
requirements in HKAS 1, introduces new requirements
to present specified categories and defined subtotals in
the statement of profit or loss; provide disclosures on
management-defined performance measures in the notes
to the financial statements and improve aggregation and
disaggregation of information to be disclosed in the financial
statements. In addition, some HKAS 1 paragraphs have
been moved to HKAS 8 “Accounting Policies, Changes in
Accounting Estimates and Errors” and HKFRS 7 “Financial
Instruments: Disclosures”. Minor amendments to HKAS
7 "Statement of Cash Flows"” and HKAS 33 "Earnings per
Share" are also made.

HKFRS 18, and amendments to other standards, will be
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January
2027, with early application permitted. The application of
the new standard is expected to affect the presentation of
the statement of profit or loss and disclosures in the future
financial statements. The Group is in the process of assessing
the detailed impact of HKFRS 18 on the Group's consolidated
financial statements.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3. GAMBRZGHEEREXE/K

FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL wEH
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION
3.1 Basis of preparation of consolidated financial 31 FREVKBREREE

statements

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with HKFRSs issued by
the HKICPA. For the purpose of preparation of the
consolidated financial statements, information is
considered material if such information is reasonably
expected to influence decisions made by primary
users. In addition, the consolidated financial statements
include applicable disclosures required by the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock
Exchange (“Listing Rules”) and by the Hong Kong
Companies Ordinance (“CO").

The directors of the Company have, at the time of
approving the consolidated financial statements, a
reasonable expectation that the Group has adequate
resources to continue in operational existence for the
foreseeable future. Thus they continue to adopt the
going concern basis of accounting in preparing the
consolidated financial statements.

The consolidated financial statements have been
prepared on the historical cost basis except for certain
financial instruments that are measured at fair values
at the end of each reporting period, as explained in the
accounting policies set out below.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate
the financial statements of the Company and entities
controlled by the Company and its subsidiaries. Control
is achieved when the Company:

° has power over the investee;

° is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from
its involvement with the investee; and

° has the ability to use its power to affect its
returns.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an
investee if facts and circumstances indicate that there
are changes to one or more of the three elements of
control listed above.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group
obtains control over the subsidiary and ceases when
the Group loses control of the subsidiary. Specifically,
income and expenses of a subsidiary acquired or
disposed of during the year are included in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control
the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the
Company and to the non-controlling interests. Total
comprehensive income of subsidiaries is attributed to
the owners of the Company and to the non-controlling
interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial

statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting
policies into line with the Group's accounting policies.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income,
expenses and cash flows relating to transactions
between members of the Group are eliminated in full
on consolidation.

Non-controlling interests in subsidiaries are presented
separately from the Group's equity therein, which
represent present ownership interests entitling their
holders to a proportionate share of net assets of the
relevant subsidiaries upon liquidation.

Changes in the Group's interests in existing subsidiaries

Changes in the Group's interests in subsidiaries that
do not result in the Group losing control over the
subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions.
The carrying amounts of the Group's relevant
components of equity and the non-controlling interests
are adjusted to reflect the changes in their relative
interests in the subsidiaries, including reattribution of
relevant reserves between the Group and the non-
controlling interests according to the Group’s and the
non-controlling interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-
controlling interests are adjusted, and the fair value of
the consideration paid or received is recognised directly
in equity and attributed to owners of the Company.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is
carried at cost as established at the date of acquisition
of the business less accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is
allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units
(or groups of cash-generating units) that is expected to
benefit from the synergies of the combination, which
represent the lowest level at which the goodwill is
monitored for internal management purposes and not
larger than an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating
units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
for impairment annually or more frequently when
there is indication that the unit may be impaired. If the
recoverable amount is less than its carrying amount, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying
amount of any goodwill and then to the other assets on
a pro rata basis based on the carrying amount of each
asset in the unit (or group of cash-generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit or any
of the cash-generating unit within the group of cash-
generating units, the attributable amount of goodwill is
included in the determination of the amount of profit or
loss on disposal.

The Group's policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition
of an associate is described below.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Investment in an associate

An associate is an entity over which the Group has
significant influence. Significant influence is the power
to participate in the financial and operating policy
decisions of the investee but is not control or joint
control over those policies.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates are
incorporated in these consolidated financial statements
using the equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of associates used for equity accounting
purposes are prepared using uniform accounting policies
as those of the Group for like transactions and events
in similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an
investment in an associate is initially recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost and
adjusted thereafter to recognise the Group's share of
the profit or loss and other comprehensive income of
the associate.

The Group assesses whether there is an objective
evidence that the interest in an associate may be
impaired. When any objective evidence exists, the
entire carrying amount of the investment (including
goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with
HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets” ("HKAS 36") as
a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount
(higher of value in use and fair value less costs of
disposal) with its carrying amount. Any impairment
loss recognised is not allocated to any asset, including
goodwill, that forms part of the carrying amount of
the investment. Any reversal of that impairment loss
is recognised in accordance with HKAS 36 to the
extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.

When a group entity transacts with an associate
of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the
transactions with the associate is recognised in the
Group’s consolidated financial statements only to the
extent of interests in the associate that are not related
to the Group.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Investment in an associate (Continued)

Acquisition of additional interests in associates

When the Group increases its ownership interest in an
associate but the Group continues to use the equity
method, goodwill is recognised at acquisition date if
there is excess of the consideration paid over the share
of carrying amount of net assets attributable to the
additional interests in associates acquired. Any excess
of share of carrying amount of net assets attributable to
the additional interests in associates acquired over the
consideration paid are recognised in the profit or loss in
the period in which the additional interest are acquired.

Revenue from contracts with customers

The Group recognises revenue when (or as) a
performance obligation is satisfied, i.e. when “control”
of the goods or services underlying the particular
performance obligation is transferred to the customer.

A performance obligation represents a good or service
(or a bundle of goods or services) that is distinct or a
series of distinct goods or services that are substantially
the same.

Revenue is recognised at a point in time when the
customer obtains control of the distinct good or service.

A contract liability represents the Group's obligation
to transfer goods or services to a customer for which
the Group has received consideration (or an amount of
consideration is due) from the customer.

Information about the Group's accounting policies

relating to contracts with customers is provided in note
5.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including leasehold land
and buildings held for use in the production or supply
of goods or services, or for administrative purposes
(other than construction in progress as described
below), are stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position at cost less subsequent accumulated
depreciation and subsequent accumulated impairment
losses, if any.

Properties in the course of construction for production,
supply or administrative purposes are carried at cost,
less any recognised impairment loss. Costs include any
costs directly attributable to bringing the asset to the
location and condition necessary for it to be capable
of operating in the manner intended by management,
including costs of testing whether the related assets
is functioning properly and, for qualifying assets,
borrowing costs capitalised in accordance with the
Group's accounting policy. Depreciation of these
assets, on the same basis as other property assets,
commences when the assets are ready for their
intended use.

When the Group makes payments for ownership
interests of properties which includes both leasehold
land and building elements, the entire consideration is
allocated between the leasehold land and the building
elements in proportion to the relative fair values at
initial recognition. To the extent the allocation of the
relevant payments can be made reliably, interest in
leasehold land is presented as “right-of-use assets” in
the consolidated statement of financial position. WWhen
the consideration cannot be allocated reliably between
non-lease building element and undivided interest in
the underlying leasehold land, the entire properties are
classified as property, plant and equipment.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost
of assets (other than construction in progress) less
their residual values over their estimated useful lives,
using the reducing balance/straight-line methods. The
estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation
method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate
accounted for on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is
derecognised upon disposal or when no future
economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of
the asset and is recognised in profit or loss.

Leases

Definition of a lease

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys
the right to control the use of an identified asset for a
period of time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after
initial application of HKFRS 16 or arising from business
combinations, the Group assesses whether a contract is
or contains a lease based on the definition under HKFRS
16 at inception, modification date or acquisition date,
as appropriate. Such contract will not be reassessed
unless the terms and conditions of the contract are
subsequently changed.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee

Allocation of consideration to components of a contract
For a contract that contains a lease component and one
or more additional lease or non-lease components, the
Group allocates the consideration in the contract to each
lease component on the basis of the relative stand-
alone price of the lease component and the aggregate
stand-alone price of the non-lease components,
including contract for acquisition of ownership interests
of a property which includes both leasehold land and
non-lease building components, unless such allocation
cannot be made reliably.

The Group applies practical expedient not to separate
non-lease components from lease component, and
instead account for the lease component and any
associated non-lease components as a single lease
component.

Right-of-use assets
The cost of right-of-use asset includes the amount of
the initial measurement of the lease liability.

Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities.

Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of its estimated useful life and
the lease term.

The Group presents right-of-use assets as a separate
line item on the consolidated statement of financial
position.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

Lease modifications

The Group accounts for a lease modification as a
separate lease if:

° the modification increases the scope of the lease
by adding the right to use one or more underlying
assets; and

° the consideration for the leases increases by an
amount commensurate with the stand-alone price
for the increase in scope and any appropriate
adjustments to that stand-alone price to reflect
the circumstances of the particular contract.

For a lease modification that is not accounted for as a
separate lease, the Group remeasures the lease liability
based on the lease term of the modified lease by
discounting the revised lease payments using a revised
discount rate at the effective date of the modification.

The Group accounts for the remeasurement of lease
liabilities by making corresponding adjustments to the
relevant right-of-use asset.

When the modified contract contains one or more
additional lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the modified contract to each lease
component on the basis of the relative stand-alone
price of the lease component. The associated non-
lease components are included in the respective lease
components.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessor

Classification and measurement of leases

Leases for which the Group is a lessor are classified
as finance or operating leases. Whenever the terms of
the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the
lessee, the contract is classified as a finance lease. All
other leases are classified as operating leases.

Rental income from operating leases is recognised in
profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the term of the
relevant lease. Initial direct costs incurred in negotiating
and arranging an operating lease are added to the
carrying amount of the leased asset, and such costs are
recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over
the lease term.

Foreign currencies

In preparing the financial statements of each individual
group entity, transactions in currencies other than the
functional currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are
recognised at the rates of exchanges prevailing on the
dates of the transactions. At the end of the reporting
period, monetary items denominated in foreign
currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at
that date. Non-monetary items that are measured in
terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are not
retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of
monetary items, and on the retranslation of monetary
items, are recognised in profit or loss in the period in
which they arise.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated
financial statements, (i) the assets and liabilities of the
Group's foreign operations are translated into US$; (ii)
the assets and liabilities of the Group denominated
or translated into US$ are then translated into the
presentation currency of the Group (i.e. Hong Kong
dollars) using exchange rates prevailing at the end of
the reporting period. Income and expenses items are
translated at the average exchange rates for the period.
Exchange differences arising, if any, are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in equity
under the heading of the exchange reserve (attributed
to non-controlling interests as appropriate).

On the disposal of a foreign operation (that is, a disposal
of the Group's entire interest in a foreign operation, or a
disposal involving loss of control over a subsidiary that
includes a foreign operation, or a partial disposal of an
interest in an associate that includes a foreign operation
of which the retained interest becomes a financial
asset), all of the exchange differences accumulated in
equity in respect of that operation attributable to the
owners of the Company are reclassified to profit or loss.

Exchange differences relating to the retranslation of the
Group's net assets in HK$ to the Group's presentation
currency (US$) are recognised directly in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in exchange
reserve. Such exchange differences accumulated in the
exchange reserve are not reclassified to profit or loss
subsequently.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is
reasonable assurance that the Group will comply with
the conditions attaching to them and that the grants will
be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on
a systematic basis over the periods in which the Group
recognises as expenses the related costs for which
the grants are intended to compensate. Specifically,
government grants whose primary condition is that the
Group should purchase, construct or otherwise acquire
non-current assets are recognised as deferred income
in the consolidated statement of financial position and
transferred to profit or loss over the useful lives of the
related assets.

Government grants related to income that are receivable
as compensation for expenses or losses already
incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial
support to the Group with no future related costs are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable. Such grants are presented under
“other income”.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the current
and deferred income tax expense.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit
for the year. Taxable profit differs from profit before
tax because of income or expense that are taxable
or deductible in other years and items that are never
taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for current
tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting
period.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities
in the consolidated financial statements and the
corresponding tax bases used in the computation
of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences.
Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for all
deductible temporary differences to the extent that it
is probable that taxable profits will be available against
which those deductible temporary differences can be
utilised. Such deferred tax assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from the
initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects
neither the taxable profit nor the accounting profit and
at the time of the transaction does not give rise to
equal taxable and deductible temporary differences. In
addition, deferred tax liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition
of goodwill.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable
temporary differences associated with investments
in subsidiaries, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is
probable that the temporary difference will not reverse
in the foreseeable future. Deferred tax assets arising
from deductible temporary differences associated with
such investments are only recognised to the extent that
it is probable that there will be sufficient taxable profits
against which to utilise the benefits of the temporary
differences and they are expected to reverse in the
foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed
at the end of the reporting period and reduced to
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient
taxable profits will be available to allow all or part of the
asset to be recovered.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at
the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period
in which the liability is settled or the asset is realised,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been
enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets
reflects the tax consequences that would follow from
the manner in which the Group expects, at the end of
the reporting period, to recover or settle the carrying
amount of its assets and liabilities.

For the purposes of measuring deferred tax for leasing
transactions in which the Group recognises the right-
of-use assets and the related lease liabilities, the
Group first determines whether the tax deductions
are attributable to the right-of-use assets or the lease
liabilities.

For leasing transactions in which the tax deductions
are attributable to the lease liabilities the Group applies
HKAS 12 " Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities
arising from a Single Transaction” requirements to the
lease liabilities, and the related assets separately. The
Group recognises a deferred tax asset related to lease
liabilities to the extent that it is probable that taxable
profit will be available against which the deductible
temporary difference can be utilised and a deferred tax
liability for all taxable temporary differences.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset when there
is a legally enforceable right to set off current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when they relate to
income taxes levied to the same taxable entity by the
same taxation authority.

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss.
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122

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net
realisable value. Cost of inventories are determined on a
first-in, first-out method. Net realisable value represents
the estimated selling price for inventories less all
estimated costs of completion and costs necessary
to make the sale. Costs necessary to make the sale
include incremental costs directly attributable to the
sale and non-incremental costs which the Group must
incur to make the sale.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised
when a group entity becomes a party to the contractual
provisions of the instrument. All regular way purchases
or sales of financial assets are recognised and
derecognised on a trade date basis. Regular way
purchases or sales are purchases or sales of financial
assets that require delivery of assets within the time
frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially
measured at fair value except for trade receivables
arising from contracts with customers which are initially
measured in accordance with HKFRS 15 “ Revenue from
Contracts with Customers” ("HKFRS 15"). Transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the acquisition or
issue of financial assets and financial liabilities (other
than financial assets at fair value through profit or loss
(“FVTPL")) are added to or deducted from the fair
value of the financial assets or financial liabilities, as
appropriate, on initial recognition. Transaction costs
directly attributable to the acquisition of financial
assets or financial liabilities at FVTPL are recognised
immediately in profit or loss.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial
liability and of allocating interest income and interest
expense over the relevant period. The effective interest
rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated future
cash receipts and payments (including all fees and
points paid or received that form an integral part of
the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other
premiums or discounts) through the expected life of the
financial asset or financial liability, or, where appropriate,
a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on initial
recognition.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

° the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is to collect contractual cash
flows; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

Financial assets that meet the following conditions
are subsequently measured at fair value through other
comprehensive income (“"FVTOCI"):

o the financial asset is held within a business model
whose objective is achieved by both collecting
contractual cash flows and selling the financial
assets; and

o the contractual terms give rise on specified dates
to cash flows that are solely payments of principal
and interest on the principal amount outstanding.

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at
FVTPL.

3. GEMEBRGHEEREXEMR
®ERE)

32 EXREFHEEERE)

EMIAGE)
ERMEERHEEREESSREA
18 2 8 $H AR DA A B R A RS o0 BC A
BWARMBRX 275 - BB =X
HERHEFT R AR S WA R R (BIEF
BRKRERNEAARRBY 22
HEREBRRIE  XHRAREM
HESTE)RNEMEEXSRAER
HA4F B sk (fi 5@ ) 8050 BAFE] ERE T 3R
EATERE AR EDFEZ XK

EHMEE
EREEZ D BREETE

BA TOURE 2 & AR R
AR -

s EREEDNNENR/UIMEHER
EMEBZEEEAARFE + &

s ANBFNFHERMELERX
A RAEEASFNEZES
mE e

HNHE

<

HEUX TRz ERMEERRIRN
fo2m s AR FEEIIR(REMD
2EBREARFEEIR]E

s SREENRENRREKRE
nREREMMESREEZRD
ERARTA &

s ANBFNFHERMELERX
NARERREERENE RS

==
/ﬁi°

Bt EREERRRNBIENA
FEESRTE -

“ECFFR o EAERERAR 123



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MEERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 » HZ_Z_NF+_A=+—ALEFE

124

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

(i)

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective
interest method for financial assets measured
subsequently at amortised cost and trade
receivables subsequently measured at FVTOCI.
Interest income is calculated by applying the
effective interest rate to the gross carrying
amount of a financial asset, except for financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-
impaired (see below). For financial assets that
have subsequently become credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the
effective interest rate to the amortised cost of
the financial asset from the next reporting period.
If the credit risk on the credit-impaired financial
instrument improves so that the financial asset
is no longer credit-impaired, interest income is
recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial
asset from the beginning of the reporting period
following the determination that the asset is no
longer credit-impaired.

Truly International Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2024

3.

FEMEBRREREEREXEHR
®ERE)

32 EXREFHEHEERE)

EMIAGE)
EHEE (F)
EREEZ D BREENE (B)

(i)

B SHARR R B IA
HERZBHEK A EZERMEE
REBRZEREMEZEK S ARF
BE7IER 82 B RRIATIE A
IR HERERF SN - FE
WATE — IR BE EMREARE
EREBRFETIAGHE - HHR
HREEREZ SR EERI
(RT3 - AR BBREERE
ZEMEEME B N —HES
o FBRATDYE SR EE#H
XS FE R B BRI 2R T LARERR © i
HEREEEREZERTAREES
RgmEm A BLREERE -
REETEEFBHREERE
% BREHRAKRENEWAT
HEMEERMAERBERF
R UAMER



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MEHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 « BZ_—ZT_NF+_A=+—AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Trade receivables classified as at FVTOCI

Subsequent changes in the carrying amounts for
trade and bills receivables classified as at FVTOCI
as a result of interest income calculated using
the effective interest method are recognised in
profit or loss. All other changes in the carrying
amount of these receivables are recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated
under the heading of FVTOCI reserve. Impairment
allowances are recognised in profit or loss with
corresponding adjustment to other comprehensive
income without reducing the carrying amounts
of these receivables. When these receivables
are derecognised, the cumulative gains or losses
previously recognised in other comprehensive
income are reclassified to profit or loss.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for
being measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or
designated as FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair
value at the end of each reporting period, with any
fair value gains or losses recognised in profit or
loss. The net gain or loss recognised in profit or
loss excludes any dividend earned on the financial
asset and is included in the “other gains and
losses” line item.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”
(“HKFRS 9”)

The Group performs impairment assessment under
expected credit loss (“ECL") model on financial assets
(including trade and other receivables, trade and bills
receivables at FVTOCI and restricted bank deposits
and bank balances) which is subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9. The amount of ECL is
updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from
all possible default events over the expected life of
the relevant instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL
("12m ECL") represents the portion of lifetime ECL
that is expected to result from default events that are
possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical
credit loss experience, adjusted for factors that are
specific to the debtors, general economic conditions
and an assessment of both the current conditions at
the reporting date as well as the forecast of future
conditions.

The Group always recognises lifetime ECL for trade
receivables.

For all other instruments, the Group measures the
loss allowance equal to 12m ECL, unless when there
has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, in which case the Group recognises
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognised is based on significant increases
in the likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial
recognition.

Truly International Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2024

FEMEBRREREEREXEHR
®ERE)

32 EAEHBEER(E)

ERMIR(E)

EHEE (F)

RIBEZ B HEHMEEAEIN 2T
A (BB HEHEEREIF ) At
TTRiERV G2 T A E R E
AEERBEEEW B REENFQ
SAETREN G EMEE (2R
WHRIA R B YR - REMEE
Wk AR FEE R Z B ERE K E
WRE R ZRGIRITERRIRITER)
REHREABRX(EHRERBEXDR
NETTRER S - BHERBRXER
RERS BER - AR B I8 TR
ARz EERBRES -

2HERERBRENEE T ARY
FHAMBBEENSHMEL TR
HERBX - Bk - 12EAEHER
BR(M2EABEMERRBX]) BEEY
RREE BR12{E AR REREELD
EMHMELZ 2 BEMERBRED -
AHEDREAEEBREERBRER
(BLEBAZBERRIFLARE) B
BEEMNRRARFHERRE B 2IRE
AR B R FAR L TR R T #E 7T

AEE—-BEEKRERER 2 AN
ERBEX-

RAMBAEMTAME  ARBEFHEMN
ERN2EAERERBRZERR
- BRIFEERER B VBRI E
ZEM ERBEATAEEREREH
BEHERBEX - FEEREERZME
HERBRIER B MRERARE
HREOBRZAIREERAREESRE
KB e



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MEHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 « HZ_Z_WF+_A=+—HLFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”
(“HKFRS 9”) (Continued)

(i

Significant increase in credit risk

In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the reporting date with
the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the date of initial recognition.
In making this assessment, the Group considers
both quantitative and qualitative information that
is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken
into account when assessing whether credit risk
has increased significantly:

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the financial instrument'’s
external (if available) or internal credit rating;

o an actual or expected significant
deterioration in the operating results of the
debtor.

Irrespective of the outcome of the above
assessment, the Group presumes that the
credit risk has increased significantly since initial
recognition when contractual payments are
more than 30 days past due, unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”
(“HKFRS 9”) (Continued)

(i

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)
Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes
that the credit risk on a debt instrument has not
increased significantly since initial recognition
if the debt instrument is determined to have
low credit risk at the reporting date. A debt
instrument is determined to have low credit risk
if i) it has a low risk of default, ii) the borrower
has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash
flow obligations in the near term and iii) adverse
changes in economic and business conditions
in the longer term may, but will not necessarily,
reduce the ability of the borrower to fulfil its
contractual cash flow obligations. The Group
considers a debt instrument to have low credit
risk when it has an internal or external credit rating
of ‘investment grade’ as per globally understood
definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness
of the criteria used to identify whether there
has been a significant increase in credit risk
and revises them as appropriate to ensure that
the criteria are capable of identifying significant
increase in credit risk before the amount becomes
past due.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED 3.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information

FEMEBRREREEREXEHR
®ERE)

32 EXREFHEEERE)

(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued) EMIAE)
Financial assets (Continued) EHMEE(B)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”
(“HKFRS 9”) (Continued)

(ii)

(iii)

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group
considers an event of default occurs when
information developed internally or obtained
from external sources indicates that the debtor is
unlikely to pay its creditors, including the Group,
in full (without taking into account any collaterals
held by the Group).

Irrespective of the above, the Group considers
that default has occurred when a financial asset
is more than 90 days past due unless the Group
has reasonable and supportable information to
demonstrate that a more lagging default criterion
is more appropriate.

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or
more events that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial
asset have occurred. Evidence that a financial
asset is credit-impaired includes observable data
about the following events:

(a)  significant financial difficulty of the issuer or
the borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or
past due event;

(c)  the lender (s) of the borrower, for economic
or contractual reasons relating to the
borrower’s financial difficulty, having granted
to the borrower a concession (s) that the
lender (s) would not otherwise consider; or

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower
will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation.
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BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”
(“HKFRS 9”) (Continued)

(iv)

(v)

Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there
is information indicating that the counterparty is in
severe financial difficulty and there is no realistic
prospect of recovery, for example, when the
counterparty has been placed under liquidation
or has entered into bankruptcy proceedings.
Financial assets written off may still be subject
to enforcement activities under the Group's
recovery procedures, taking into account legal
advice where appropriate. A write-off constitutes
a derecognition event. Any subsequent recoveries
are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the
probability of default, loss given default (i.e.
the magnitude of the loss if there is a default)
and the exposure at default. The assessment
of the probability of default and loss given
default is based on historical data and forward-
looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount
that is determined with the respective risks of
default occurring as the weights. The Group
assesses ECL on trade receivables which are
credit-impaired individually and uses a practical
expedient in estimating ECL on remaining trade
receivables using a provision matrix taking into
consideration historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets subject to impairment
assessment under HKFRS 9 “Financial Instruments”
(“HKFRS 9”) (Continued)

(v)

Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)
Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows
that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at the effective interest rate determined at initial
recognition.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross
carrying amount of the financial asset unless the
financial asset is credit-impaired, in which case
interest income is calculated based on amortised
cost of the financial asset.

Except for trade and bills receivables that are
measured at FVTOCI, the Group recognises an
impairment gain or loss in profit or loss for all
financial instruments by adjusting their carrying
amount, with the exception of trade and other
receivables where the corresponding adjustment
is recognised through a loss allowance account.
For trade and bills receivables that are measured
at FVTOCI, the loss allowance is recognised in
other comprehensive income and accumulated in
the FVTOCI reserve without reducing the carrying
amount of these receivables. Such amount
represents the changes in the FVTOCI reserve in
relation to accumulated loss allowance.

3. GEMEBRGHEEREXEMR
®ERE)

32 EXREFHEEERE)

EMIAGE)

EHEE(E)

RIBEZ B EHMEEAEIN 2T

A (BB HREEAFIN ) A

TTHRE G2 2B A ERE (E)

(v) FEHERBRZFAERER(E)
BEHERBRRBERREANE
NAKEZmEAHRERER
AEBEBEFUBRZRERE (R
MaHERBETE 2 ERA R
EPA L=

MEWATIRIESRE E 2 RE
REFE BRIFESHEEHLRE
BRE EUERT - FSHEA
RESREE 2 BIHNANTHE

BN EME2ER S AR FEER
FIRRA 8 2 AR TA I B IR &
Sh - AEEBBERAEREERE
nEAMBCHIAEZRENKS
kB 1R - AR R EBE R R
AR R 2 R UL AR 1B N LAt B WK
FIAGRIN - ERERE M2 EIR
AR FHEBSIIRG &2 KRR
AN EWRREE  BEEEINE
2 ERERER - YR EMEE
Was AN FEETIRHRBRA
AN &R D 7% e W R IR 2 BR
B - FRSBA/S LR ERE
BN EMEEREANFEE
JIRRREm 2 EE

“ECFFR o EAERERAR 131



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MEERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 » HZ_Z_NF+_A=+—ALEFE

132

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

The Group derecognises a financial asset only when
the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset
expire, or when it transfer the financial asset and
substantially all the risk and rewards of ownership of
the asset to another entity.

On derecognition of a financial asset measured at
amortised cost, the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the sum of the consideration
received and receivable is recognised in profit or loss.

On derecognition of trade and bills receivables classified
as at FVTOCI, the cumulative gain or loss previously
accumulated in the FVTOCI reserve is reclassified to
profit or loss.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either
financial liabilities or as equity in accordance with
the substance of the contractual arrangements and
the definitions of a financial liability and an equity
instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences
a residual interest in the assets of an entity after
deducting all of its liabilities. Equity instruments issued
by the Company are recognised at the proceeds
received, net of direct issue costs.

Repurchase of the Company’s own equity instruments
is recognised and deducted directly in equity. No gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase,
sale, issue or cancellation of the Company’s own equity
instruments.
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3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial liabilities and equity (Continued)

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities (including trade and other payables,
bank and other borrowings and amount due to an
associate) are subsequently measured at amortised
cost, using the effective interest method.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

The Group derecognises financial liabilities when, and
only when, the Group’s obligations are discharged,
cancelled or have expired. The difference between the
carrying amount of the financial liability derecognised
and the consideration paid and payable is recognised in
profit or loss.

Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets (see the accounting policy in respect of
goodwill above)

At the end of the reporting period, the Group
reviews the carrying amounts of its property, plant
and equipment and right-of-use assets to determine
whether there is any indication that these assets have
suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset
is estimated in order to determine the extent of the
impairment loss, if any.

The recoverable amount of property, plant and
equipment, right-of-use assets and intangible assets
are estimated individually. When it is not possible
to estimate the recoverable amount individually, the
Group estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-
generating unit to which the asset belongs.
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134

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets (see the accounting policy in respect of
goodwill above) (Continued)

In testing a cash-generating unit for impairment,
corporate assets are allocated to the relevant cash-
generating unit when a reasonable and consistent basis
of allocation can be established, or otherwise they
are allocated to the smallest group of cash generating
units for which a reasonable and consistent allocation
basis can be established. The recoverable amount is
determined for the cash-generating unit or group of
cash-generating units to which the corporate asset
belongs, and is compared with the carrying amount
of the relevant cash-generating unit or group of cash-
generating units.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less
costs of disposal and value in use. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted
to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that
reflects current market assessments of the time value
of money and the risks specific to the asset (or a cash-
generating unit) for which the estimates of future cash
flows have not been adjusted.

Truly International Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2024

FEMEBRREREEREXEHR
®ERE)

32 EXREFHEHEERE)

ME - BERREUREREEEZ
HEEBR(RELXAREE 2 E5EBR)
(&)

POBIFER @ MIE L 2 RER - 57
BERER—BZHEE%E - AIQF
BE/OEEMBERSMIEL -
DRERCHMMEMAAIHEE SRR
—HoREENS/DER - ATRE S
BB AREEMBRSBRIMEN K
ReMMEMARIEE  LRABAR
ERMEM KRS MMELAR 28R
EELLE -

] Ui [o] < B8 T 22 S B R 6 AR 2
EREEZESE - £HEERER
B fAEt KRR REEAHAITR
XFREERE ZFRERREE
BB E 2 E A ™IS A oRFE M
AARKBEREBZEE (KRS MME
) FrERER -



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MEHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 « BZ_—ZT_NF+_A=+—AILFE

3. BASIS OF PREPARATION OF CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AND MATERIAL
ACCOUNTING POLICY INFORMATION (Continued)

3.2 Material accounting policy information
(Continued)

Impairment losses on property, plant and equipment and
right-of-use assets (see the accounting policy in respect of
goodwill above) (Continued)

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-
generating unit) is estimated to be less than its
carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset (or
a cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable
amount. For corporate assets or portion of corporate
assets which cannot be allocated on a reasonable and
consistent basis to a cash-generating unit, the Group
compares the carrying amount of a group of cash-
generating units, including the carrying amounts of
the corporate assets or portion of corporate assets
allocated to that group of cash-generating units, with
the recoverable amount of the group of cash-generating
units or the group of cash-generating unit. In allocating
the impairment loss, the impairment loss is allocated
first to reduce the carrying amount of any goodwill (if
applicable) and then to the other assets on a pro-rata
basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in the
unit or the group of cash-generating units. The carrying
amount of an asset is not reduced below the highest of
its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable), its
value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of
the impairment loss that would otherwise have been
allocated to the asset is allocated pro rata to the other
assets of the unit or the group of cash-generating units.
An impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit
or loss.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group's accounting policies, the
Directors are required to make judgements, estimates and
assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources.
The estimates and underlying assumptions are based on
historical experience and other factors that are considered to
be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed
on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of
the reporting period that may have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.
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KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY
(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued)

Estimated impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill arising on acquisition of Truly
(Hui Zhou) Smart Display Limited (“Truly HZ") is impaired
requires an estimation of the recoverable amount of the
cash-generating unit to which goodwill has been allocated
which is the higher of the value in use and fair value less
costs of disposal. The value-in-use calculation requires the
Group to estimate the future cash flows expected to arise
from the cash-generating unit based on five-year financial
budgets approved by the management of the Group and
a suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present
value. The Group engages an independent valuer to perform
the valuation, including determining the discount rate.
The management of the Group works closely with the
independent valuer to establish the appropriate estimation
model and inputs to the model. Key estimates involved in the
preparation of cash flow projections for the period covered
by the approved financial budgets include the estimate of
forecast revenue, gross margins, growth rates and discount
rate adopted. The cash flows beyond the five-year period are
extrapolated using long-term growth rate of 2%. Where the
actual future cash flows are less than expected, or changes
in facts and circumstances which result in downward revision
of expected future cash inflows due to unfavourableness, a
material impairment loss may arise.

As at 31 December 2024, the carrying amount of goodwill
arising from acquisition of Truly HZ was amounted to
HK$498,990,000 (2023: HK$534,000,000) net of accumulated
impairment loss of HK$170,569,000 (2023: HK$135,559,000).

4,

HHFREENERRIE (&)

R FREMNEBZRIR(E)

&R E

ETRRBEMNEMN SEBTERAR
(MEMBMD MEL 2 BEEDRERMG
EESEBEZRSRIREN 2 AT E S5
(AEREEREAFEERLEXRAMES
ZR=E) FAHEHEREER  AKEAR
AEBEEEEIEZ AFHRER - B5HR
HUReRNEVELEZ ARRSRER
BEFRE - AGHERE - AREREBY
REMETHE BREEHRE - A5E
BEEEB Y HEMTIAE  AEEE
EERAREX B AR - FROEIE
ZHBHEERERRZRSRERI S R
TE2EFREEEARE  ERE EEX
KRBT R R 2 b5 - BARFHRZR
ERERM2%MEMEREHEE - HERK
ARBAEREBEMAL  AAFERIRR
ZAHEEm T HARARKBRSRA - BIFT
BEHIRBRRERE -

RZBE-_NME+—A=+—0H0 WEE
FMENmMEEZEERMAELSTR R
e {8 E5170,669,000/8 T ( = & = = F:
135,559,000 78 7T ) 1% £ 498,990,000 7 7T ( =
T — =4 : 534,000,00087T) °
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4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 4. #FfHEEMENEERIERE)

(Continued)

Key sources of estimation uncertainty (Continued) T TREMNEERIER(E)

Allowance for inventories FEEE

The Group's inventories include LCD products and electronic REBNFERERAEBARARERN
consumer products. The net realisable values are subject to ETHEBEEMm AR FESHAEMSE
fluctuation of market prices of the relevant products. When BEETE . 2miEHIE TRKBHE &
there is a downward trend in the market, the selling price of KB EEr e N% - Wrl#IR FEE
the finished goods may decrease which imposes pressures KB - RA_E_WMF+_A=+—8"
to the net realisable values. As at 31 December, 2024, the & 2k MHEE /2667757000 (0
carrying amount of inventories was HK$2,667,757,000 B 17 B B 5370,462,0008 L) (Z 2 ==
(net of allowance of inventories of HK$370,462,000 F 1 3,206,930,000%8 T ¥ Bk 7 & # #
(2023: HK$3,206,930,000 (net of allowance of inventories of 405,601,000/87T)) °

HK$405,601,000)).

Provision of ECL for trade receivables FEWERIE Z TEHAIE B K iEE
Credit-impaired trade receivables are assessed for ECL HIBZERE 7 EWRE Y E RS TEERE
individually. In addition, the Group uses provision matrix to FIBK o W AEBFRBHEERETERS
calculate ECL for the not credit-impaired trade receivables ARBEMEE M E D IREEREZ U
which have similar credit risk characteristics. The provision BRIE 7 FEEA= Bk - BB RIRTRGBHEA
rates are based on aging of debtors as groupings of various BRI EARRTE - T AAEEE
debtors taking into consideration the Group's historical default LR R BAMNE MK ARLLS H AT
rates and forward-looking information that is reasonable ESAEEA{EAKIEBEZAIREER - RER
and supportable available without undue costs or effort. At LHEFTEESERMEELNER  TERE
every reporting date, the historical observed default rates are AIE M ER 2 B8 -

reassessed and changes in the forward-looking information
are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in estimates. BHERBABRERZ G EHTE - B
The information about the Group's trade receivables and the N E e W BE 1A K FE B BB %k 2 B REA M
ECL are disclosed in notes 23 and 34(b). 723 & 34(b) # & -
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5. REVENUE

Disaggregation of revenue from contract with customers by
types of products is analysed as follows:

5. &

REMEEED 2EFANKENITIT -

2024
g a1 ;2

2023
—E-=F
HK$'000
FETT

HK$°000
FERT

Sales of LCD products HERMIBE T SERD 12,539,569 13,382,037
Sales of electronic consumer products HEEFHEBEED 5,300,600 2,206,106
17,840,169 15,588,143

The Group is principally engaged in the manufacture and NEBZFEBEE AR ERDE RS2

distribution of LCD products and electronic consumer
products. The Group recognises the revenue at a point in time
when the control of products is transferred to the customer,
i.e. when the goods have been delivered to customer'’s
specific location. A receivable is recognised by the Group
when the goods are delivered to the customer’s premises
as this represents the point in time at which the right to
consideration becomes unconditional, as only the passage of
time is required before payment is due. The customers have
neither rights of return nor rights to defer or avoid payment
for the goods once they are accepted by the customers. The
normal credit period is 30 to 120 days upon delivery.

During the years ended 31 December 2024 and 2023, all
performance obligations for sales of LCD products and
electronic consumer products are for period of one year or
less. As permitted under HKFRS 15, the transaction price
allocated to unsatisfied performance obligations as at 31
December 2024 and 31 December 2023 are not disclosed.

TREMAETHEE®R AREREME
HEEBEEEF(AERERNTEFME
EHE) B ERNE ARBRNERRINE
B P B P HERR R RO &tﬁﬂﬁlﬁﬂﬂﬁﬁé
MR B 2 REE - RERBREK
RSB — R BRI AT ULER o %3}5—@}%1&%’?
Y NERRE TMEREEESE B R
HIE - EREEHRRZMIZ30E120H -

HE-_E-_WFER-_ZE-_=F+=-A=+—
BIEFE  HERRBERRERLETH
BEMIJBHOETHRIA—FHAT - BIE
ARV BEREENF 15K BT BAER
BN _EWFF A=+ —BRZE ==
F+ZA=+—APBRERBITEOEEZ
RPER o
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140

SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the Company’s executive directors,
being the chief operating decision maker, for the purposes of
resource allocation and assessment of performance focuses
on the sales of different types of products. Inter-segment
sales are charged at prevailing market rates. Thus the Group
is currently organised into two operating segments which are
sales of LCD products and electronic consumer products. The
information for each operating segment is as follows:

LCD products — manufacture and distribution of
LCD products and touch panel
products

Electronic consumer —  manufacture and distribution of

products electronic consumer products

such as compact camera
module, fingerprint identification
modules, personal health care
products and electrical devices

Truly International Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2024
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 « BZ_—ZT_NF+_A=+—AILFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. SEREEE)
Segment revenues and results PEREREE
The following is an analysis of the Group's revenue and REBRKEERBREDBESMKZR R ES
results by operating and reportable segments: DT -
For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-_Z-_ME+-A=+—HLEE
Electronic
LCD consumer Segment
products products total  Eliminations Consolidated
R ET
BREEm HEER PEER Hs e
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THET THT THT TET THT
|
REVENUE g
External sales HhEE 12,539,569 5,300,600 17,840,169 - 17,840,169
Inter-segment sales HEREE - 674,234 674,234 (674,234) -
12,539,569 5,974,834 18,514,403 (674,234) 17,840,169
RESULT £
Segment result NEEE 1,016,396 (220,252) 796,144 (16,031) 780,113
Finance costs FsEHE (380,016)
Impairment loss on BHEREESE
goodwill (35,010)
Share of result of AME—REE DA
an associate E (36,906)
Unallocated expenses ROERZ (27,802)
Profit before tax A& A 300,379
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6.

142

SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Segment revenues and results (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2023

6. SFWAAE
PR R EE(E)
BE-T-=4t+-A=t+-ALEE

Electronic
LCD consumer
products products Eliminations ~ Consolidated
RemEE Ey
BTRREM HEEM j #H
HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$'000
THT THT THT
REVENUE [
External sales SN 13,382,037 2,206,106 15,588,143 - 15,588,143
Inter-segment sales SEREE - 597,570 597,570 (597,570) -
13,382,037 2,803,676 16,185,713 (597,570) 15,588,143
RESULT £
Segment result NEEE 742,205 (53,980) 688,225 (17,578) 670,647
Finance costs WEER (389,443)
Impairment loss on HEREBE
goodwill (53,424)
Share of result of Sih—EBE LT
an associate %2 46,802
Unallocated expenses AOEHY (24,975)
Unallocated other gains KA EEE b lieas
and losses KER (222)
Profit before tax A& A 249,385

The accounting policies of the operating segments are the
same as the Group’s accounting policies. Segment profit
represents the profit earned by each segment without
allocation of central administration costs including directors’
salaries, finance costs, share of result of an associate and
gain (loss) on fair value changes of derivative financial
instruments. This is the measure reported to the chief
operating decision maker for the purposes of resource
allocation and performance assessment.
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. SEREEE)
Other information HitER
For the year ended 31 December 2024 BE-ZE-_MFE+-A=+—BLEE
Electronic
LCD consumer
products products Consolidated
RmEE £
BRSBED HEEM fma
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000
FHET FET FET
Amounts included in the STEOREENRRE
measure of segment results: ARG HE -
Reversal of allowance for FEREREIFE
inventories, net (FIASHERKA)
(included in cost of sales) (19,685) (2,741) (22,426)
Depreciation (including amounts & (BIEEEFEE KR
capitalised in inventories) Z &%) 1,060,780 215,871 1,276,651
Depreciation of right-of-use assets {FHEEEITE 19,771 - 19,771
Loss on disposal/write off of HeE MEE  BE
property, plant and equipment NEEtE 2 BB 100,579 1,509 102,088
(Reversal of) impairment losses ~ JEEJ{ZFREBLER TEE
under ECL model, net [E518 (e F 58 (11,502) 104 (11,398)
For the year ended 31 December 2023 BE_Z-_=F+-A=1+—HLEE
Electronic
LCD consumer
products products  Consolidated
GG BT
BN Em BEEMm e
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
T T FHIT
|
Amounts included in the TESEXERBRE
measure of segment results: H& %
(Reversal of) allowance for FFER R (BE) F5E
inventories, net (PIASHERA)
(included in cost of sales) (42,111) 8,693 (33,418)
Depreciation (including amounts  #rE& (BiFEFEE KL
capitalised in inventories) Z&F) 1,120,433 236,961 1,357,394
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ¥ Fi# & EHE 58,325 3,122 61,447
Loss on disposal/write off of HE s mE - MR
property, plant and equipment SE =t 72,930 1,622 74,552
(Reversal of) impairment losses  TEHi{Z EXER NEE
under ECL model, net E518 (R 558 (2,277) 107 (2,170)
Segment assets and liabilities are not disclosed as they are RO EEENBRBIIIEREEEEREE
not regularly reviewed by chief operating decision maker. EHEN MU EFEZSEERAE -
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6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Geographical information

The following table sets out information about (i) the Group's
revenue from external customers by location of customers
and (ii) the Group’s non-current assets by location of assets.

SEAEHEE)

TRE () A REREF TR BRI
BEP WS (i) NEEIREEMEE D
HIFEREVEEMERL -

Revenue from
external customers

Non-current assets

SEBE F W as ERBEE
2024 2023 2024 AOAC]
—E-MF —EZ=F —E-mE TEZ=F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
FET T T T
|
The PRC A 11,632,739 10,040,205 15,497,702 15,627,827
Hong Kong BB (4 4E1)

(place of domicile) 2,398,795 1,387,901 17,136 28,604
Europe BUM 1,025,303 948,475 10 5
South Korea [EaE 939,279 1,240,963 - -
Japan SN 266,188 318,483 = -
North America 1EZ=M 253,129 177,047 450 666
South America EE) 132,454 245,475 = -
Taiwan =) 106,834 75,015 - -
Vietnam R 25,857 98,564 - -
Others HAih 1,059,591 1,056,015 - -

17,840,169 15,588,143 15,515,298 15,657,102
Notes: FiE -

(i) Regarding revenue arising from sales to external customers in
Europe and others, no individual countries are material and hence
separate disclosure is not required.

(i) Non-current assets exclude financial assets at FVTPL, deferred tax
assets and rental and other deposits.

Information about major customers

Revenue from customers of the corresponding years
contributing over 10% of the total sales of the Group are as
follows:

=P A

Customer A (Note)

() BERABUNREAMMESNEDE P RS W
5 BBENBERGEERDE  RAEL
BILWTER -

i) FERBEETRBERRUDTHEEZS
REE  BEHAEEREERAMES -
IEEFEN

RIEEFE  HAKRBIHEEARI0% AL
HMEPWEIT

2024 2023
—E-mE

—E-=F
HK$'000
FET

N/A i@

HK$°000
R

2,847,019

Note: Revenue from LCD products and electronic consumer products
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7. OTHER INCOME

7. EHMKA

2024 2023
“ENEF —E_=%F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TAETT

Other income includes: HEmRABLE :
Government grants (Note 38) Br AR (MY3E38) 151,853 52,044
Compensation income EEE U A 14,783 3,175
Interest income FE YA 23,734 21,556
Rental income with fixed monthly rental  ElFF A2 S A 23,451 19,478
Other service fees HiRiG & 6,723 10,979
Sundry income FETE LA 2,690 2,305
223,234 109,537

8. OTHER GAINS AND LOSSES, NET

Loss on disposal/write-off of property,

8. HMRZBH

HE MHEME - BE RRE

2024
—EoQE

2023
—E-=F
HK$'000
TETT

HK$°000
FERT

plant and equipment 218 (102,088) (74,552)
Gain on fair value changes of RIEBERARATFEEYRZEHEE
financial assets at FVTPL, net AT EEEHUEFE 13,168 531
Loss on fair value changes of PTESBMTAEAFEE
derivative financial instruments, net BE)EETE - (222)
Net foreign exchange gain HINE UK 2555 B 1,791 56,003
(87,129) (18,240)

9. FINANCE COSTS

9. HMEKEH

2024 2023

—E-NE —E-=4F

HK$'000 HK$'000

FET FHETT

Interest on bank and other borrowings HRITREME R ZFE 364,476 362,866

Interest on lease liabilities HEBBZNE 161 7,007

Interest on deferred consideration in ABUEB SR FEEINE

relation to acquisition of additional ZIEFEARAE 2 FE (B3 20)

equity interest in Truly RS (note 20) 15,379 19,570

380,016 389,443
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10.

146

INCOME TAX EXPENSE

10. FRiSMBAX

2024 2023
i St 11 S S
HK$'000 HK$'000
FExT FHTT
Current tax: ZHAFRIE

PRC Enterprise Income Tax A {R S FTIS R 31,893 72,252
Other jurisdictions H i Al EmER 318 1,252
32,211 73,504
Withholding tax (Note) TEHL (MI5E) 21,374 612
53,585 74,116

Over-provision in prior years: BEFE R
The PRC Y (3) (71)
Deferred tax (see note 31) FEIEFETE (R PIFE31) 232 14,904
Income tax expense for the year REETEHFEY 53,814 88,949

Note: The withholding tax for the years ended 31 December 2024 and
2023 were provided on the interest income of intercompany loans
and dividend income received from the PRC subsidiaries.

Under the two-tiered profits tax rates regime, the first HK$2
million of profits of the qualifying group entity will be taxed at
8.25%, and profits above HK$2 million will be taxed at 16.5%.
The profits of group entities not qualifying for the two-tiered
profits tax rates regime will continue to be taxed at a flat rate
of 16.5%. The Directors consider the amount involved upon
implementation of the two-tiered profits tax rates regime as
insignificant to the consolidated financial statements. Hong
Kong Profits Tax is calculated at 16.5% of the estimated
assessable profit for both years.

Income tax arising in the PRC and other jurisdictions is
calculated at the rates prevailing in the relevant jurisdictions.

Pursuant to the relevant law and regulations in the PRC, PRC
subsidiaries qualified as Hi-Tech Enterprise are entitled to
15% PRC enterprise income tax. The tax rate of the other
PRC subsidiaries is 25%.

Pursuant to the PRC Enterprise Income Tax Law (the “EIT
Law of PRC") and the Detailed Implementation Rules,
distribution of the profits earned by the PRC subsidiaries
since 1 January 2008 to holding companies incorporated
in Hong Kong is subject to the PRC withholding tax at the
applicable tax rates of 5%.
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10. INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued) 10. FRSRMAzZ (&)
The income tax expense for the year can be reconciled to the REEFZHEHAYEGSEZMEMEE
profit before tax per the consolidated statement of profit or Wasgk 2 MADE A2 EARAT -

loss and other comprehensive income as follows:

2024 AOVAC]
—E-E SE= =4
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET T
Profit before tax FLAEDE A 300,379 249,385
Add: share of result of an associate e Ao E—EEERREE 36,906 (46,802)
337,285 202,583
Tax at the average income tax rate of B HF1SHHE15.63%
15.63% (2023: 18.41%) (Note i) TE=F 1 1841%)
AR (FRE D) 52,707 37,286
Tax effect of expenses not deductible AT H 2 s &
for tax purpose 17,921 18,198
Tax effect of income not taxable for BABFHUA 2 B2
tax purpose (21,591) (22,860)
Over-provision in respect of prior years WA FERERE (3) (71)
Tax effect of tax losses not recognised RERTIGE B 2 IS E 62,278 119,153
Utilisation of tax losses previously B SRR RIS 18
not recognised (27,623) (29,249)
(Reversal of) withholding tax on AR BT B A Bl R 9k 2 F
undistributed earnings of PRC subsidiaries 2 ¥830%: (#£al) (2,321) 3,338
Withholding tax on interest income R BUW A Z FE8HF 166 612
Withholding tax on dividend income & BURA Z TR 21,208 -
Tax relief related to additional tax deduction 3% N gt AT A M5B 46 T
on research expenses incurred (Note ii) FEINITR Z BRI E R
(B sxii) (48,928) (37,458)
Income tax expense for the year NEEFRASR 53,814 88,949

Notes: BT -

(i) The average income tax rate for the years ended 31 December (i) HE_Z-_NER-_ZT-_=F+-A=+—H
2024 and 2023 represents the weighted average tax rate of the IFEE 7 PSR RIERIER AE R B E R
operations in different jurisdictions on the basis of the relevant BRFNABEREZMETE 2 TR REER
amounts of profit before tax and the tax rate of the relevant entities EREZ MBEFRR -

for the year.

(i) Pursuant to relevant law and regulations, the PRC subsidiaries (ii) RIBHEBEZEENRER BE_ZS_NFEE-F
are entitled to additional tax deduction on qualifying research and T=F+ - A=1t—BItEE DEHEBEAF
development costs expenditures for the years ended 31 December BEREGERMER ARSI ZHBINEBN
2024 and 2023. e
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11. PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 11. XFEERH
2024 2023
—E-IEF ZE=5F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FaExT F&TT
Profit for the year has been arrived AFED MR (GFA)
at after charging (crediting): AN BIBBER
Auditor’s remuneration Z SN &
Audit service ENZARTE 4,732 4,800
Non-audit services IEEZ RS 208 205
4,940 5,005
Cost of inventories recognised BMRERT 2 FEMRA
as expenses 15,796,633 13,641,530
Reversal of allowance for inventories, FEEERR
net (included in cost of sales) (B ASHERKA) (22,426) (33,418)
Research expenses A (PIASHERKA)
(included in cost of sales) 679,729 657,738
Depreciation of property, WE BB MREITE
plant and equipment (including amounts  (BIEEEFEERNbL 2 &5E)
capitalised in inventories) 1,276,651 1,357,394
Depreciation of right-of-use assets FREEENTE 19,771 61,447
Salaries and other benefits e kHEAMER
Staff costs, inclusive of directors’ BINA  BIEESHe
remuneration (note 12) (FfizE12) 1,620,503 1,440,809
Contributions to retirement benefit RIREFET IR
scheme 120,846 117,839

1,741,349 1,658,648
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12.

DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S
REMUNERATION

Directors’ and chief executive's remuneration for the year,
disclosed pursuant to the applicable Listing Rules and CO, is
as follows:

2024
(a)

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

12.

Lam
EREL

HEE
HK$'000

TER

EFRITHERMHS

RIBER EMRRARIGIREFNES

RFB@HzMEmT -

—s-me
(a) BITES

Wong
Pong Chun
James
BERR
HK$'000
FEx

Cheung
Wing
Cheung
IR
HK$'000
TR

Total
“m
HK$'000
TET

Fees = = = =
Other emoluments: Hii -
Salaries and other benefits He REMET 5,168 1,272 1,440 7,880
Performance related HERBFAN
incentive payments (Note i) GED) 9,243 200 120 9,563
Contributions to retirement RINEFIF B
benefit scheme - 1 18 29
Sub-total NEt 14,411 1,483 1578 17,472
The executive directors’ emoluments shown above FHAAIRBITEE O CMME T EARS
were mainly for their services in connection with the MEEBEBARNG RANEBSESHEEFIRER
management of the affairs of the Company and the B2WE -
Group.
(b)  NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (b) FEHITES
Song DE]] Lam Po
Bei Bei Cheng Yun Chun Jane Total
REH HNE HEY k]
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TER TER TER TEx
(Note ii)

(BaEii)
|
Fees we - - - =

Other emoluments: Hibiis
Salaries and other benefits o RAMWET 1,170 969 224 2,363
Performance related incentive BERRAN e
payments (Note i) (FzED) 130 130 7 267
Contributions to retirement RINEFIR B
benefit scheme 15 15 2 32
Sub-total 1,315 1,114 233 2,662

The non-executive directors’ emolument shown
above was mainly for their service as a director of the

Company.

T ONEFR o FEREBRERAE

ERATERTEZZMETEZRE
REARATNESRHRERB 2 BE
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12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 12. EERTTRERME &)
REMUNERATION (Continued)
2024 (Continued) “EUEFE(E)
(c) INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS () BIIHMITEE
Chung Cheung
Kam Heung Wai Yin,
Kwong Kai Sing Wilson Total
EiH B REE “m
HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT TET TET TR
Fees fiikn 264 180 180 624
Other emoluments: Hib#a

Salaries and other benefits HeRhEMmET = - - -
Performance related incentive ~ BRERIZHMYZ 4
payments (Note i) = - - -

Contributions to retirement BINRME B

benefit scheme = = = -

Sub-total et 264 180 180 624
The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments PR FRITEE M T E
shown above were mainly for their services as directors BRERETAR R EBHRERS

of the Company. 2B o

HK$°000

FExT

Total for all directors in 2024 TR NFRRBERER 20,758
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12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 12. EERTTHAEMSE &)
REMUNERATION (Continued)
2023 —E=-=
(a) EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (a) BUITEE
Wong Cheung
Lam Pong Chun Wing
Wai Wah NEINES Cheung
WEE BHE RERHE k]
HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000
TEx FTET BT BT
Fees we - - - -
Other emoluments: HihBi% -
Salaries and other benefits GeNEMER 3,970 1,272 1,439 6,681
Performance related HBR[AN 2 R
incentive payments (Note i) GED; 8,323 - 120 8,443
Contributions to retirement RINETIF B
benefit scheme - 36 18 54
Sub-total Nt 12,293 1,308 1,577 15,178

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above
were mainly for their services in connection with the
management of the affairs of the Company and the
Group.

(b) NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR

ERATHATEEZME T ERRSE
REEBARFARAEEEHERER
Bz

(b) FHMITES

Song DE]
Bei Bei Cheng Yun
REEH BHKE 4
HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000
TEx TET THT
Fees e - - _
Other emoluments: HihBi% -
Salaries and other benefits e REMmE 1,192 1,107 2,299
Performance related incentive HRFAN R
payments (Note ) oE3)) 154 154 308
Contributions to retirement benefit RINBMET B
scheme 13 13 26
Sub-total et 1,359 1,274 2,633

The non-executive directors’ emolument shown
above was mainly for their service as a director of the
Company.

EFRMATRIEATESCMEERRE
REERAREFERHRERB S -
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12. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE'S 12. EERTTRERME &)
REMUNERATION (Continued)
2023 (Continued) —E=5#H)
(¢) INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS () BIIHMITEE
Chung Ip Cho Cheung
Kam Ting, Heung Wai Yin,
Kwong Spencer Kai Sing Wilson Total
Ei EH= BRI KEE k]
HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000
AT TH TEx THET THBT
(Note iii)
(Bzxiii)
|
Fees ik 264 240 172 138 814
Other emoluments: HitE %
Salaries and other benefits ¥4 R EMiEF - - - - -
Performance related RBERBE Y B

152

incentive payments (Note i) (FifzEi) - - - - -
Contributions to retirement  R/REFIEH 2142k

benefit scheme - - - - -
Sub-total et 264 240 172 138 814
The independent non-executive directors’ emoluments T RBNIERMITES e £ E
shown above were mainly for their services as directors BREREFRA AR EESRREHRGE
of the Company. 2B o
HK$' 000
Tt
|
Total for all directors in 2023 TR =FRREEEAR 18,625
Note i: The performance related incentive payments are based sk HERRBBZHBESDIREBEHE_F
on the remuneration approved by the remuneration —MFEER—E-_=F+=-A=+—H
committee for the years ended 31 December 2024 and IHEEHFMEE e EsMEeET -
2023.
Note ii: Lam, Po Chun Jane was appointed as a non-executive Mizrii: MEBEREZT AN TESE B -F
director with effect from 15 November 2024. “FE+—B+HEBREER -
Note iii: Ip Cho Ting, Spencer resigned as independent non- Mstii: EHEAAR T -_=F=A_-1+H
executive director on 25 March 2023. HEBEB I IENITES -
Mr. Lam Wai Wah is also the Chief Executive of the MEELENBAR T/ﬁﬁz,\%@\% ' ?)z
Company and his emoluments disclosed above include @{ZfﬁZ@ﬂ%@%ﬁT’E%ﬁﬁh
those for services rendered by him as the Chief BB RIS S -
Executive.
Neither the Chief Executive nor any of the Directors BE—T-_NER-—TE-—=F+—FH
waived any emoluments during the years ended 31 =+— EiJJ:¢J§ 148 1T B 48 5 S AT
December 2024 and 2023. MEEREWEL A -

Truly International Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2024



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MEHRRME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 « HZ_Z_WF+_A=+—HLFE

13. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees of the Group during the year
included four (2023: four) directors and the chief executive,
details of whose remunerations are set out in note 12 above.
Details of the remuneration for the year of the remaining one
(2023: one) highest paid employee who is neither a director
nor chief executive of the Company are as follows:

13.

LEERTFHER

FA - ARERRESFHERRENS(Z
To-F MR EFRITBARE  HMS
FHEEN EXHME 12 FR BT —R(Z
T —R)RFEFETIFARFRITH
mEzREHEEZHESFBENOT

2024 AV
—EmE —ET-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FETT
Salaries and other benefits He MEMEF 1,798 1,798
Performance related incentive payments B2 IFEME 7 154 150 150
Contributions to retirement benefit scheme EAtE T 5T 21 3K 18 18
1,966 1,966

The highest paid employee’s (2023: one employee) SSFMEE(ZZE-_=F: —ZEE)iNE

emoluments were within the following bands:

HK$1,500,001 to HK$2,000,000

ZEENT

2024
—E-mE
Number of

2023
—E—F
Number of

employee

EE2HE

employee

BERE

1,500,001 8 7L 2,000,000 7 7T 1 1

During both years, no emoluments were paid by the Group to
any of the directors, chief executive or the five highest paid
individuals of the Group as an inducement to join or upon
joining the Group or as compensation for loss of office.

T ONEFR o FEREBRERAE

RMEFE - NEBELEFRAEEEMNE
FTRBHIDRESFMALMEM
e - (ERIMAR KB ERIMAR KB 2
5EE) - SKIFRBRREE
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14. DIVIDENDS

14. R

2024 2023
—E-IEF —EC=fF
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHT FiHsT
Dividends for ordinary shareholders RARERRERENFEANHER
of the Company recognised as BEDIK
distribution during the year:
2024 Interim — HK5 cents (2023: :E:mﬁqﬂ H — S5
2023 interim — HK5 cents) per share —ZEZ=F: =
R HE — 578l) 158,055 158,055
2023 Final — HK5 cents (2023: ZER - =FRE— 581
2022 Final — HK5 cents) per share T = ZE
RE — 58L) 158,055 158,055

Subsequent to the end of the reporting period, a final dividend
in respect of the year ended 31 December 2024 of HK5 cents
(2023: HK5 cents) per ordinary share, in an aggregate amount
of HK$158,055,000 (2023: HK$158,055,000), has been
proposed by the directors of the Company and is subject
to approval by the shareholders in the forthcoming general
meeting.
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FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 « BZ_—ZT_NF+_A=+—AILFE

15. EARNINGS PER SHARE 15. BERET
The calculation of the basic earnings per share is based on FREARRBFTIRE TSR E

the following data:

Earnings B F
2024 AOAC]
—E_E —E=4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET F&T
Earnings for the purposes of basic BUGTESREARZF 2 BT
earnings per share
Profit for the year attributable to RNARHEE AN RFEEF
owners of the Company 302,085 262,799
Number of shares R & E

2024
—E-NE

‘000
TR

Weighted average number of ordinary AUGTESIREREF

shares for the purposes of 2L BN T

basic earnings per share 3,161,105 3,161,105
No diluted earnings per share for both 2024 and 2023 were AR -ZE-NFER T - =FHEEED %
presented as there were no potential ordinary shares in issue TEER WZMEFELHITERY| SRS
for both years. SEAF o
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 16. Y% - BERE
Leasehold Furniture, Construction
landand fixtures and Plant and Motor in
buildings equipment machinery vehicles progress
HELH B #£8
REF e B R 2 RE ERIR
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THL TAT THT THL T
COST BA
At 1 January 2023 RoE-=&
—HA—H 5,364,637 2,121,295 18,192,649 38,584 359,940 26,077,005
Currency realignment & H#JI% (139,233) (55,149) (515,590) (601) (15,042) (725,615)
Additions NE 8,571 58,940 253,948 5,519 171,317 498,295
Disposalswrite off HE /i - (1,475) (185,152) (8,566) - (195,193)
Transfer from construction FHEEFRIE
in progress 66,055 676 49,264 448 (116,443) -
Transfer from right-of-use & EFHEEE
assets (Note) (P3E) - - 382,772 - - 382,772
At31December2023 ~ RZE==F
+-A=t-H 5,299,930 2,124,287 18,177,891 35,384 399,772 26,037,264
Currency realignment S A% (163,941) (67,403) (616,309) (901) (18,634) (867,188)
Additions R 14,138 94,246 316,581 362 251,755 677,082
Disposalsfwrite off HE /M - (3,261) (424,869) - - (428,130)
Transfer from construction FAEBHEZTR
in progress - 42 266,251 13 (266,306) -
Transfer from rightof-use A& S FERELE
assets (Note) (MT%E‘) - - 56,759 - - 56,759
At 31 December 2024 -Z ﬂ¢+ A
= 5,150,127 2,147,911 17,776,304 34,858 366,587 25,475,787
DEPRECIATION E
At 1 January 2023 RZEZ=%F
—A—H 836,039 1,471,319 9,711,122 35,488 - 12,053,968
Currency realignment S A% (19,274) (39,503) (275,116) (527) - (334,420)
Provided for the year EERE 163,474 128,804 1,072,746 2,370 - 1,357,394
Eliminated on HE /MLt
disposals/write off - (767) (107,636) (8,489) - (116,892)
Transfers from right-of-use FAEBFERRELE
assets (Note) i3] - - 149,040 - - 149,040
At31December2023 ~ WZEZ=F+-f
=T—H 970,239 1,659,853 10,550,156 28,842 - 13,109,090
Currency realignment S A% (28,937) (51,573) (363,705) (718) - (444,933)
Provided for the year Eﬂ% & 139,411 119,711 1,015,380 2,149 - 1,276,651
Eliminated on HE /M
disposals/write off - (2,627) (321,534) - - (324,161)
Transfers from right-of-use FBEBFRELE
assets (Note) i3] - - 16,882 - - 16,882
At31December 2024  RMZZZIE+=A
=f+-H 1,080,713 1,625,364 10,897,179 30,273 - 13,633,529
CARRYING VALUES IREE
At31December2024  R=ZE=WF+=f
:‘I'* H 4,069,414 522,547 6,879,125 4,585 366,587 11,842,258
At 31 December 2023 —E- i-l— A
= 4,329,691 b64,434 7,627,735 6,542 399,772 12,928,174
Note: During the year ended 31 December, 2024, certain plant M :BEZFT-_MF+-_A=+—HLEFE XK
and machinery under finance leases with original cost of SEWEREESE T 25 THRE RS -
HK$56,759,000 and accumulated depreciation of HK$16,882,000 H R 48 B AN /556,759,000 7% T Rk Rt #1 & B

16,882,000 7T + WHIZRIEER(EERES
f&3,034,000 B LA R{F AEEEEN D EA
W - BB KRR o

were acquired by the Group and recategorised from right-of-use
assets to property, plant and equipment upon early repayment of
the outstanding lease liabilities of HK$3,034,000.
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16. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)  16.

The cost of leasehold land and buildings is depreciated over
forty years or the terms of the respective leases, whichever

is the shorter, using the straight-line method.

The other items of property, plant and equipment, other
than construction in progress, are depreciated on a reducing

balance method at the following rates per annum:

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 10% to 20%
Plant and machinery 11% to 15%
Motor vehicles 25% to 30%

17. RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS

As at 31 December 2024 R=-Z-NF+=A

17.

Leasehold
land

HE L

HK$'000
TR

WE - BERRMEE)

MET BT ZRAABREAL+F4
ek B HEFHUAREERE)FE -

Hip% - BEKREEB (BEITREN
ASRERIEIRUE » RIA T FREFEITE -

BRI KERRE
IR 55 M as
T

EHERE

Plant and

Buildings machinery
BF RERMESE
HK$'000 HK$'000
FH&TT T

10% £20%
M%E15%
25% £ 30%

Total
st
HK$'000
T4

=+—H
Carrying amount BREE 524,905 20,595 24,710 570,210
As at 31 December 2023 R=-ZE=-=F+=HA
=+—H
Carrying amount BREE 557,027 1,213 41,328 599,568
For the year ended BZE-_Z-NE+=A
31 December 2024 =t+—HBLEE
Depreciation charge WELH 14,148 4,722 901 19,771
For the year ended BE-—ZT-=f+=A
31 December 2023 =t+—BLEE
Depreciation charge eESH 14,062 862 46,523 61,447
2024 2023
—E_NF —E-=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET TFETT
Expense relating to short-term leases WREHREE 2 FE 10,603 4,974
Total cash outflow for leases HEZHRESRE (18,418) (68,116)
Additions to right-of-use assets REFREEE 49,728 3,204
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17.

158

RIGHT-OF-USE ASSETS (Continued)

For both years, the Group leases various offices and plant
and machinery for its operations. Lease contracts are entered
into for fixed term of 13 months to 5 years. Lease terms are
negotiated on an individual basis and contain a wide range of
different terms and conditions. In determining the lease term
and assessing the length of the non-cancellable period, the
Group applies the definition of a contract and determines the
period for which the contract is enforceable.

In addition, the Group owns several industrial buildings
where its manufacturing facilities are primarily located and
office buildings. The Group is the registered owner of these
property interests, including the underlying leasehold lands.
The leasehold land components of these owned properties
are presented separately as the payments made can be
allocated reliably.

The Group regularly entered into short-term leases for various
offices and plant and machinery. As at 31 December 2024
and 2023, the portfolio of short-term leases is similar to the
portfolio of short-term leases to which the short-term lease
expense disclosed above.
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18. GOODWILL 18. g
Other
immaterial
acquisition
Acquisition of
of Truly HZ businesses Total
Wi HidEE X
EFEM kg 7% a5
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TET T T
COST RRA
At 1 January 2023, 31 December E’\\_E: F—H—H-
2023 and 31 December 2024 —EC=F+ZA=+—HK
—EME+-A=+—H 669,559 413 669,972
IMPAIRMENT RE
At 1 January 2023 RZZE—=F—H—H (82,135) - (82,135)
Impairment loss recognised RERERRERE
during the year (53,424) - (53,424)
At 31 December 2023 R-B_=F+"H=+—H (135,559) - (135,559)
Impairment loss recognised REANERBERE
during the year (35,010) - (35,010)
At 31 December 2024 RZFZWF+=A=+—H (170,569) - (170,569)
CARRYING VALUES BREE
At 31 December 2024 RZZE-ZMF+-—A=+—H 498,990 413 499,403
At 31 December 2023 R-E_=F+-A=+—H 534,000 413 534,413
19. IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL 19. WERENR
For the purpose of impairment testing of goodwill arising on M 18P W EE SR N A EA R
the acquisition of Truly HZ as set out in note 18, goodwill has BEARMNE - AEE SR FREEFEM
been allocated to the underlying CGU which represents Truly BEANRKREMENOBEBIRSELSM
HZ in existence at the time of acquisition of Truly HZ which is (Gt ARBEEREERDER) °

included in LCD products segment.

In addition to goodwill above, right-of-use assets, property, BB EXA RS ARENFTRESR
plant and equipment that generate cash flows together with E - E MELEEEREERE - hEt
the related goodwill are also included in the cash-generating ANIRESESEEBEN - AMEREE -

unit for the purpose of impairment assessment.

“ECFFR o EAERERAR 159



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MEERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 « #HZE

19.

160

SECNE+ZA=+-HIEFE

IMPAIRMENT TESTING ON GOODWILL
(Continued)

As at 31 December 2024, the recoverable amount of Truly
HZ was HK$3,917,379,000, which has been determined
based on a value in use calculation. The calculation uses cash
flow projections based on financial budgets approved by
management covering a 5-year period (2023: 5-year period)
and pre-tax discount rate 15.04% (2023: 15.63%). Truly HZ's
cash flows beyond the b-year period (2023: 5-year period)
are extrapolated using a steady 2% growth rate (2023: 2%).
This growth rate is based on the relevant industry growth
forecasts and does not exceed the average long-term growth
rate for the industry. Other key assumptions for the value
in use calculations relate to the estimation of cash inflows/
outflows which include budgeted sales and gross margin,
such estimation is based on Truly HZ's past operating
performance and management'’s expectations for the market
development.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, Truly HZ recorded
an increase in revenue but still a net loss due to the poor
market demand and relatively low selling price of the LCD
products. The directors consider that Truly HZ is shifting
more production capacity to certain LCD products with more
advanced technology and higher market price, but still need
some time to bring further revenue and profit increment.

At 31 December 2024, if the discount rate was increase
by 0.2%, while other parameters remain constant, the
recoverable amount of Truly HZ would be reduced by
HK$68,142,000 and a further impairment of goodwill of
HK$68,142,000 would be recognised in profit or loss. If the
budgeted sales covering 5—year period were reduced by 5%,
while other parameters remain constant, the recoverable
amount of Truly HZ would be reduced by HK$60,111,000 and
a further impairment of goodwill of HK$60,111,000 would be
recognised in profit or loss.
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20.

=0T A=k — BILEE

INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE

20.

REELFNER

2024
—BCoWmE
HK$°000
FERT

2023
—E-=F

HK$'000
THETT

Cost of investment — unlisted WERKRA —IE LT 2,744,260 1,555,710
Share of results EEE S 30,559 67,465
Exchange difference arising on translation & &4 7 HNEZFE (155,040) (81,037)
2,619,779 1,542,138
Details of the Group's associate at the end of the reporting REBNREHRZBESAREBEOT :
period are as follows:
E Principal Proportion of Proportion of
Form of incorporation/  place of ownership interest voting rights
Name of entity entity registration operation held by the Group held by the Group  Principal activities
Rl AVe FEEREL rEEREL
BRER B oL TESENY PRt fl REELH FTEER
2024 2023 2024 2023
—E-ME =F ZBINE =5
Truly (Renshou) High-end Incorporated ~ The PRC The PRC 297%*  17.1%*  67.1%*  67.1%* Development and
Display Technology Limited (Note) (Note) (Note) (Note) production of
(“Truly RS") LCD products
BH(CR) aRBRE Rl AvE PE el 297%*  171%*  61.1%*  67.1%* FERLERSE
ARAR(EHERD (W) ) (W) (W) BER#E.
* Rounded to one decimal point for disclosure purpose. * MEEENNETAR/NEEEE —(ERL -
Note: BfisE -

The Group has significant influence over Truly RS by virtue of the
substantial voting right of 67.1% granted to the Group in the first ten
years since the incorporation of Truly RS in 2018, as stated in the
shareholders’ agreement of Truly RS. Other than the Group, there are two
other shareholders in Truly RS. According to the Articles of Association
of Truly RS, shareholders’ meeting cannot be held without the presence
of either one of the other two shareholders. The Directors consider that
the Group does not have control but only significant influence over Truly
RS under such a term because relevant activities of the associate is
directed through shareholder’'s meeting and any resolutions to be passed
in shareholders’ meetings shall have the consent from either one of the
other shareholders demonstrated by their action of being present in the
meetings. Truly RS is therefore classified as an associate of the Group.

In May 2024, the Group acquired additional 12.55% equity interest
from another shareholder in Truly Renshou at a cash consideration of
RMB1,097,460,000 (equivalent to HK$1,188,550,000) was fully settled
in 2024. There is no change of the terms of the Articles of Association of
Truly Renshou including the voting rights of the shareholders and Truly
Renshou remains as an associate of the Group.

—=

BAERCEREREE  AEBYUENCSEE
YEN RARAEEE T \FEANCHTM
BB E T FEERTI%EAREE - B AEE
SN FERCEHEEMMERE - RIEEFCENA
BERMEN - TEEESMBREEP —BRENE
ATRITREAE - EERAEZERT  AEEY
ERCETERGE  E5ERTEN  BRBER
AIAEREE BB E RS T E R T RRERE
BBHRERBEEARREH— %gmr@ﬁx%
REE - At - ENCESBEAREEBE AR

RZFEZNFRA AEERENCENS —2
RN EREIN255% R E RERBEAARKE
1,097,460,000 (8% 1,188,550,000 8 7T ) * W —
ToMEEREEN - ERCENASZRMANIER
(RIER R B I% xﬁé)jmf@ib C BEMCSNALRE
2= o)isLNG|
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20. INTEREST IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued) 20. RBELFINRER (&)
Summarised financial information of Truly RS EACENTEERRBE
The summarised financial information below represents AT BB R B IR R A B B 15 i Al
amounts shown in the associate’s financial statements B HllBs & R B I IS SRR NPT R & K8 ©

prepared in accordance with HKFRSs.

Truly RS is accounted for using the equity method in these EMCENERERS AN EGE %
consolidated financial statements. WMEANE -
2024 AOAC]
—F-NFE T -=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
THT T
|
Current assets MEVEE 3,353,950 2,643,455
Non-current assets IERBEE 9,516,118 10,189,854
Current liabilities A 2,480,093 2,967,287
Non-current liabilities EREBEE 2,286,246 1,348,953
Revenue gy 3,742,150 2,569,683
(Loss) profit and total comprehensive FE(EE) &
(expense) income for the year 2E(AX) K=EsE (188,596) 273,009
Reconciliation of the above summarised financial information it BB R B BAT A B S SRR NN
to the carrying amount of the interest in the associate BN TR EEEmEYENT

recognised in the consolidated financial statements:

2024 2023
—E-IEF —EC=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET F&T
Net assets of Truly RS EACEEEEE 8,103,729 8,517,069
Proportion of the Group's ownership AEERMERCEN
interest in Truly RS P HERE = LE 51 29.7% 17.1%
The Group's share of net assets REENEEMNCESEEFE
of Truly RS 2,405,997 1,460,069
Goodwill arising from acquisition Wi REIME S FTE £ 2
of additional interest 213,782 82,069
Carrying amount of the Group's interest ~ REBMEFCSMEEMNREE
in Truly RS 2,619,779 1,542,138
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21. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

2024

—ECWEF

HK$°000
AR

RIRRLUAFREIRZEMEE

2023
—E_=4F
HK$'000
FET

Listed equity shares in Hong Kong (Note 1) &S 2 iR (MisE1) 2,407 4,220
Listed equity shares in PRC (Note 2) PAFRE Lz #EwmAR (BEE2) 33,068 -
35,475 4,220
Note 1:  The investment represents equity interest in a company with MizE1: ZIREER—MEARZRAER  ZAF
its shares listed on the Stock Exchange, which is stated at fair ZROARERT LT Wik AFEET
value. The investment is held for long-term strategic purposes. R BRERAFERMEMBEMN - LWRAK
The fair value of listed equity security is determined based on FHEIATEBEERABEESR ST
quoted market bid price available from the Stock Exchange. MMBEABEE - BHEZT-_NF
During the year ended 31 December 2024, a fair value loss of +ZA=+—RHLFE AFEEEA
HK$1,813,000 (2023: fair value gain of HK$531,000) has been 1,813,000 0 (=T Z=F : AFEEK
recognised in profit or loss. % 531,00087C) B R ER R o
Note 2:  The investments represent equity interest in a company M2 : ZEREEN—HMRTPEEMAZAAQF
incorporated in PRC with its share listed on the Shanghai AL ZABZBRMNLEEESFR
Stock Exchange, which is stated at fair value. The investment SHrE™m WIEAFEEYR - BARER
is classified as current as the management expects to realise EBEARNGESHETEARNEEZS
these financial assets within twelve months after the reporting TREE  WEZREWSERRDIRE -
period. The fair value of listed equity security is determined ETRABHEZAFEERERBAITHFR
based on quote market bid price available in the relevant stock S mEEANEEE BE_T_H
exchange. During the year ended 31 December 2024, fair value F+_A=+—BLFE  AFEEKS
gain of HK$14,981,000 (2023: Nil) has been recognised in profit 14,981,000 8 T (=T =4 : ) 28
or loss. HHER o
22. INVENTORIES 22. &8
2024 2023
—ECmE  —EF-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET T4
Raw materials R 670,411 943,379
Work in progress ERH 1,556,327 1,698,681
Finished goods R 441,019 564,870
2,667,757 3,206,930
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23.

164

TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

23. BRI R H it FE U R IR

2024 2023
“ENEF —E=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET TAETT
Trade receivables FEURBRTE 3,396,196 3,349,290
Less: Allowance for credit losses B SRS (25,648) (46,637)
3,370,548 3,302,653

Other receivables, deposits and H i EWEIE « e RIBN B
prepayments 370,405 274,452
Total trade and other receivables FEUNBRETE N H fth FEUR FRIB 42 %8 3,740,953 3,677,105

Less: Rental and other deposits shown o SEREBEEMREE R

under non-current assets HEMize (19,541) (256)
Amounts shown under current assets RENVE EFT R A 3,721,412 3,576,849

As at 31 December 2024, 31 December 2023 and 1 January
2023, the gross amount of trade and bills receivables from
contracts with customers (including trade and bills receivables
at FVTOCI (note 24)) amounted to HK$4,581,394,000,
HK$3,968,399,000 and HK$4,177,970,000 respectively.

The Group allows a credit period ranging from 30 to 120 days
to its trade customers.

Included in the other receivables are deposits paid to
suppliers of HK$176,950,000 (2023: HK$99,647,000) and
the remaining balances mainly represent the prepayments
to suppliers and operating expenses and various refundable
deposits paid for rental, utility and other operating purposes.
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23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES (Continued)

The Group's trade receivables that are denominated in
currencies other than functional currencies of the relevant
group entities are set out below:

Denominated in HK$ LS TEHE

23. BWIRARHEMERRIE (2)

445 80 A 75 P42 0 R O M DA S 2 B
S R R R RN T

2024
—E-mE

2023
—E-=F
HK$'000 HK$'000

F&ET TFETT

3,030 237

The following is an aged analysis of trade receivables
presented based on the invoice date at the end of the
reporting period, net of the allowance for credit losses at the
reporting date:

REEHZ YRR (RBEMRZERER
HIZ2)) RERBRBEZREDTOT

2024
—EoQE

2023
—E-=F
HK$'000
TABTT

HK$°000
FERT

Within 60 days 60BN 2,387,530 2,245,634
61 to 90 days 61290H 547,918 595,166
More than 90 days BB 90 H 435,100 461,853

3,370,548 3,302,653

As at 31 December 2024, included in the Group's trade
receivables balance are debtors with aggregate carrying
amount of HK$403,377,000 (2023: HK$404,183,000) which
are past due as at the reporting date. Out of the past due
balance, HK$91,407,000 (2023: HK$89,626,000) has been
past due over 90 days or more and is not considered as
in default based on good repayment records for those
customers and continuous business relationship with the
Group.

Details of impairment assessment of trade and other
receivables are set out in note 34.

W-Z-NFE+-A=+—H ~"EEE
W BRIB 45 84 N B 15 48 IR 1 {8 & 403,377,000
B IL( =T = = 4 : 404,183,000 L) 2
FEWERF  ZERERREACBH -2
BHAE# 91,407,000 BT (— T - =
89,626,00078 L) 2B HARR B 90 A sk A Lk -
BERZERPZENCHRITIFERRK
SEBFEFEREBIER - IR BRI
18 o

UL BRIE I Hoth B U B 2 B R h FB &
AMEE34 -
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24.

TRADE AND BILLS RECEIVABLES AT FAIR
VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME

REfMEERLLFREIRZE
W R IR B FE MR 8

2024 PAOAC]

—E_NF ZEZ=F

HK$°000 HK$'000

THET T

Trade receivables FEURBRETE 199,349 19,305
Bills receivables JEW IR 985,849 599,804
1,185,198 619,109

As at 31 December, 2024, total bills received amounting
to HK$985,849,000 (2023: HK$599,804,000) were held

RZZB-_ME+-_RA=+—H A&H
RAERARAKXEEREERENDKRE

by the Group for future settlement of trade receivables of J& 48 58985,849,000/8 o ( — & — = F:
which certain bills amounting to HK$467,804,000 (2023: 599,804,000 T ) + H # 467,804,000 JT
HK$464,021,000) were further endorsed to suppliers by the (ZZ =4 : 464,021,000/ 70) & T

Group. The Group continues to recognise their full carrying
amounts at the end of the reporting periods and details are
disclosed in note 44.

The following is an aging analysis of trade and bills
receivables at FVTOCI presented based on the invoice date
and issuance date at the end of the reporting year:

BomAKEE-—FARBESE - A5HE
RFEHREERDEBERAERFBER
izt 44 45T -

RBEFRIREZAMNBETERZNNE
b2 E Y AR FEESIFR 2 B ARIE N e
WREZBREDITT :

2024 2023

—E-NF ZTZ=F

Trade Bills Trade Bills
receivables receivables Total receivables  receivables Total
FE U BR1E ERRE &t e BRI eSS G
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THEL  FER FEx FEr TR FEx

|

Within 60 days 60 HA 160,840 663,167 824,007 18,381 344,912 363,293
61 -90 days 61290H 35,490 78,185 113,675 924 80,217 81,141
More than 90 days 83890 H 3,019 244,497 247,516 - 174,675 174,675
199,349 985,849 1,185,198 19,305 599,804 619,109

All bills received by the Group are with a maturity period of
less than one year.

REBERBNAERBENZIF B DR —F -

Details of impairment assessment of trade and bills
receivables at FVTOCI are set out in note 34.

REA 2 E R AR FEETR 2 B ARER
KR 2 BARHE B NHITES4 o
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25. AMOUNT DUE FROM/TO AN ASSOCIATE

Amount due from/to an associate at 31 December 2024
and 2023 is derived from normal business activities and is
unsecured and interest-free. A credit period of 90 days is
allowed for the amount due from an associate. The amount
due from an associate is not past due as at 31 December
2024 and 2023.

26. RESTRICTED BANK DEPOSITS/CASH AND
CASH EQUIVALENTS

25. FElyfIHEQTREA

RZBE-NFR-ZE-_=F+=-A=+—H
FEW B A RIRIBIRE —MREK S
W ABEKEREE - BIEE Q[ RIELHL
FZEEHAVH R -_NER -
—ZF+-A=1+—8 " ER—MEBEAR
FIBL FEE A o

26. EMBBTHER RERASFEHR
B

2024
g1 2

2023
—E-=F
HK$'000
FET

HK$°000
FTET

Cash and cash equivalents: ReERBEFHEEER -
Bank balances and cash RITEGFRRE 1,035,140 802,291
Restricted bank deposits ZR&HIERITTER 502,066 582,856
1,537,206 1,385,147

The Group’s bank balances and deposits that are
denominated in currencies other than the functional
currencies of the relevant group entities are set out below:

As at 31 December 2024 MN-_E U4
+=-A=+—H

As at 31 December 2023 R -=4
+=—A=+—8

HK$'000
T

AEBNFHEEEREEEININZER
SMEZ SRITHETF RIFRE NG T

JPY
=]

HK$
BT
HK$'000
T

uss
e
HK$'000
THAT

RMB

AR®
HK$'000
THAT

5,955 99,416 160,873 21,015

7,137 62,962 190,016 1,760

Bank deposits and bank balances carry interest at fixed and
variable rates respectively which ranged from 0.10% to 4.10%
(2023: 0.01% to 3.13%) per annum.

Restricted bank deposits are to secure bills payables and are
therefore classified as current assets. The restricted bank
deposits carry fixed interest rate ranged from 0.10% to 1.90%
(2023: 1.10% to 1.70%) per annum. The restricted bank
deposits will be released upon settlement of bills payables.

ROTGERERTEGESRNZEETEN T
0.10% E4.10%( —F = =Z F:001% &
3.13%) 2 EFBEFEFIKETE -

SRR BRI T A AR IR RN 2% - R
DEARBEE - IBRFBITFERIZEETF
FE0I10%E190%(ZZE-_=F :1.10%
£1.70%) 58 o ZBRHIRITTFZOE PR FER
BIREE R o
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27.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

The following is an aged analysis of trade (including supplier
finance arrangements) and bills payables presented based on
the invoice date at the end of the reporting period:

27. FE(RRIA R HfthFE BRI

RIps AR B E A 25 2 REE (B
R EERE T ) REN EE S ER AT
m

2024 2023

“E-NE —TC=F

Trade Bills Trade Bills
payables payables Total payables payables Total
BRI ENRE &% FERTERIA NESE B
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TEL TR FEx TR TR T

|

Within 60 days 60 HA 2,771,151 776,954 3,548,105 2,458,940 1,000,437 3,459,377
61 to 90 days 61290H 691,444 73,074 764,518 463,837 315,106 778,943
More than 90 days #3890 H 871,002 1,184,110 2,055,112 975,872 767,263 1,743,135
4,333,597 2,034,138 6,367,735 3,898,649 2,082,806 5,981,455
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As at 31 December 2024, included in trade payables are trade
payables under supplier finance arrangements amounted to
HK$373,819,000 (2023: HK$404,557,000). In order to ensure
easy access to credit for its suppliers and facilitate early
settlement, the Group has entered into reverse factoring
arrangements that permit certain suppliers to obtain payment
from the banks for the amounts billed up to 120 days before
the invoice due date subject to a discount of up to 2.5% per
annum over HIBOR. The arrangement permits the banks to
early settle invoices up to HK$2,139,800,000. The discount
represents less than the trade discount for early repayment
commonly used in the market. The Group repays the banks
the full invoice amount on the scheduled payment date as
required by the invoice. As the arrangements do not permit
the Group to extend finance from banks by paying banks
later than the Group would have paid its supplier, the Group
considers amounts payable to banks should be classified
as trade and other payables. At the 31 December 2024,
8% of trade payables were amounts owed under these
arrangements.

The credit period on purchases of goods ranges from 60 to
90 days. The Group has financial risk management policies in
place to ensure that all payables are settled within the credit
time frame.
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27.

28.

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES (Continued)

Included in other payables are deposits received with
aggregate carrying amount of HK$10,365,000 (2023:
HK$12,711,000), accruals of operating expenses with
aggregate carrying amount of HK$366,406,000 (2023:
HK$381,013,000), payables for the acquisition of
property, plant and equipment with aggregate amount of
HK$306,235,000 (2023: HK$252,069,000), dividend payable
of HK$1,258,000 (2023: HK$1,258,000) and government
grants as detailed in note 38.

At 31 December 2024, other payables of HK$13,576,000
(2023: HK$26,697,000) relating to acquisition of property,
plant and equipment which will be settled in 2026 (2023:
2025) or after according to the contract terms and are
included in other payables classified as non-current liabilities.

The Group's trade and bills payables that are denominated
in currencies other than functional currencies of the relevant
group entities are set out below:

27.

FEMRRR HMERIR (2)

E R SRIE R IR AR E A 10,365,00058
TT(ZTE =4 :12,711,000/87T) 2 2 K
%<& BEREE 5366,406,000F T (=&
— =4 :381,013,000/8 7T ) Y EE R L B
FB - #8%85306,235,000/8 T (T - =
2mommm%m)2ﬁW%%¥ %5 &
R 2 FEATERIE - 1,258,000 (-2 =
F 1,258,000/%71:)Z}?EHHQE'\&W&SB
FE BB ERL ©

RZEZWF+ A =+—H B
Y- WERFZEE B EMmENRIR
13,676,000 L (=T = = 4 : %wmm
BT IRIBE S &Y ?MA_E_/\M =z
T=F ZECRF)RZBEE  WETA
%%EE#MEJEEE’JEMFEHU IE °

AEBNFHEEERNEEBEININZER
IMEZ ENRAERENRESHIIWT

2024
—E-MEF

2023
—E-=F
HK$'000
FHETT

HK$°000
FTET

Denominated in HK$ LA TTRHE 28,405 24,542
Denominated in JPY LARERHE 40,115 50,757
CONTRACT LIABILITIES 28. AR
The amounts represent advance payment from customers. ZEFBIERZPIENTIUE - NEE—KARE
The Group typically receives a 50% deposit on acceptance SHEEIERAETAERREREZERE
of manufacturing order and remaining 50% deposit before WEI50% 2 5] & » 0 A~ 2 5 B Uk B 65
delivery of products for customers assessed to be lower TB50% ©
creditability.
Revenue recognised during the year ended 31 December R RN EN B =F+ A =1+—

2024 and 2023 included the whole amount of contract
liabilities at the beginning of the year. There was no revenue
recognised during the year ended 31 December 2024 and
2023 that related to performance obligations that were
satisfied in prior year.

T ONEFR o FEREBRERAE

B FE R ZH&E’E%i?}]Z%%( #)
BE-BEZ_MOFER-_ZT_=F+-A
E—'—_Elingﬁﬁwuz%ﬁnjfﬂ/ﬁ&ﬁ/\tﬂz
EBRITZBHEE -
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28. CONTRACT LIABILITIES (Continued) 28. S¥AR A
As at 1 January 2023, contract liabilities amounted to RZE-_=F—AF—H A8HAEEAE
HK$375,110,000. 375,110,000 7T °
The decrease in contract liabilities balance as at 31 December NZT-_WNE+_A=+—H &HBELS
2024 is mainly due to decrease in advances received from BB EBERRNFRTNZREERIURD -

customers during the year.

29. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS 29. BITRHEMBER
2024 2023
—E-NUF —E=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FHET T
Bank loans RITER 5,520,186 5,781,376
Bills discounted with recourse P38 RIE A BLIR 25 14,485 -
Trust receipt loans ERBUEER 977,008 877,393
Other loans HEMER 144,374 16,667
6,656,053 6,675,436
Secured Vg 88,074 -
Unsecured e 4 6,567,979 6,675,436

6,656,053 6,675,436

The Group's bank and other borrowings AREBUEBEBREREDGEEE

that are denominated in currencies PAONZ BHEEBIME 2 $R1T R

other than the functional currencies EAEREINAT -

of the relevant group entities are set

out below:
Denominated in HK$ LA TTEHE 2,284,276 2,422,502
Denominated in JPY LAH E&HE 14,109 -
Denominated in RMB AARERHE - 54,850
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29. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued) 29. MITREMMBER )

Bank borrowings RITEM
2024 2023
—EC_E T4
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET T
Carrying amount repayable*: FESBREE *
Within one year R—FRN 5,265,176 4,210,409
More than one year, but not exceeding —FEERRMFENR
two years 224,083 1,437,681
More than two years, but not exceeding MFERERREFER
five years 45,412 133,286
5,534,671 5,781,376
Carrying amount of borrowings that MEEBEMTESEKRERESR
contain a repayment on demand EHREREE 2 ERZEAE :
clause (shown under current liabilities)
but repayable:
Within one year R—FR 977,008 877,393
6,511,679 6,658,769
Less: Amount included under current W FIRRBIAER 2B
liabilities (including bank loans with (BIEABRERERIER
a repayable on demand clause) ZIRITER)

(6,242,184) (5,087,802)

Amount due after one year shown under ERBIBEMR RN —FEEIH 2
non-current liabilities I 269,495 1,570,967
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29. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued) 29.

Other borrowings

BITRHEMER )
HAt &K

2024 2023
—ENE —E-=4F
HK$'000 HK$'000
FET FET
Carrying amount repayable*: FETEREE -
Within one year R—FR 33,678 16,667
More than one year, but not exceeding —FEERRMFENR
two years 36,713 -
More than two years, but not exceeding MFERERREFER
five years 73,983 -
144,374 16,667
Less: Amount included under current B FIRRB B ER 2B
liabilities (33,678) (16,667)
Amount due after one year shown EREBBETIN—FE
under non-current liabilities B3 2 B 110,696 -

* The amount due are based on scheduled repayment dates set out *
in loan agreements.

SIEIROB IR B R % 2 R A
5o

Total amounts of bank and other FIRA A N &IBF ZiR1T R

borrowings included under: HAith (G RERE -

Current liabilities mEAalE 6,275,862 5,104,469

Non-current liabilities ERBEE 380,191 1,670,967
6,656,053 6,675,436
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The Group's bank and other borrowings included fixed-
rate borrowings of approximately HK$1,027,950,000 (2023:
HK$1,043,174,000) which carry effective interest rates
ranged from 2.50% to 5.00% per annum (2023: 2.78% to
5.00%) (which are also equal to contracted interest rates).
The remaining Group’s bank and other borrowings are
variable-rate borrowings which carry interest at Hong Kong
Interbank Offered Rate (“HIBOR") or Benchmark Loan Rate
issued by the National Interbank Funding Center (“Benchmark
Loan Rate”) plus certain basis points. The range of effective
interest rates is at 0.62% to 6.70% (2023: 2.67% to 7.46%)
per annum.
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29. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued)

Trust receipt loans

The Group has entered into certain trust receipt loans with
banks. Under these arrangements, the banks pay suppliers
the amounts owed by the Group in advance of the original
due dates at a discount offered by the suppliers. The Group's
obligations to suppliers are legally extinguished on settlement
by the relevant banks. The Group then settles with the banks
between 30 and 120 days after settlement by the banks with
interest ranges from 2.10% to 6.18% (2023: 6.5% to 7.2%)
per annum, which may be extended beyond the original due
dates of respective invoices. The interest rates are consistent
with the Group’s short-term borrowing rates.

Taking into consideration of the nature and substance of
the above arrangements, the Group presents payables
to the banks under these arrangements as “borrowings”
in the consolidated statement of financial position. In the
consolidated statement of cash flows, repayments to the
banks are included within financing cash flows based on the
nature of the arrangements, and payments to the suppliers
by the banks are disclosed as non-cash transactions.

Syndicated term loan

In August 2022, the Group has obtained syndicated term
loan facilities in Hong Kong amounting to HK$1,360,000,000
and the final maturity date is in August 2025. The syndicated
term loan facilities have been subsequently increased to
HK$1,460,000,000 in February 2023. They are variable-
rate borrowings which carry interest at HIBOR plus 2%
per annum at 31 December 2024. Pursuant to the facility
agreement, it will be an event of default if Mr. Lam Wai Wah
1) does not or ceases to own directly or indirectly 25% of
the beneficial interest in the Company; 2) does not or ceases
to have management control over the Company; or 3) is not
or ceases to be the chairman of the Company. In addition,
the Group is required to comply with the following financial
covenants throughout the continuance of the syndicated term
loan and/or as long as the loan is outstanding:

o the consolidated tangible net worth shall not be less
than HK$8,000,000,000;

o the ratio of the consolidated net borrowings to the
consolidated tangible net worth shall not be more than
0.75:1, and

29.
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29. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS (Continued) 29. MITREMMBER )

Syndicated term loan (Continued) SREEHERE)

o the ratio of the consolidated net profit before interest, o BFE - FIE - TEREERSGAF
tax, depreciation and amortisation to the consolidated FEEZAEFNESTHZETBER
interest expenses shall not be less than 4.5:1. 45:1°

30. LEASE LIABILITIES 30. #HEAR
2024 AOAC]
—BomME  —To=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET FH&T
Lease liabilities payable: ERHEEAE :
Within one year —FR 9,994 4,200
Within a period of more than one year —FEBERRERN
but not more than two years 10,306 894
Within a period of more than two years MEEREBERAFA
but not more than five years 24,934 275
45,234 5,369
Less: Amount due for settlement with W ORBBEGER IRt _EAR
twelve months shown under I 2 R GRIE
current liabilities (9,994) (4,200)
Amount due for settlement after twelve  IERBIB G RAT 8 A B &Rt
months shown under non-current 2 EERFIR
liabilities 35,240 1,169
The Group's weighted average incremental borrowing rate for AREEHEEBENINEFEEEEETNERE
lease liabilities is 3.61% (2023: 7.05%) per annum. FBEIBI%(ZE-=%F:7.05%) °
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31. DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES 31. BRERRARE AR
The following is the analysis of the deferred tax balances for T 23N S JIEERIBASROTOT -

financial reporting purposes:

2024 VAOAC]
—EZ-mEF —E_=F
HK$'000 HK$'000
F#ET T
Deferred tax liabilities ELEFIEEE 155,844 156,124
Deferred tax assets EIEFRIE A (46,681) (47,193)
109,163 108,931
The following are the major deferred tax (assets) liabilities CEARFERBTFEANBRNEZELERIE
recognised and movements thereon during the current and (BE)BENMEZEZHWNT :
prior years:

Loss
available Undistributed
for offsetting ~ Accelerated  Write-down profits
against future tax for of the PRC Right-of- Lease
taxable profit  depreciation inventories  subsidiaries use assets liabilities

7 RtFE#
RRERH PENELT
ENZER  NMEHERE REME  AOEEN  ERERE BERE L
HK$'000 HKS000 HKS000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
TiEn TiEn TiEn TiEn TiEn TiEn TiEn

At 1 January 2023 RZEZ=F-F-H (180,790) 204273 62,176) 132,720 2,509 (2,509) 94,027
(Credi) charge toprofit —~ WEEBRR (HE) i
or loss for the year (37,479 37,39 11,646 3338 (2,160) 2,160 14,904
Asat31 December 2023  RZEZ=%
TZA=1-H (218,269) 241672 (50,530) 136,058 349 (349) 108,931
(Credit) charge to profit ~ REERAD (£8)
or loss for the year T8 (5,576) 5,501 2,628 (2.321) 3,326 (3,326) 22
Asat31December 2024 RZE-MAE+-F
=1-A (223,845) 247173 (47.902) 133,737 3,675 (3,675) 109,163
At 31 December 2024, the Group has unused tax losses RZZBE-_NMF+_A=+—"8 xE£ERNE
arising in Hong Kong amounting to HK$510,871,000 (2023: BELE A BHBEEREA510,871 ooo;‘%
HK$521,067,000) available indefinitely for offsetting against T (ZZE = =% :521,067,000/&7T) *
future profits of the companies in which the losses arose. No PREAFEH S IR B A T,kaﬂzmﬂ
deferred tax assets have been recognised in respect of these N-ZE-NER_E-_=F+_F=+—
tax losses arising in Hong Kong due to unpredictability of B HEnEEELANZERBEERRRE
future profit streams as at 31 December 2024 and 2023. ERIBEE @ BERAKR S B TEA o
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31.

176

DEFERRED TAX ASSETS/LIABILITIES (Continued)

At 31 December 2024, the Group has unused tax
losses arising in the PRC of HK$5,227,134,000 (2023:
HK$4,975,238,000) and such tax losses can be carried
forward for a period of five years or ten years which are
available for offsetting future profits. At 31 December
2024, deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of
HK$1,492,300,000 (2023: HK$1,455,127,000) of such tax
losses in the PRC. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of the remaining tax losses of HK$3,734,834,000
(2023: HK$3,520,111,000) due to unpredictability of
future profit streams. Included in unrecognised tax losses
arising in the PRC are losses of HK$203,313,000 (2023:
HK$260,022,000) that will gradually expire until 2029
(2023: expire until 2028) and HK$3,531,521,000 (2023:
HK$3,250,089,000) that will gradually expire until 2034 (2023:
expire until 2033).

Under the EIT Law of the PRC, withholding tax is imposed
on dividends declared in respect of profits earned by the
PRC subsidiaries from 1 January 2008 onwards. At 31
December 2024, deferred taxation has not been provided
for in the consolidated financial statements in respect of
temporary differences attributable to accumulated profits
of the PRC subsidiaries amounting to HK$2,212,523,000
(2023: HK$2,910,297,000) as the Group is able to control the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences and it is
probable that the temporary differences will not reverse in
the foreseeable future.
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32.

33.

SHARE CAPITAL

32.

Bz %

Number
of shares

RIGEE

Amount

=8

HK$'000
TAT

Ordinary shares of HK$0.02 per share FIEE0.02B T Bk
Authorised: VETE

Balance at 1 January 2023,
31 December 2023 and
31 December 2024

= __

EA_Z:_E—H—EI
=Ft+ZA=t+—RHk
—FoNFE+-A=t+—H

LB ER 5,000,000,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: E%’i—‘?ﬁ&%{i :
Balance at 1 January 2023, E’\\_ S-=F—HF—A-
31 December 2023 and T =F+-A=+t—H8K
31 December 2024 —EoUF+=ZA=1+—H 3,161,105,398 63,222

All the shares issued or repurchased by the Company rank
pari passu with the then existing ordinary shares in all
respects.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities
in the Group will be able to continue as going concern
while maximising the return to shareholders through the
optimisation of the debt and equity balance.

The capital structure of the Group consists of net debt, which
includes the borrowings and lease liabilities disclosed in notes
29 and 30 respectively, net of cash and cash equivalents, and
equity comprising issued share capital and reserves.

The Directors review the capital structure periodically. The
Directors consider the cost of capital and the risks associates
with the capital, and will balance its overall capital structure
through the payment of dividends, new share issues of the
Company and share buy-backs as well as raising of bank
borrowings.

The Group's overall strategy remains unchanged from the
prior year.

33.
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

178

Categories of financial instruments

34. £@MTA

ERMIEDE
2024 2023
—EmE —E =4

HK$°000 HK$'000
FTET TAT

Financial assets THEE
Financial assets at amortised cost
Financial assets at FVTOCI

REBHERAY R S REE
REA 2R S IA R FEEDER

4,948,718 4,714,091

ZEMEE 1,185,198 619,109
Financial assets at FVTPL REZUAFEENEZEREE 35,475 4,220
6,169,391 5,337,420
Financial liabilities THEE
Amortised cost B SR AR 14,084,745 13,535,202
Financial risk management objectives and SREREERERBX

policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
restricted bank deposits, cash and cash equivalents,
trade and other receivables, trade and bills receivables
at FVTOCI, financial assets at FVTPL, trade and other
payables, bank and other borrowings, amount due from/
to an associate and lease liabilities. Details of these
financial instruments are disclosed in respective notes.

The risks associated with these financial instruments
and the policies on how to mitigate these risks are set
out below. The management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures are
implemented in a timely and effective manner.
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 34. £MIRE)
b. Financial risk management objectives and b. ¢RERAKREEBEERIXKE)

policies (Continued)

Market risk 3% B B

The Group's activities expose primarily to the financial REE 7 ¥ T ERI R R &INEE

risks of changes in interest rates, foreign currency RBEHES R AR EREE R

exchange rates and change in prices (see below). (RT3 -

(i)  Foreign currency risk (i) MR
The Group undertakes certain transactions AEBZATRGUINETE -
denominated in foreign currencies which are ZEINE BB EEERBRE
different from US$ and RMB, the functional METRARBUAIINER o

currency of the respective group entities.

The carrying amount of the Group’'s monetary RMEBH - UABESEERED
assets, monetary liabilities and inter-group BEEEIINEBFEZAERE
receivables and payables denominated in MEE SEEaBEMEERNEK
currencies other than the functional currency of FOB N EMFBZEREENT

the relevant group entities at the reporting date
are as follows:

Liabilities Assets

&f& aE
2024 2023 2024 2023

—ECoNE —_E-=F —ZE-NE —_E_=4F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
FET AT TERT TATT

The Group AEH

HK$ BT 2,315,205 2,448,938 291,704 68,611
JPY H 60,980 55,484 5,955 7,137
RMB AR - 54,850 21,015 1,750
UsD =T - - 160,873 190,016
Inter-company AT B

balances

HK$ BT 5,966,136 5,883,166 5,896,642 6,761,053
RMB AR 592,317 316,835 1,895,552 1,028,058
usb =T 109,664 480,301 405,172 105,948
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives and b.
policies (Continued)

34. &£MTH (&)
ctREREEEERBE(EZ)

180

Market risk (Continued) i R (&)
(i) Foreign currency risk (Continued) (i) pEEEBE ()
Sensitivity analysis HRRE T

The following table indicates the approximate
change in the Group's profit after tax for the
year in response to reasonably possible change
in the functional currency of the relevant group
entities i.e. US$ or RMB to the relevant currencies
which the Group has significant exposure at the
reporting date. Since HK$ are pegged to US$
under the Linked Exchange Rate System, the
management does not expect significant foreign
currency exposure in relation to the exchange rate
fluctuation between HK$ and US$. The Group
mainly exposes to foreign currency risks other
than USS$.

TRETHENERESEER Y
REB(AETHARKE) LA
SERHEAmHEEARRZH
EMAREH R AEES - M
ERAKENFEHIRIB NI PIE
EZBAOES - AR RBHEE
KH|EATET TS EEE
BT e HREMBITEETE
KRE 2 EAINERR - KEH
ERARERTTAININE Z B

2024 AOAC]

—E-E == =i
US$/RMB Increase US$/RMB Increase
strengthens (decrease) strengthens  (decrease)
(weakens) in profit (weakens) in profit

e Ern/

AR gl AREE il
HFE(RE) ®|MOHED) AEEZE) BNCHDS)
HK$°000 HK$'000
FET T
JPY H 7% (3,250) 3% (1,183)
(7%) 3,250 (3%) 1,183
RMB AR 7% 78,209 3% 16,109
(7%) (78,209) (3%) (16,109)
usD ETT 7% 26,953 3% (4,512)
(7%) (26,953) (3%) 4,512

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis
is unrepresentative of the inherent foreign
exchange risk as the year end exposure does not
reflect the exposure during the year.
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(ii)

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate
risk in relation to fixed-rate bank deposits, fixed-
rate bank and other borrowing and lease liabilities.
The Group is also exposed to cash flow interest
rate risk due to the fluctuation of the prevailing
market interest rate on bank balances and variable-
rate bank and other borrowings (see notes 26 and
29 for details). The Group's cash flow interest
rate risk is mainly concentrated on the fluctuation
of HIBOR arising from the Group’s HK$ and USD
denominated borrowings and the fluctuation of
Benchmark Loan Rate arising from the Group's
RMB denominated borrowings. The management
considers the exposure to interest rate risk in
relation to bank balances is insignificant due to the
low interest rate. The Group currently does not
use any derivative contract to hedge its exposure
to interest rate risk. However, the management
of the Company will consider hedging significant
interest rate exposure should the need arise.

34. &£MTH (&)
b. £RERSEEEREEE)

5 B (&)

(i) FE & Bz
NEEBERERFEBEMNER
B ZERETESHRITER T
BERETEEMEFRALREESR
& NREBIFBAERSTERN
RER - ZEBTIREBRITET
Mo BARITHE AR H b & 3
(FHIBERME26K%29) 2|17
BHEEE)  c AEBZEESRE
IR @B R A AN ERE BT 3k
TEHEZER  EEBEFRES
RITRIEFRB 2 EE  MARER
SEUARBEZMER - BE
BEPREREEFR 2 -
ARFERAERKERE AT
BERARITETZHEEFER
Badl NEK o AL BRI
PRAEAILT A A 49 LA % b H F 2 [,
o R AATIEEEBERE
EEREETEAFRER
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

182

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Market risk (Continued)

(ii)

iii)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analyses below have been
determined based on the exposure to interest
rates for variable-rate bank borrowings. The
analysis is prepared assuming the amount of
liability outstanding at the reporting period was
outstanding for the whole year. A 100 basis point
(2023: 100 basis point) increase or decrease
is used which represents management'’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in
interest rates.

If interest rates had been 100 basis points
(2023: 100 basis point) higher/lower and all other
variables were held constant, the Group's post-
tax profit for the year ended 31 December 2024
would decrease/increase by HK$47,486,000 (2023:
HK$45,954,000).

Other price risks

The Group is exposed to equity price risk arising
from investments in listed equity securities
measured at FVTPL.

Price risk sensitivity analysis
The sensitivity analyses below have been
determined based on the exposure to equity price
risks at the reporting period.

If equity prices had been 15% (2023: 15%) higher/
lower, the post-tax profit for the year ended 31
December 2024 would increase/decrease by
HK$4,490,000 (2023: HK$516,000) as a result
of the changes in fair value of financial assets at
FVTPL.
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment

As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Group's
maximum exposure to credit risk which will cause a
financial loss to the Group due to failure to perform
an obligation by the counterparties is arising from the
carrying amount of the respective recognised financial
assets as stated in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

The Group had concentration of credit risk as 9% (2023:
9%) of total trade receivables was due from the Group's
largest trade debtor, which is a company located in the
PRC.

In order to minimise credit risk, the management of the
Group promptly monitors determination of credit limits,
credit approvals and other reviewing procedures to
ensure that follow-up action is taken to recover overdue
debts. In addition, the Group performs impairment
assessment under ECL model on trade balances
individually or based on provision matrix. In this regard,
the Directors consider that the Group’s credit risk is
significantly reduced.

The credit risk on liquid funds is limited because the
counterparties are banks with good reputation.

With respect of credit risk arising from other receivables,
the Group performs impairment assessment under ECL
individually for significant and credit-impaired balances
and collectively for the remaining balances. For the
collective assessment, the balances are grouped based
on shared credit risk characteristics by reference to
the Group's internal credit ratings. The Group has
considered the consistently low historical default rate
in connection with payments, and concluded that credit
risk inherent in the Group’s remaining outstanding other
receivables that are not credit-impaired is insignificant.
In addition, other receivables consist of a large number
of counterparties which do not give rise to significant
concentration of credit risk.

34. &£MTH (&)

b.

“EPUFFIR e

CREMEERBRRBEE)

ERERRBETE

R-ZFE-_WNER-_FT_=F+_H
=t—H AEERERYTF T REET
HEEMERAKELRYBERZ
FERRLER  SHEBRCEREHE
ERGEEMBINA KA ZREE -

REBHENEWRE 5 8RR IEMSL EUER
A2 9% (ZFE-_=F :9%) ' ik
AEEBZEERBEFR - AEBZ&
RNEWE FRFRE —BA AR

A

REEERRBAESK AEEERE
BREEBEELR FEH#ZRE
fEZREFOETE - NHERRIIRE
T BB REE - I AEEE
REMERBREN S AR B HERE
4 PR W BR SR AE BRAE 1T (B B RE FFAA -

UM E  EERRAKEZEER
BE R
HREFHHAREEEBEZRIT R
PETZEERBRBR -

SREMERKSEELEZ EERRTS
AEBERBEEMERBREEARE
BRI E SR E B HETTRERE - X
HRSAERERETRENG -
SRAEMS  HERDSEAKE
ZARMEERA - mAREERRR
BB - AEECE B ENREH
ELENRFERE  LR/EAE
B8 T B BRI E R R EEEMEK
FEMEEEERBRIKA - I B
L & Iﬁ}(éy%lﬂﬁiﬁiﬁﬁ
ERBETERZEFT -

EANERERAT 183



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e MEERME

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2024 » HZ_Z_NF+_A=+—ALEFE

34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
b.

184

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
The Group's internal credit risk grading assessment
comprises the following categories:

Internal
credit rating

AEEE R

Group B

B#

Group C

cH

Group D

D

Group E

EX

Description

15

The counterparty has a low risk of default based
on historical repayment record and has a good
reputation

REBEENGS  HFHZENRRRE B
BRRIFBE

The counterparty has higher creditability but
sometime repays after due dates

HFTARRSEE  EEREBRHER

The counterparty usually settles after due date
with a higher risk of default
HFHTRFTRIMARETEE  EHNEARK

n|]|r

53

There is evidence indicating the asset is credit-
impaired

AEBBTAELREERE

There is evidence indicating that the debtor is in
severe financial difficulty and the Group has no
realistic prospect of recovery

CiENTE e
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34. &£MTH (&)

b. LHREAREEBEEREE#E)

EEERRRERTE(E)
AEB AR EERRFATHEERE

AR

Trade receivables

FE W fRIE

Lifetime ECL -
not credit-impaired

EHRHERELR —
BEERE

Lifetime ECL -
not credit-impaired
FHTREEREL —
EEERE

Lifetime ECL -
not credit-impaired
FHRBEREL —
EEERE
Lifetime ECL -
credit-impaired
THIREGEREL —
BEERE

Amount is written off

MHAREEE

Other financial
assets/other item

HitemEE
Htd g

12m ECL -
not credit-impaired

R2EARRERER —
BEERE

12m ECL -
not credit-impaired
12 AFEEEREL —
EEERE

Lifetime ECL -
not credit-impaired
FHEBERREL —
EEERE
Lifetime ECL -
credit-impaired
THIREGEREL —
BEERE

Amount is written off

MIHBHEETER
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 34. £MIRE)
b. Financial risk management objectives and b. ¢RERAKREEBEERIXKE)
policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) EEERRBETE(E)
The tables below detail the credit risk exposures of TEHEME L AEEBETELSER
the Group's financial assets which are subject to ECL BEIEZeREEMAS ZZER
assessment: B

External Internal Gross carrying
Notes creditrating credit rating 12m or lifetime ECL amount
Wi SHBEEIR ABEETR 12@ARXHEHERARE FHAE
2024 2023

“ECME —Z-=F
HK$'000  HK$'000
TERT TAEL

Financial assets at FVTOCI
REMZEAREALTEEIRZ

tREE
Trade receivables 24 NJA (Note i) Lifetime ECL (provision matrix) 199,349 19,305
JEMERTE TR i) PHEACREL (BEER)
Bills receivables 24 A1-Bal N/A 12m ECL 985,849 599,804
EREE oyl REAEREREX
Financial assets at amortised cost
RBERATEZEREE
Restricted bank deposits 26 A2-Baal N/A 12m ECL 502,066 582,856
RBHRITER oyl REAEREREX
Bank balances 26 A2-Bal N/A 12m ECL 1,034,784 802,047
BRI TER NEARHERER
Amount due from an associate 25 NA Group A 12m ECL 392 8,828
JEM & A RIFIE NER A REAEREREX
Trade receivables 23 N/A (Note i) Lifetime ECL (provision matrix) 3,388,661 3,330,238
JEMERTE TR i) PHEACREL (BEER)
Group D Lifetime ECL (credit-impaired) 7,535 19,052
D PHBEHERBL(EERNE)
Other receivables 23 N/A (Note i) 12m ECL 40,572 17,463
bR TEm GiED) NEARHERER
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

186

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)
Notes:

i For trade receivables, the Group has applied the simplified
approach in HKFRS 9 to measure the loss allowance at
lifetime ECL. Except for debtors which are credit-impaired,
the Group determines the expected credit losses on these
items by using a provision matrix, grouped by debtors’
aging.

ii. For the purposes of internal credit risk management, the
Group uses past due information to assess whether credit
risk has increased significantly since initial recognition.

As part of the Group’s credit risk management, the
Group uses debtors’ aging to assess the impairment
for its customers because these customers consist of
a large number of small customers with common risk
characteristics that are representative of the customers’
abilities to pay all amounts due in accordance with
the contractual terms. The following table provides
information about the exposure to credit risk for trade
receivables which are assessed based on provision
matrix as at 31 December 2024 within lifetime ECL (not
credit-impaired). As at 31 December 2024, the debtors
with credit-impaired amounted to HK$7,535,000 (2023:
HK$19,052,000) are assessed individually, and the
rest of debtors amounted to HK3,388,661,000 (2023:
HK$3,330,238,000) are assessed under a provision
matrix based on internal credit rating.
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EEERRRERTE(E)
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REKRTEEERER - REREERE
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EHERBEX -

i. RABEERBERMS  AREEA
BEER T HERRR B TS HERIAR
BEREEM -

EAAEEFERREEESY R
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 34. &I R (&)
b. Financial risk management objectives and b. ¢RERAKREEBEERIXKE)
policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) EEERRBETE(E)
Gross carrying amount FREiEE
2024
“ECmE
Average Trade Loss Average Loss
lossrate receivables  allowance loss rate allowance
ToERE  EKEE  BREG  TOBEX TEERT BEkE
HK$'000 HK$'000
THER THER
Current (not past due) BN (R ) 021% 2,859,901 6,006 036% 2,851,956 10,267
1-60 days past due B#H1Z60A 0.33% 331,439 1,094 0.48% 276,201 1,326
61-90 days past due B#H61E908 3.45% 40,457 1,395 2.48% 36,270 899
More than 90 days past due E #8901 F 6.13% 156,864 9,618 9.10% 165,811 15,093
3,388,661 18,113 3,330,238 27,585

The estimated loss rates are estimated based on
historical observed default rates over the expected
life of the debtors and are adjusted for forward-
looking information that is available without undue
cost or effort. The grouping is regularly reviewed by
management to ensure relevant information about
specific debtors is updated.

In the opinion of the Directors, the trade receivables at
the end of the reporting period which have been past
due over 90 days are not considered as in default based
on good repayment records for those customers and
continuous business relationship with the Group.

T ONEFR o FEREBRERAE

5T B 1B R Ty iR U AR SR TR AT 5 18
NEEMBZBTENTETHE
VLB BN BTV ERALE HRA]
ESZABEEERMEL AR - BEE
E BT A B BRI RS E e
WHRK Z R E M BRI EF -

EERA REEHRESEH0AH MK
EZRURERBEDERZEEFP 2R
BERLBEREEEARERFEZED
ERBEM TR SRR
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b. Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued)

Gross carrying amount (Continued)

Movement in the allowance for impairment of trade
receivables

34. &£MTH (&)

b. LHREAREEBEEREE#E)

EEERRRERTE(E)
RREAEME ()
JEWER IR B (B 7 5 2 &)

Lifetime ECL Lifetime ECL
(not credit- (credit-
impaired) impaired)
2 HITEH ZHITEH
EREBEX SREX
(BEERE) (FEEHEE) #st
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
AT 4T
As at 1 January 2023 RZE—=F—H—H 30,094 19,230 49,324
Changes due to financial R-E-_=F—H—H
instruments recognised ERer TASIEZ
as at 1 January 2023: )
— Transfer to credit- —EBREEERE
impaired (1) 1 -
— Impairment losses — EERREBE
recognised 3,047 160 3,207
— Impairment losses — BB EREBE
reversed (23,965) (65) (24,030)
New financial assets originated #7144 & E 18,653 - 18,653
Written off g - (84) (84)
Exchange realignment PE Wi F (243) (190) (433)
As at 31 December 2023 RZZE-=F
+=—A=+—H 27,585 19,052 46,637
Changes due to financial RZE—=F
instruments recognised +=—A=+—8H
as at 31 December 2023: WREMITASEY
— Impairment losses — BHERREEE
recognised 173 218 391
— Impairment losses — B EREBE
reversed (17,052) (2,348) (19,400)
New financial assets originated i e EE 7,611 - 7,611
Written off I 5H - (9,168) (9,168)
Exchange realignment PEE 3, =K (204) (219) (423)
As at 31 December 2024 RZE_NF
+=-—A=+—H 18,113 7,535 25,648
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 34. &I R (&)
b. Financial risk management objectives and b. ¢RERAKREEBEERIXKE)
policies (Continued)
Credit risk and impairment assessment (Continued) EEERRBETE(E)
Gross carrying amount (Continued) REEE (&)
Movement in the allowance for impairment of trade JEYWBRIE R (B HE 1B 2 BB (4B )
receivables (Continued)
Changes in the loss allowance for trade receivables are FEWERTEEEREEDHEZHMN ¢

mainly due to:

2024 2023
nt- S 3 “ZC=F
(Decrease) increase (Decrease) increase
in lifetime ECL in lifetime ECL
ZHREGERABACEL) BN 2HBHEREXCAL)EN
Not credit- Credit- Not credit- Credit-
impaired impaired impaired impaired
EEERE BiEERE EEERE BiEERE
HK$000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THT THT THT THT
Trade receivables with RRLEATZY
gross carrying amount of EWEREE(ZE-_=4F:
Nil (2023: HK$86,000) 86,0008 7T) R &
defaulted and transferred to BREEEERE
creditimpaired - - ) 1
New trade receivables with FEBEs
gross carrying amount of 3,011,028,000 % 75
HK$3,011,028,000 (ZZ==%:
(2023: HK$3,012,731,000) 3,012,731,000%7L) 2
HEWERR 7,611 - 18,653 -

Settlement of trade receivables ~ AERELEA
with gross carrying amount of 2,348,000/ 7T

HK$2,348,000 (Z2==%:
(2023: HK$65,000) 65,000 7) #)
RN - (2,348) - (65)

The Group writes off a trade receivable when there is EAERBETRER EET B o E
information indicating that there is no realistic prospect WERTB A HA O A RS - AN [E i 88 /B Uk
of recovery or when the trade receivables are long BRI
overdue.
No allowance for impairment of other receivables have REZMEEE  TEGSEMEKRZE
been made in both years. VE R B R -
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

190

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk

As at 31 December 2024, the Group’s current liabilities
exceeded its current assets by approximately HK$5,667
million (2023: HK$4,133 million). For the year ended 31
December 2024, the Group generated a net profit of
approximately HK$247 million and generated operating
cash flows of approximately HK$7,723 million. As at
31 December 2024, total cash and cash equivalents of
approximately HK$1,035 million were held by the Group
and unutilised bank facilities amounted to approximately
HK$3,520 million were available. In the opinion of the
Directors, the Group expects to continue to generate
positive operating cash flows in the coming twelve
months.

Based on the aforesaid factors, the Directors are
satisfied that the Group will have sufficient financial
resources to meet in full its financial obligations as
and when they fall due for the foreseeable future.
Accordingly, the consolidated financial statements have
been prepared on a going concern basis.

The Group's liquidity position is monitored closely by
the management of the Company.
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

b.

Financial risk management objectives and
policies (Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors
its current and expected liquidity requirements regularly
and ensuring sufficient liquid cash and adequate
committed lines of funding from reputable financial
institutions to meet the Group's liquidity requirements
in the short and long term. The management of the
Company also monitors the forecast and maintains a
level of cash and cash equivalents adequate to finance
the Group’s operations and mitigate the effects of
fluctuations in cash flows.

The following table details the Group’'s remaining
contractual maturity for its non-derivative financial
liabilities. The table has been drawn up based on the
undiscounted cash flows of financial liabilities based on
the earliest date on which the Group can be required
to pay. Specifically, bank loans with a repayment on
demand clause are included in the earliest time band
regardless of the probability of the banks choosing to
exercise their rights. The table includes both interest
and principal cash flow. To the extent that interest flows
are floating rates, the undiscounted amount is derived
from interest rate at the end of the reporting period.

34. &£MTH (&)

b.

CREMEERBRRBEE)

RBEEER(E)
REERBDESARE - AEBETEH
ERAEBRLEMRABESH R A
BREERARZABRE NEREE
BEZERMBBZRAGERE U
MEARENERMERARDESH
Ke AprRlEBEENSEBERM ki
RARZAERREFERBKE
IRAEE 2 &ERHEES RRIER
ERERBZITE -

TERAAZINAKREFTESRAR
ZHRBANFY - ZRREAEEA
WEFER 2 ZFARRERAEL
AFRBAEREMRE - LBME -
B REREE R RITEFIGT
AR ZHR - TwWRITERTER
FMzBESE - ZREENERESE
REnE - WMABREZNIHME
AERAIRFARSBIRERSE AR
ZHIEE -
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 34. £MIRE)
b. Financial risk management objectives and b. ¢RERAKREEBEERIXKE)
policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) RBEEER(E)

)] Total Carrying
Weighted  demand or undiscounted amount
average 0to3 7-12 1-2 23 Over cash at
interest rate months months years years 3 years flows 31 December
Rt=A
g REXIE tE ESit:] =1-A
TR 2Zfif  DEAER =R b 3t:3 ZEZE BB=F RERELR ZIEEfE
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
% TEn TEn Thn TEn Tn TEn TEn TEn
I ——————————————————————————

2024 S 1:3
Non-derivative instruments FiiEIE
Trade and other payables EREERE RS 6,877,595 - - 13576 - - 68911 6,891,171
Amount due to an associate ERBERRZE 537,521 - - - - - 537,521 537,521
Fixed interest rate bank horrowings £ B {T1EH 3.85 529,398 192,442 131,141 99,350 67,686 37424 1,064,047 1,027,950
Variable interest rate bank BERIREMER

and other borrowings 456 2,661,895 1,146,155 1,716,667 178912 21,401 - 5,785,030 5,628,103
Lease lbities BERE 361 2891 2879 5,744 11577 9,053 17507 49,651 45,234

10,609,300 1,341,476 120,158 303415 98,140 54931 14327420 14129979

On Total Carrying

Weighted demand or undiscounted amount
average 0t03 4-6 7-12 QOver cash at
interest rate months months months 3 years flows 31 December

mEAEA =

000 HKS'000 (' HKS' 000 HK$'000

L T L Thn BT T
223 - S 3
Non-derivative instruments FiiEIE
Trade and other payables ERRERAERNE 6414576 - - 26,697 - - 64m 6,441,273
Amount due to an associate ERBLEAZE 418493 - - - - - 418493 418493
Fixed interest rate bank borowings & /7450 371 615,835 122526 26193 52216 3424 - 10B1IM 1043174

Variable interest rate bank EEBIREMER
and other borrowings 536 3,012,679 969,144 329,906 1,461,618 131, - 5,905,058 5,632,262
Lease liabilities HERE 12 3312 361 726 977 29% - 5672 5369

10,464,8% 1,092,031 566,825 1541508 166,431 - 13821690 13540571
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

34. &£MTH (&)

b. Financial risk management objectives and b. 2MEMRETEEERBEK(E)
policies (Continued)
Liquidity risk (Continued) RBEEER(E)

Bank loans with a repayment on demand clause is
included in the “on demand or 0 to 3 months” time
band in the above maturity analysis. The aggregate
carrying amounts of these bank loans amounted to
HK$977,009,000 (2023: HK$877,393,000). Taking into
account the Group's financial position, the Directors
do not believe that it is probable that the banks will
exercise their discretionary rights to demand immediate
repayment. The Directors believe that such bank loans
will be repaid within six months (2023: six months)
after the end of the reporting period in accordance with
the scheduled repayment dates set out in the loan
agreements, details of which are set out in the table
below:

BEREREZBKRZBITERG
AL AN RERSLTE=A
BIEEAR - ZE5RTERZEAL
& /4977,009,000/8 (=T = =
877,393,000/ 70) - E R EI AL EH
HARR - BEERARIT T RATREITE
BIEEERABER - EERAZS
RITERBGIRBE K s T H 8
MERFEHREASAEA(ZZE ==
F:XEA)EE  BEFBIEIRT
=

Maturity Analysis — Bank loans with a repayment on demand clause based on scheduled repayments

HHA - REFEBRATRERRERTLBTER

Total

Over3 undiscounted
years cash outflows
bt

2E=ER MEAER tET-EA -EmF  ZESF BBSF RENMAR REE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HK§'000 HKS'000
AT AT AL ThRL TER Thn T T

0to3 46 112 1-2 23
months months months years years

Carrying
amount

31 December 2024 “E-RET-AST-B 917,736

74,610

992,406 977,009

31 December 2023 “E-CELCASH-B 794,486

100,490

894,976 877,393

The Group entered into supplier finance arrangement
to ease access to credit for its suppliers and facilitate
early settlement to the suppliers. Only small portion of
the Group’s borrowings is subject to supplier finance
arrangements. Therefore, the management does not
consider the supplier finance arrangement result in
significant liquidity risk of the Group. Details of the
arrangements are set out in note 29.

T ONEFR o FEREBRERAE

AEEIIHERRERS  UWHE
HHEBIGEE  YiREHERER
BREE - AEBEER/NBDERZH
FERBELZYERTARIR - Bt - BRE
RAREERELH I /AARES
REARBESER - BEARFNF
BRI FE 29 -
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

c. Fair value measurements of financial

instruments

34. &I R(#)

C.

This note provides information about how the Group
determines fair values of various financial assets and

financial liabilities.

(i)  Fair value of the Group's financial assets and financial
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring

basis

The Group’s financial assets at FVTPL and trade
and bills receivables at FVTOCI are measured at
fair value at the end of each reporting period. The
following table gives information about how the
fair values of these financial assets and financial

liabilities are determined.

Financial assets/
financial liabilities

SREE/SHAR

Financial assets at FVTPL — listed

equity shares

REEUDFEEIIR SREAE

— B EEaER

Trade and bills receivables
at FVTOCI

REMZERENATFEEIRZ

EUEREREREE

Fair value as at

RATREZAVEE

31 December
2024
“ECNE
+ZA=t-H
Assets -
HK$35,475,000
BE -
35,475,000 % 1T

Assets -

HK$1,185,198,000

BE -
1,185,198,000 78 7t

31 December
2023

Assets -
HK$4,220,000
BE—
4,220,000/ 70

Assets -

HK$619,109,000

EE—
619,109,000 7T

Note: The discounted cash flow method uses only

observable market inputs.

There is no transfer between different levels of
the fair value hierarchy for the current year.
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RERERR - AEE 2R ER
UAFEEIRZEREEIR
REM 2 ERRIARTFEET R
Z M ARIA N BIRE B TR AT
BEE - TRABEENAETE
HEEREENEMBEZAY
BEZER-

Fair value Valuation techniques
hierarchy and key inputs
ALEEBALE HEFERIZAAYE

Level 1 Quoted bid prices in an
active market
1 WNEBTS 2 RE
Level 2 Discounted cash flow method

The key input is market
interest rate.
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 34.

c. Fair value measurements of financial c.

®MTIRE)
EMITAZAVEESEE)

instruments (Continued)

(i)  Fairvalue of the Group's financial assets and financial
liabilities that are measured at fair value on a recurring

basis (Continued)

Fair value hierarchy as at 31 December 2024 and 2023

Level 1
F14
HK$'000
TR

(i) BEREREEULATEENEZLX
SEcHMEEREMARZIAT
BE(E)
R-F-MFR-F-=ZF+=
A=t—HZAFEEEREE

2024
—s-mf
Level 2
F24
HK$'000
TR

Level 3 Total
£33 &F
HK$'000 HK$'000
TET TEx

Financial assets SREE
Financial assets at FVTPL  RMEZUAATEE
Nz eRERE 35,475 - - 35,475
Trade and bills receivables P E A 2 E WA
at FVTOCI NEEEIRS
FEURBRIE I I 1B - 1,185,198 - 1,185,198
35,475 1,185,198 - 1,220,673

Level 1

F1E
HK$' 000

S —
BT

Total
ast
HK$' 000
T

Level 3
EIR
HK$' 000
BT

Level 2
F2h
HK$'000
T

Financial assets SREE
Financial assets at FVTPL ~ RBHLATEE
SBRz SREE 4,220 - - 4,220
Trade and bills receivables R EC4 2 B ES A
at FVTOCI NFEETEZ
FEUERIE R BN S 1& - 619,109 - 619,109
4,220 619,109 - 623,329
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34. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 34. &#MIAE)
c. Fair value measurements of financial c. TEMIEZAFEEEE)
instruments (Continued)

(ii)  Fair value of the Group's financial assets and financial (i) WFFEEEEUNTEESE
liabilities that are not measured at fair value on a ZAEBEHMEERERAREZ
recurring basis (but fair value disclosures are required) NP EER(EEEHATEEERK

&)
As at 31 December 2024 and 2023, the Directors R -WNFER T - =F+—
consider that the carrying amounts of all the A=1—H E5RBREEH
financial assets and financial liabilities recorded BT IZEIEKATIEE 2T A S
at amortised cost in the consolidated financial MEENTREBGEZERAERL
statements approximate their fair values. NEERS -
35. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS 35. EEHVKIE

The Group as lessor AEBEERBEEA

Rental income with fixed monthly rentals earned from RAFE WMENUNBTETAERERZ2HES

property during the year amounted to HK$23,451,000 (2023: W A £&23,451,00058 jo( — & — = F:

HK$19,478,000). 19,478,000/ L)

Certain properties held for rental purposes have committed AETEEERASR ZEIK=ZFEHRESD

leases for the next three years (2023: four years). AECHE (DS =& : [UF) -

Minimum lease payments receivable on leases are as follows: UTNAERE 7 ZEERHES IR :

2024 2023
—E-E —E-=4F

HK$"000 HK$'000
FTET TAT

Within one year —FR 6,099 6,916
In the second year NE—F 1,403 6,618
In the third year RE=F 130 1,362
In the fourth year REMF = 226

7,632 15,122
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36.

37.

38.

COMMITMENTS

Capital expenditure contracted for but

36.

iz

2024
—E-QUE

2023
—E-=F
HK$'000
TAETT

HK$°000
FERT

LB R - BERERBERTAH

not provided in the consolidated BAREHFEVBHREPREEZ

financial statements in respect of BARYH

acquisition of property, plant and

equipment 293,118 345,819
RETIREMENT BENEFITS SCHEMES 37. BFiEFIEHE

All of the Group’'s Hong Kong employees are required to
join the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme. The Group is
required to contribute 5%, while the employees are required
to contribute 5% of their salaries to the scheme to the
maximum of HK$1,500 (2023: HK$1,500) per month for each
employee.

According to the relevant laws and regulations in the PRC,
the PRC subsidiaries are required to contribute a certain
percentage of the salaries of their employees to the state-
managed retirement benefit scheme. The only obligation of
the Group with respect to the retirement benefit scheme is
to make the required contributions under the scheme. Total
expense recognised in profit or loss are disclosed in note 11.

GOVERNMENT GRANTS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, incentive
subsidies of HK$78,991,000 (2023: HK$48,530,000) have
been received in the current year to encourage the operations
of the PRC subsidiaries for the development on advance
technology and export sales, while PRC value-added tax
reduction subsidies of HK$57,151,000 (2023: Nil) have been
deducted in tax payable. The subsidiaries have complied with
application rules of the incentives and, therefore, the Group
recognised the grants in profit or loss.

38.

T ONEFR o FEREBRERAE

KEBZ2BEAREEHBLINBHIEQTE
T8 REEBIEHS% HR - MEB IR
BEZTEWER EFMo% 25 §4E
BrEARFZEA16008T( =T ==
F:1,500/87T) °

RETEBREEEAM - FEIMERRA
AE 5B I MR INR A ET EE LR E RN (B
BHME T BO L Z R - NEEBLEKE
NEtBIpT B 2 BEE AW LA EIEH AR
Ko MIBER P RER AL SEM 113K EE -

BT ARG

BE-_Z-_NF+-_A=+—HItFE &K
F 2B U E S EhERE 78,991,0008 L (=&
— = : 48,530,000/ 7T ) + LA S B B R
BRARMEERRLERMEEOHEE - m
fh B E FR e #BE 57,151,000 T (=&
ZEF - E)EREMNFEERNR - Z5H
BRARIEETHEBESE 2 EARA - Hlt
REBERIBEERE BEA -
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39.

40.

198

RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES

The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities
arising from financing activities, including both cash and non-
cash changes. Liabilities arising from financing activities are
those for which cash flows were, or future cash flows will
be, classified in the Group’s consolidated statement of cash
flows as cash flows from financing activities.

39.

MEGTDRELARZHIE

TRANAEBERMELDHELABECE
B BREASNIFRSED - MELTHME
EFREDNRERECHARRESRESNA
SEGARERERIERREEHELZ
REmE -

Bank
and other Lease Dividend Interest
borrowings liabilities payable payable Total
RITR
Hitrfe HEaE EfRE EfFIE &t
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T THL THEL ThEr THL
(note 29) (note 30)

(Fit3E29) 30)
|
At 1 January 2023 RZZEZ=4-f—H 7,265,527 147,279 1,258 13,745 7,427,809
Financing cash flows BERGNE (3,739,590) (63,142) (316,110) (385,680) (4,504,522)
Currency realignment ERRR (83,660) 6,291) - (144) (90,095)
Interest expenses FIBHS - 7,007 - 382,436 389,443
Dividend declared BERKE - - 316,110 - 316,110
Non-cash transactions (note 40) 3B E% 5 (Mf3E40) 3,233,159 (79,484) - - 3,163,675
At 31 December 2023 WZEZ=F+ZFA=1-H 6,675,436 5,369 1,258 10,357 6,692,420
Financing cash flows BEBETE (5,056,669) (7,815) (316,110) (365,844) (5,746,439)
Currency realignment L 25,793 1,607) - (359) 23827
Interest expenses FlEmEy - 161 - 379,855 380,016
Dividend declared BEIRRE - - 316,110 - 316,110
Non-cash transactions (note 40)  3EE4 7% 5 (i3 40) 5,011,493 49,126 - - 5,060,619
At 31 December 2024 RZEZMF+ZA=+-H 6,656,053 45,234 1,258 24,009 6,726,554

MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS

During the year ended 31 December 2024, bank borrowings
of HK$5,011,493,000 (2023: HK$3,233,159,000) represent
the payments to the suppliers by the relevant banks directly.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, lease liabilities
of HK$602,000 (2023: HK$82,688,000) were settled through
rental deposits paid.

During the year ended 31 December 2024, right-of-use assets
for new lease agreements entered into by the Group for land
and buildings and plant and machinery with a total amount of
HK$49,728,000 (2023: HK$3,204,000) and the same amount
of lease liabilities were recognised.
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40. EXFREXH

HE-_ZT-_NWE+-_A=+—HILtEE -
$RITHE X 5,011,493,0008 T (=T = =4 :
3,233,159,000% 7T ) e AE B IR 1T B He (A1 i &
EEE B3R o

HEe_Z-_N&F+-_A=+—BItFE"
HE & £602000%8 t( —F - = F:
82,688,000/ L) BB BENHELRSEE -

BEZZ-_NF+_A=+—"HBILFE K
EBEBFTHAE R 2 i REF IR
E RS RER 2(E £ 49,728,000/ L (=&
T =4 13,204,000 7T) 2 FREEENIE
EeBEzZHAERE -
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41. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS 41. REALRS
Other than as disclosed in note 25 in these consolidated BB MEHRMA 2B EI - KE
financial statements, the Group has following transactions EHEREEATEITUTRS -

with related parties.

(i) During the year, the Group entered into the following i) FA-RANEBHEBEQFFILATR
transactions with associates. 5 e
Associate Nature of transaction 2024 2023
BE QT RHME —E-IEF ZEZ=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
FHET FATT
Truly RS Sales 356,223 230,927
BENCS HE
Purchase 1,083,966 838,737
2
Utility expenses 7,799 22,073
KEE
Expenses relating to short-term leases 10,408 4,114
ERARBEE 2N
(i)~ The remuneration of Directors and other members of (i) AFEEERHEHMETZFTEENEZ
key management during the year were as follows: Ezi oIl
2024 AOVAC]
—EWE —EC=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
TR Tt
Short-term benefits EHATEF 22,021 19,678
Post-employment benefits BB 218 T 79 99
22,100 19,777
The remuneration of Directors and key executives are EENLTETETHAE Z T B 5
determined by the remuneration committee having ZEeREAARRLETEBHEE
regard to the performance of individuals and market E o
trends.
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42. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 42. FLFEEMBLERE

OF THE COMPANY
(a) General information of subsidiaries (a) KMBLFEZ—REHR
Details of the subsidiaries directly and indirectly held by REBHERARN R EEZELNEEEEZ
the Company at the end of the reporting period are set WEARZFBIT
out below:
Place of Nominal value of
incorporation/ issued and fully paid Proportion
registration/ ordinary share capital/ ownership interest
Name of subsidiary operation registered capital held by the Company Principal activities
L/ ERTRAREERRAE APAEBEZ
HEBARER B BN AMEREE gt 4 321041 TEER
2024 2023
“EomE =F
Truly Electronics Hong Kong HK$1,000,010 100% 100% Trading of electronic calculators and
electronic components
EHETF B 1,000,010 7T BT EBRETINES
Truly Instrument Limited Hong Kong HK$100 100% 100% Trading of electric tooth brush and health
care products
EHEEERAR B 1007 7T BEHTRIREARRERE S
Truly Semiconductors Ltd Hong Kong HK$1,000 100% 100% Trading of LCD products
EHFEEERAR B 1,000%7T RERBETRERES
Truly Opto-electronics Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 100% 99.3% Trading of compact camera module,

fingerprint identification modules
and touch panel

EHXEERAF Bk 1,000,000 7T MABREAR - BAERIRE R
BREES
Truly Industrial Limited Hong Kong HK$872,894 100% 100% Trading of electronic components
EHIEERAR B 872,894 87T BETRHES
Truly (USA) Inc. United States of US$20,000 100% 100% Marketing of electronic calculators
America
Truly (USA) Inc. EFZARE 20,000%7T BT EETIS2H
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42. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

(a) General information of subsidiaries (Continued)

Name of subsidiary

WEARZE

Nominal value of

issued and fully paid
ordinary share capital/
registered capital
BERTRABRETERRE,
HEMEREE

Place of
incorporation/
registration/

EHEFERAR The PRC S$137,500,000
EHEFERAR I 137,500,000 % 7T
EH+BEERAR The PRC 1US$498,300,000
ERHFBEERAR " FE 498,300,000 % 7
EHERCLE)BRAR The PRC US$1,000,000
EHEECLR)BRAR* FE 1,000,000 % 7T
EHRERHEBAF The PRC RMB400,000,000
("Truly Opto")(Note 1)
EHXERHBRAR FE AR 400,000,000 7T
(MEFIHE]) (HFET)
EHIZCUR)IRAERAR The PRC RMB291,000,000
EHIZCLE)RHABERAR el AR#291,000,0007
ETHERRAR The PRC RMB200,000,000
ELREERAR B K% 200,000,000 70
Truly HZ The PRC RMB2,682,641,157
EFIEMN FE AR 2,682,641,157 1
* wholly foreign owned enterprise

42. XLFERMBLFREH (&)

(a) MBLARZ—RERE)

Proportion
ownership interest
held by the Company
ENCIESS S
FrE RS
2024
et 23

100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 100%
100% 99.3%
100% 100%
100% 99.3%
76.5% 76.5%

Principal activities

TEXK

Manufacture of electronic calculators and
electronic components

PERTFHERRRF LS

Manufacture of LCD products
HERRRETEER

Manufacture of electric toothbrush and
health care products

SEBHTRIREARRER

Manufacture of compact camera module,
fingerprint identification modules and
touch panel

SLEMABKEA - BEERIEER
R

Manufacture of electronic component
WERTTH

Manufacture of electronic component
SEET LI

Development and production of active
matrix organic light emitting diode and
LCD product

REREERRERAREL _BER
RRBETEER

* SNEBE

T ONEFR o FEREBRERAE
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42. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

202

(a)

General information of subsidiaries (Continued)

Note 1: In November 2024, the Group acquired 0.7% additional
equity interest in Truly Opto from another shareholder
at a cash consideration of RMB10,000 (equivalent to
HK$11,000). The effective interest of the Group in Truly
Opto increased from 99.3% to 100%. An amount of
HK$32,197,000 (being the proportionate share of the
carrying amount of the net assets of Truly Opto) has
been transferred to other reserves. The difference of
HK$32,186,000 between the consideration paid by the
Group and decrease in non-controlling interests, and the
reattribution of the relevant reserves (including retained
profits of HK$27,423,000 and exchange reserve of
HK$2,994,000) has been debited to other reserves.

Note 2: During the year ended 31 December 2023, the Group
acquired 0.4% additional equity interest in Truly Opto
from other shareholders at a cash consideration of
RMB20,000 (equivalent to HK$22,000). The effective
interest of the Group in Truly Opto increase from 98.9%
t0 99.3%. An amount of HK$18,094,000 (being the
proportionate share of the carrying amount of the net
assets of Truly Opto) has been transferred to other
reserves. The difference of HK$18,072,000 between the
consideration paid by the Group and decrease in non-
controlling interests, and the reattribution of the relevant
reserves (including retained profits of HK$15,332,000 and
exchange reserve of HK$1,160,000) has been debited to
other reserves.

The legal forms of the above subsidiaries are all limited
liability companies.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company
which, in the opinion of the directors, principally
affected the result or assets of the Group. To give
details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the
directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

Except for Truly Electronics Manufacturing Limited and
Truly (USA) Inc., all other subsidiaries are indirectly held
by the Company. None of the subsidiaries had issued
any debt securities at the end of the year.
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42. XLFERMBLFREH (&)

(a) MBLARZ—RERE)

W1 RZZEZWFE+—F - AEERAS—
% B UL B 1= FI 9 B 0.7 % 58 SIS A
ReREAARK10000T(HE
M11,00087C) - AEBREFHKE
2 BB R #E AR 99.3% ¥ £100% °
32,197,000 T (BME MK EEE K
EFEZRLAD GRS BERE
HifEFE e AEEMINHFZRER
I 2 I 4 25O IR 2 2= 58.32,186,000
BLTRABAEEHE2ERERT
27,423,000/ 7T R HNERE#2,994,000
L) SREE AT AR M E -

M2 BE-—_ZEZ-_=4+-_A=+—HBI1tF
B AEBREMREREBETRE
04%FEINRE  ReREAARYKE
20,0007t ( 48 & 7422,000/8 T ) A
SEREFREZERRESH8.9%
%99.3% ° 18,094,000 T (BN 15
PR EBEERAFEZIZL A H1GE
H)DHBZHEMES AEEMX
MZzRERFEZERESRE 2 =58
18,072,000/ ;o A R R B (B 15
1R B8 3% F1) 15,332,000 78 7T K HMNE FE 1
1,160,000/ 7T ) 5 B 2 5T AELAb AR ©

LR BRARNERY A RBRE
/NS

ERINHEERRIBREAEEE
BABEZARBNBLAR -EER
REFJEMMBRARZFBER<FR
RIEAER -

BREMEFAERADE KTruly (USA)
Inc.5h » FTEEAMIE AR HEARAR]
MEFE RNER BEMEA R
TEMERES -
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42. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that
have material non-controlling interests

The table below shows details of non-wholly owned
subsidiaries of the Group that have material non-
controlling interests:

42. XLFERMBLFREH (&)

(b) EEEAFZREHZZFZENE

ARZHE

TREJNABEAERBER AL
EPFR2EMB AR ZFHIE

Place of Proportion of ownership
incorporation interests and voting Profit/(loss)
and principal rights held by non- attributable to non- Accumulated non-
Name of subsidiary place of business controlling interests controlling interests controlling interests
EAR L MEEREREEZ
WEARER TEEXENY FERRERATELE  FEREREGER/ (FB) Rt ERER
2024 2023 2024 2024 2023
“R-mF ZTS=F SBCRE CFC=F 0 CRCmF CFC=F
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
THER TAL THER BT
Truly Opto The PRC - 0.7% 970 (1,618) - 31,961
EMEE Gl
Truly HZ The PRC 23.5% 23.5% (56,490) (100,745) 130,244 190,716
fEMEM e
(55,520) (102,363) 130,244 222,677

Summarised financial information in respect of the
above subsidiary that has material non-controlling
interests is set out below. The summarised financial
information below represents amounts before
intragroup eliminations.

T ONEFR o FEREBRERAE

B LAk B A AR ERIEERAE
BmZMBERBENOT - THMKE
M ESEEANHHAT 28 -
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42. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 42. FLFEEMBLERE (&)

204

OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

(b)

Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that

have material non-controlling interests

(Continued)

Truly HZ and its subsidiary

(b)

BREERFEZEREZZHFZENS

REZFHEE)

EREMNEEMBRE

2024
—E-mE

HK$°000
FTET

2023
—E-=F
HK$'000
FETT

Current assets MENEE 521,586 576,119
Non-current assets EREBEE 3,133,119 3,541,005
Current liabilities mEaE 3,101,165 3,306,588
Equity attributable to owners RAGHEE NELER

of the Company 423,296 619,820
Non-controlling interests of Truly HZ EFIERM 2 IR iE =S 130,244 190,716
Revenue e 1,550,925 1,270,021
Expenses X 1,791,004 1,698,178
Loss for the year REEEIE (240,079) (428,157)
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42. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 42.
OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

FLAFEERBARNEH ()

(b) Details of non-wholly owned subsidiaries that (b) BEEERFEZERERZHZENE
have material non-controlling interests NEIZFHE (E)
(Continued)

Truly HZ and its subsidiary (Continued) BREMNEEMBAR (&)

Loss attributable to owners

RABEE ANEIGERE

2024
—E-mE

2023
—E_=4F
HK$'000
FETT

HK$°000
FTET

of the Company (183,589) (327,412)
Loss attributable to the BRI I AR 2 P

non-controlling interests of Truly HZ E5i8 (56,490) (100,745)
Loss for the year KEEBAE (240,079) (428,157)
Other comprehensive expense AAREES AEREMER

attributable to owners of the Company G5 (12,938) (23,681)
Other comprehensive expense (RN FEIE IR AE S FE(L

attributable to the non-controlling Hih 2 EX

interests of Truly HZ (3,981) (7,287)
Other comprehensive expense AFEEMEEMAY

for the year (16,919) (30,968)
Total comprehensive expense AATIHEEAEEEERY

attributable to owners of the Company “zE (196,527) (351,093)
Total comprehensive expense B Bl Fay i e

attributable to the non-controlling ZEAS B

interests of Truly HZ (60,471) (108,032)
Total comprehensive expense for the year AN [E & S 4258 (256,998) (459,125)
Net cash inflow from operating activities & ¥ EIE R AJERE 31,553 331,645
Net cash outflow from investing activities &R & EEIR &R IF5EE (5,876) (2,058)
Net cash outflow from financing activities FE& EENIR & mHF5E (37,280) (311,485)
Net cash (outflow) inflow Re ORH) MAFEE (11,603) 18,102

T ONEFR o FEREBRERAE
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43.

44,

206

CECME+-A=+—HLEE

RESTRICTIONS ON ASSETS

Lease liabilities of HK$45,234,000 (2023: HK$5,369,000) are
recognised with related right-of-use assets of HK$45,305,000
(2023: HK$42,541,000) as at 31 December, 2024. The lease
agreements do not impose any covenants other than the
security interests in the leased assets that are held by the
lessor and the relevant leased assets may not be used as
security for borrowing purposes. Furthermore, bills issued
by third parties endorsed with recourse for settlement of
payables for suppliers of the Group is disclosed in note 24.

TRANSFERS OF FINANCIAL ASSETS

The following were the Group's bills receivables as at 31
December 2024 and 2023 that were either discounted to
banks on a full recourse basis or endorsed to suppliers for
settlement of trade payables.

43.

44.

WEMRH

RZE-_WF+-_A=+—H ®ERHEE
Eﬁgmpm%ﬁ(:;:zi-awamo
FBIT) - TRRE{E A #E A 2 45,305,000 8 T (=

LT — =4 : 42,541,000787T) © B H A AE
EMHEEEFHERERIN  HAEHET

PEAEA EMERL) - BAERHEEEENSA
MEEER - I HE=FETESER
BRENGEEASEHEARMNRBENER
BRI 24 4K EE -

HREMAE
ATAAERAR-_F-_MER-_F-_=F
ToAST-AERITR2EERERRR

FEETHEANGEE ZERAFIAZER
ES &

2024 2023
—E-WEF —T=F
HK$°000 HK$'000
THET FATT
Carrying amount of endorsed bills BEERKEE REE ()
receivables (Note) 467,804 464,021
Carrying amount of associated liabilities HEABeEZEREEEA (467,804) (464,021)
Net position SFR S = -

Note: Certain bills receivables were endorsed to suppliers for settlement
of trade payables. As the Group has not transferred the significant
risks and rewards relating to these receivables, it continues to
recognise the full carrying amount of the receivables and the
corresponding trade payables were not derecognised. These
financial assets were carried at FVTOCI in the Group's consolidated
statement of financial position.

Truly International Holdings Limited ¢ Annual Report 2024

i A TRKRREBEESE THER  ARBEES
JERFIR - R AEE Y BB ZEREIA
Rz BRER RO - AR ENR
Z2HEEE - BRENE SENFIRLARE
LR - ZEEREAENARE Z A M BR
RFILNEM 2 R AR FEEDIRETTS
BR o
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45. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 45. FRTF)|Z MG TR iR
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the MNBEHREEAA RIS AR ZEEE
Company at the end of the reporting period includes: ¥

2024
—E-mE

HK$°000
TET

2023
—E-=F
HK$'000
TFETT

Non-current Assets FEREBERE
Investments in subsidiaries RHTB AR Z®’E 499,033 499,033
Amount due from a subsidiary A M5 Bt /8 1 B kIR 1,531,035 881,021
2,030,068 1,380,054
Current Assets REBEE
Other receivables H b pE U I8 507 525
Cash and cash equivalents ReERBEEFEEE 3,733 4,431
4,240 4,956
Current Liability REBEE
Other payables H At FET IR 2,079 2,019
Net Current Assets RBEEFE 2,161 2,937
Net Assets EEFEE 2,032,229 1,382,991
Capital and Reserves ERRFEE
Share capital A& A 63,222 63,222
Reserves 18 1,969,007 1,319,769
Total Equity A 2,032,229 1,382,991
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45. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AND 45. FNTFZMBRRRR G (2)
RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

Movement of the Company’s reserves ERARNREEE
Capital
Share Special redemption Retained
premium* reserve’ reserve profits Total
RIDEE * WiRlRE* EXREREE REEF CE
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
T THT THT AT THT
At 1 January 2023 R-ZZ-_=F—H—H 1,210,563 17,410 867 369,779 1,598,619
Profit and other AEEERREM
comprehensive income  2E U
for the year - - - 37,260 37,260
Dividend declared BEERKE - - - (316,110) (316,110)
At 31 December 2023 R-B-=F
+-A=1+—-H 1,210,563 17,410 867 90,929 1,319,769
Profit and other AEEREMNREM
comprehensive income  ZEE
for the year - - - 965,348 965,348
Dividend declared BEERKE - - - (316,110) (316,110)
At 31 December 2024 RZZ-NF
+ZA=+—-AH 1,210,563 17,410 867 740,167 1,969,007
* Under the applicable laws of Cayman Islands, the share premium * BRIERSHE ZERED  NATZRNEE
of the Company is available for distributions or paying dividends A KIS ARG S 2 R sk A Bl 2 & m BR R E
to shareholders subject to the provisions of its Memorandum or HAIRECE AR E - R BREEH DR X
Articles of Association and provided that immediately following the EE%  NATIERNABEKBRER S NE
distribution or paying dividend the Company is able to pay its debts HAfEIE -

as they fall due in the ordinary course of business.

# The special reserve of the Company represents the difference # NN T 2 BRI B THIE AN A B A Uk BE EL O /B
between the net book values of the underlying assets of the NRIZKHE B ZEHRWEB AR ZHEBEER
Company's subsidiaries acquired at the date on which the shares of R EARNDFAEFERKEMEITZAR
these companies were acquired by the Company, and the nominal FIRMEERER =5 -
amount of the Company’s shares issued for the acquisitions in
prior years.

46. SUBSEQUENT EVENT 46. Hi%&=ER

On 25 March 2025, the Group has entered a refinancing —E-_RF=FR=-+AHHB XEBRERE

agreement of syndicated term loan facilities in Hong Kong BEIIVRBEFTHERBRERE A

amounting to HK$1,035,000,000 and the final maturity date is 1,035,000,000/8 ;T ° &R EHAH A -F

in March 2028. ZN\F=R-
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